
 

 

 

 

AGENDA 
CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION 
Thursday, March 6, 2014 – 7:00 PM 

 Chairperson Gayle Ortiz 
 Commissioners Ron Graves 
  Mick Routh 
  Linda Smith 
  TJ Welch 
 
1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 
 

A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda 
 

B. Public Comments 
Short communications from the public concerning matters not on the Agenda.  
All speakers are requested to print their name on the sign-in sheet located at the podium so that their 
name may be accurately recorded in the Minutes. 

 
C. Commission Comments 

 
D. Staff Comments 

 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

A. Approval of the draft February 6, 2014 Planning Commission meeting minutes 
 
4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

All matters listed under “Consent Calendar” are considered by the Planning Commission to be routine and 
will be enacted by one motion in the form listed below.  There will be no separate discussion on these 
items prior to the time the Planning Commission votes on the action unless members of the public or the 
Planning Commission request specific items to be discussed for separate review.  Items pulled for 
separate discussion will be considered in the order listed on the Agenda. 

 
A. 1550 McGregor Drive      #13-174      APN: 036-34-101 

Design Permit, Conditional Use Permit, Tree Removal Permit, and Coastal 
Development Permit for a public multiuse park with recycling pod in the PF/VS (public 
facilities/visitor serving) zoning district. 
This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is appealable to the 
California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the 
City.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Owner: City of Capitola 
Representative:  Steve Jesberg, filed 01/08/2014 

 
  



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – Thursday, March 6, 2014  2 
  

 

 
B. 306 El Salto Drive      #13-181      APN: 036-123-26 

Design Permit and Coastal Development Permit for an addition to an existing single 
family home in the R-1 (Single Family) zoning district.  
This application requires a Coastal Development permit which is appealable to the 
California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the 
City.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Chris and Cindy Henry 
Representative: Martha Matson, filed 01/23/2014 

 
C. 4605 Emerald Street      #14-011      APN: 034-032-15 

Design Permit and Coastal Development Permit application to demolish an existing 
accessory dwelling unit and construct a new single family home, located in the R-
1(Single Family) zoning district.  
This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is not appealable to the 
California Coastal Commission. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: North Point Investments LLC 
Representative: Wayne Miller, filed 01/27/2014 

 
D. 4625 Emerald Street      #14-012      APN: 034-032-22 

Design Permit and Coastal Development Permit application to demolish an existing 
single family residence and construct a new Single Family home, located in the R-
1(single family) zoning district.  
This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is not appealable to the 
California Coastal Commission.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: North Point Investments LLC 
Representative: Wayne Miller, filed 01/27/2014 

 
E. 507 Plum Street/712 Capitola Avenue      #14-020      APN: 036-062-14 

Design Permit and Coastal Development Permit application for a garage addition to a 
single family home in the CN (Central Neighborhood) Zoning District.   
This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is not appealable to the 
California Coastal Commission.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Terry Evan David  
Representative: Dennis Norton, filed 02/04/2014 

 
F. 2001 40th Avenue      #14-029      APN: 034-512-02 

Conditional Use Permit for a Pure Barre Capitola Fitness Studio in the CC (Community 
Commercial) Zoning District. 
This project is not located within the Coastal Zone. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Lockwood Epping Properties 
Representative: Ashley Weaver, filed 02/14/2014 

 
  



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – Thursday, March 6, 2014  3 
  

 

 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

Public Hearings are intended to provide an opportunity for public discussion of each item listed as a Public 
Hearing.  The following procedure is as follows:  1) Staff Presentation; 2) Public Discussion; 3) Planning 
Commission Comments; 4) Close public portion of the Hearing; 5) Planning Commission Discussion; and 
6) Decision. 

 
A. 110 Lawn Way      #14-006      APN: 035-124-05 

Design Permit, Variance, and Coastal Development Permit application for an addition to 
a single family home in the CV (Central Village) Zoning District.  The applicant is 
requesting a variance for onsite parking.   
This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is appealable to the 
California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the 
City.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Norma Kettman 
Representative: Gary Lindeke, filed 1/24/2014 

 
B. 1740 Wharf Road      #14-016      APN: 035-111-14 

Design Permit, Variance, Coastal Development Permit, and Tree Removal Permit for a 
new single-family residence in the R-1/AR (Single Family/Automatic Review) Zoning 
District. The applicant is requesting a variance to the side-yard setback requirement. 
This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is appealable to the 
California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the 
City. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Owner: Bruce Golino 
Representative: Courtney Hughes, William Fisher Architecture, filed 02/03/2014 

 
6. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 
 
7. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 
 
8. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Adjourn to the next Planning Commission on Thursday, April 3, 2014 at 7:00 PM, in the City Hall 
Council Chambers, 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, California. 

  



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – Thursday, March 6, 2014  4 
  

 

 

 
APPEALS:  The following decisions of the Planning Commission can be appealed to the City Council within the 
(10) calendar days following the date of the Commission action:  Conditional Use Permit, Variance, and Coastal 
Permit.  The decision of the Planning Commission pertaining to an Architectural and Site Review can be appealed 
to the City Council within the (10) working days following the date of the Commission action.  If the tenth day falls 
on a weekend or holiday, the appeal period is extended to the next business day. 
 
All appeals must be in writing, setting forth the nature of the action and the basis upon which the action is 
considered to be in error, and addressed to the City Council in care of the City Clerk.  An appeal must be 
accompanied by a one hundred forty two dollar ($142.00) filing fee, unless the item involves a Coastal Permit that 
is appealable to the Coastal Commission, in which case there is no fee.  If you challenge a decision of the 
Planning Commission in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or someone else raised at the 
public hearing described in this agenda, or in written correspondence delivered to the City at, or prior to, the 
public hearing. 
 
Notice regarding Planning Commission meetings:  The Planning Commission meets regularly on the 1st 
Thursday of each month at 7:00 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola. 
 
Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials:  The Planning Commission Agenda and complete Agenda Packet are 
available on the Internet at the City's website:  www.cityofcapitola.org.  Agendas are also available at the Capitola 
Branch Library, 2005 Wharf Road, Capitola, on the Monday prior to the Thursday meeting.  Need more 
information?  Contact the Community Development Department at (831) 475-7300. 
 
Agenda Materials Distributed after Distribution of the Agenda Packet:  Materials that are a public record 
under Government Code § 54957.5(A) and that relate to an agenda item of a regular meeting of the Planning 
Commission that are distributed to a majority of all the members of the Planning Commission more than 72 hours 
prior to that meeting shall be available for public inspection at City Hall located at 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, 
during normal business hours. 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act:  Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons with a 
disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  
Assisted listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the meeting in the City Council 
Chambers.  Should you require special accommodations to participate in the meeting due to a disability, please 
contact the Community Development Department at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting at (831) 475-7300.  
In an effort to accommodate individuals with environmental sensitivities, attendees are requested to refrain from 
wearing perfumes and other scented products. 
 
Televised Meetings:  Planning Commission meetings are cablecast "Live" on Charter Communications Cable TV 
Channel 8 and are recorded to be replayed at 12:00 Noon on the Saturday following the meetings on Community 
Television of Santa Cruz County (Charter Channel 71 and Comcast Channel 25).  Meetings can also be viewed 
from the City's website:  www.ci.capitola.ca.us 
 
 
 



  
 
 
Chairperson Ortiz called the Regular Meeting of the Capitola Planning Commission to order at
 
1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Commissioners:  Ron Graves,
Gayle Ortiz

  
2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS
 

A. Additions and Deletions to 
 

B. Public Comments  
 

Paul Pelkey encouraged awareness of
 

C. Commission Comments
 

D. Staff Comments  
 

Senior Planner Katie Cattan introduced Ryan Safty, who recently joined the staff half time as the 
assistant planner. 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

A. January 16, 2014, Draft Planning Commission Minutes
 
Chairperson Ortiz intended to abstain from the vote on item 4B when the full consent agenda was 
approved and asked that the minutes be amended to reflect that vote.
 
Minutes were corrected to show that Commissioner Welch moved and Commission Routh seconded
all items on the consent calendar. 
 
A motion to approve the Jan. 16, 2014,
Commissioner Smith and seconded by Commissioner 
 
The motion carried by the following vote: Aye: Commissioners 
Chairperson Ortiz. No: None. Abstain: 
 
4. CONSENT CALENDAR 
   

A. 1440 41st Avenue         
Design Permit application for an exterior remodel of the existing Verizon Wireless 
storefront located at 
District. 
Environmental Determination:

CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING

7 P.M. 

 
alled the Regular Meeting of the Capitola Planning Commission to order at

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Ron Graves, Mick Routh, Linda Smith and TJ Welch 
Gayle Ortiz 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

Additions and Deletions to Agenda - None 

Paul Pelkey encouraged awareness of systemic poisoning. 

Commission Comments - None 

Senior Planner Katie Cattan introduced Ryan Safty, who recently joined the staff half time as the 

 

, Draft Planning Commission Minutes 

intended to abstain from the vote on item 4B when the full consent agenda was 
approved and asked that the minutes be amended to reflect that vote. 

that Commissioner Welch moved and Commission Routh seconded

Jan. 16, 2014, meeting minutes as amended was made by 
and seconded by Commissioner Welch.  

The motion carried by the following vote: Aye: Commissioners Routh, Smith 
. No: None. Abstain: Commissioner Graves 

         #13-182        APN: 034-111-50     
Design Permit application for an exterior remodel of the existing Verizon Wireless 
storefront located at 1440 41st Avenue in the CC (Community Commercial) Zoning 

Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 

DRAFT MINUTES 
CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING

THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 6, 2014 
7 P.M. – CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS

 

alled the Regular Meeting of the Capitola Planning Commission to order at 7 p.m.     

 and Chairperson 

Senior Planner Katie Cattan introduced Ryan Safty, who recently joined the staff half time as the 

intended to abstain from the vote on item 4B when the full consent agenda was 

that Commissioner Welch moved and Commission Routh seconded 

was made by 

 and Welch and 

 
Design Permit application for an exterior remodel of the existing Verizon Wireless 

1440 41st Avenue in the CC (Community Commercial) Zoning 

CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

-1-

Item #: 3. 2-6-14 DRAFT Minutes.docx



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – Feb. 6, 2014  2 
 

C:\Program Files (x86)\Neevia.Com\Document Converter\temp\1746.docx 

Owner:  Richard Starr 
Representative: Donald Graham, filed:  12/30/2013 

 
 
The item was pulled from consent for comment. 
 
Senior Planner Cattan presented the staff report.  
 
Commissioner Graves noted that there has been a history of tenants who expanded into an adjacent 
space and kept the second door, then tried to get two signs, which is not allowed. 
 
Chairperson Ortiz opened the public hearing. 
 
Paul Pelkey expressed concern about the potential for gasses housed in double pane windows. 
 
The public hearing was closed. 
 
A motion to approve project application #13-182 with the following conditions and findings 
was made by Commissioner Routh and seconded by Commissioner Smith: 
 
CONDITIONS 

1. The project approval consists of modifying the double door entrance of suite B to storefront 
windows at the Verizon Store located at 1440 41st Avenue. The proposed project is approved 
as indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on 
February 6, 2014, except as modified through conditions imposed by the Planning 
Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. Two windows are approved for the property at 1440 41st Avenue. The two windows will match 
the existing aluminum storefront windows in materials, tint, and architectural design.   

 
3. Prior to installation, a building permit shall be secured for the two windows authorized by this 

permit. Final building plans shall be consistent with the plans approved by the Planning 
Commission.   

 
4. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be printed in 

full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically requested 
and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any significant changes 
to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require Planning Commission 
approval.   
 

6. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #13-182 shall be 
paid in full. 

 
FINDINGS 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the Zoning 

Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
Community Development Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 
the Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  The project conforms to the 
development standards of the CC (Community Commercial) Zoning District. Conditions of 
approval have been included to carry out the objectives of the Zoning Ordinance and General 
Plan. 

-2-

Item #: 3. 2-6-14 DRAFT Minutes.docx



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – Feb. 6, 2014  3 
 

C:\Program Files (x86)\Neevia.Com\Document Converter\temp\1746.docx 

 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 

Community Development Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 
the Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  The project conforms with the 
development standards of the CC (Community Commercial) Zoning District.  Conditions of 
approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the commercial character 
and integrity of the area.  The area is defined by a neighborhood commercial uses. 
 

C.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301(e)(2) of the California 
Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California 
Code of Regulations. 
Section 15301 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts minor alterations to existing structures provided 
that the alteration involves negligible or no expansion of the existing use.  This project involves a 
modification of an entrance to windows.  There is no addition proposed.  No adverse 
environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed project. 

 
The motion carried by the following vote: Aye: Commissioners Graves, Routh, Smith, and 
Welch and Chairperson Ortiz. No: None. Abstain: None. 

 
B. 4200 Auto Plaza Drive       #13-020         APN: 034-141-30 and 31   

Amendment to Design Permit, Conditional Use Permit, and Sign Program as part of a 
project to demolish an existing car dealership building and construct a new car 
dealership building, including a service building, carwash, and parking lot 
improvements in the CC (Community Commercial) Zoning District.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Charles Canfield, filed 1/24/2014 
Representative: Bob Fischer  

 
This item was pulled and heard following 5A. 
 
Senior Planner Cattan presented the staff report. She noted that when the Commission approved the 
original application it added conditions of approval to address concerns of adjoining Loma Vista 
Mobile Estates. When the current changes were proposed, staff reviewed the original conditions of 
approval to confirm those are reflected in the modifications. 
 
Commissioners Smith and Graves confirmed that since this revision includes the car wash location as 
desired, condition 15 is no longer needed.  
 
Chairperson Ortiz opened the public hearing. 
 
Paul Pelkey asked for a vapor barrier and an emphasis on environmental awareness. 
 
Pat Trimble spoke on behalf of the Loma Vista board and thanked the Commission for keeping the 
residents’ interests in the forefront. He said he was pleased to report that Toyota has been a good 
neighbor through the process and the board supports the amended application. 
 
Richard Cartell represented Toyota and thanked staff, the Commission and Loma Vista for 
coordination to make a successful design. 
 
Commissioner Ortiz closed the public hearing. 
 
Commissioners expressed their pleasure at the cooperation between the applicant and resident 
neighbors. 

-3-

Item #: 3. 2-6-14 DRAFT Minutes.docx



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – Feb. 6, 2014  4 
 

C:\Program Files (x86)\Neevia.Com\Document Converter\temp\1746.docx 

 
A motion to approve the changes to project application #13-020 with the following conditions 
and findings was made by Commissioner Routh and seconded by Commissioner Welch: 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
1. The project approval consists of a Design Permit, Conditional Use Permit, and a Sign Program as 

part of a project to demolish an existing car dealership building and construct a new car dealership 
building, including a service building, carwash, and parking lot improvements at 4200 Auto Plaza 
Drive. 

 
2. Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the structure must be approved 

by the Planning Commission. 
 
3. Hours of construction shall be Monday to Friday 7:30 a.m. – 9:00 p.m., and Saturday 9:00 a.m. – 

4:00 p.m., per city ordinance. 
 

4. Air-conditioning equipment and other roof top equipment shall be screened from view and fall 
within the city permitted decibel levels. 

 
5. Lighting shall be shielded to prevent light from shining on to neighboring properties.  The applicant 

agrees to make the necessary adjustment required by the Community Development Director 
regarding shielding.   

 
6. Sandwich board and other movable freestanding signs are prohibited.   
 
7. The utilities shall be underground to the nearest utility pole in accordance with PG&E and Public 

Works Department requirements.  A note shall be placed on the final building plans indicating this 
requirement. 

 
8. Curb, gutter and sidewalk shall be replaced to meet ADA standards to the satisfaction of the 

Public Works Director. 
 

9. An encroachment permit shall be acquired for any work performed in the right-of-way. 
 

10. A drainage plan or design shall be submitted with the final building plans, to the satisfaction of the 
Public Works Director.  The grade along the eastern property line shall be designed to prevent 
potential drainage issues with the neighboring residential properties.   

 
11. The final landscape plan submitted with the building permit application shall include the specific 

number of plants of each type and their size, as well as the irrigation system to be utilized.  The 
approved landscaping and operational irrigation system shall be installed prior to final occupancy. 

 
12. The applicant shall enter into a landscape maintenance agreement and a cash deposit of 

$2,000.00 shall be retained by the City to cover costs of replacing or maintaining landscaping for a 
period of three (3) years after project completion.  The agreement and deposit shall be completed 
prior to final occupancy. 

 
13. All landscaping must be maintained and non-maintenance will be a basis for review by the 

Planning Commission. 
 

-4-

Item #: 3. 2-6-14 DRAFT Minutes.docx



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – Feb. 6, 2014  5 
 

C:\Program Files (x86)\Neevia.Com\Document Converter\temp\1746.docx 

14. Prior to granting of final occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall be 
demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director including the removal of 
the existing building on site. 

 
15. The Community Development Director shall approve the relocation and/or screening of the 

carwash/detail facility prior to issuing a building permit.   
 

16. Parking located in the front of the building designed for customers will not be used for display of 
automobiles.   

 
17. No public address system will be used at this dealership. 

 
18. The project shall be designed to eliminate any horn honking when going around building corners.  

Applicant shall install mirrors or other devices as necessary to eliminate the need to honk a horn 
to safely go around a corner. 

 
19. All employees will receive necessary training to eliminate accidentally setting off car alarms. 

 
20. Surveillance cameras shall be positioned so that they do not record the activities in individual 

mobile home units in the Loma Vista Mobile Home Park.   
 

21. No deliveries shall be made within 200 feet of the Loma Vista Mobile Home Park during the hours 
of 10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. 

 
22. No car repairs shall be made during the hours of 10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m.  

 
23. No employees shall play music that can be heard off the dealership property. 

 
24. No tree trimming shall take place without first giving a five-day advance notice to the Loma Vista 

Mobile Home Park Association. 
 

25. The location of the trash enclosure shall be approved by the Community Development Director 
and shall not be located next to the Loma Vista Mobile Home Park.   
 

FINDINGS 
 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 
Community Development Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  The project conforms to the development 
standards of the CC (Community Commercial) Zoning District. Conditions of approval have been 
included to carry out the objectives of the Zoning Ordinance and General Plan. 
 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 
Planning Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the Planning 
Commission have all reviewed the project.  The project conforms to the development standards of the 
CC (Community Commercial) Zoning District. Conditions of approval have been included to ensure 
that the project maintains the character and integrity of the area. 
 

-5-

Item #: 3. 2-6-14 DRAFT Minutes.docx



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – Feb. 6, 2014  6 
 

C:\Program Files (x86)\Neevia.Com\Document Converter\temp\1746.docx 

C.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15302(b) of the California   
Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California 
Code of Regulations. 

 
Section 15302(b) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts replacement of a commercial structure with a new 
structure of substantially the same size, purpose, and capacity.  This project involves demolition of a 
car dealership and the construction of a dealership that is substantially the same size, as well as 
serves the same purpose and capacity.  No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during 
review of the proposed project. 
 
The motion carried by the following vote: Aye: Commissioners Graves, Routh, Smith, and 
Welch and Chairperson Ortiz. No: None. Abstain: None. 
 
5.  PUBLIC HEARINGS 
  

A. 1550 McGregor Drive        #13-174        APN: 036-341-02   
Design Permit, Tree Permit, and Coastal Development Permit for a public park (skate, dog, 
and children’s park) in the PF/VS (public facilities/visitor serving) zoning district. 
This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is appealable to the California 
Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the City.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 

 Owner: City of Capitola  
Representative:  Steve Jesberg  

 
Senior Planner Cattan noted the park is located in both Visitor Serving and Public Facilities zoning. A 
park requires a conditional use permit under Visitor Serving, and the hearing was not noticed with that 
permit. Therefore, the commission can review the plan and hold a public hearing, but it must continue 
the item and return in March for a decision when it is properly noticed. 
 
She presented the staff report. Most trees onsite will be maintained, but three eucalyptus will be 
removed and seven new trees planted elsewhere in the park.  
 
She also introduced the possibility of adding a Hope Services donation pod within the park facility to 
collect household goods, e-waste and clothing. It would be staffed by Hope Services. City staff 
thought that the addition of adults regularly on site would be a benefit along with supporting 
reuse/recycling opportunities. 
 
Commissioner Welch asked if a location for a pod been determined. Staff said it is seeking direction.  
 
Chairperson Ortiz asked how large the trees slated for removal are and whether the review process 
was similar to that of other applicants. 
 
Public Works Director Steve Jesberg represented the city. One of the trees is a double trunk 
estimated at 36 inches in width and the other is about 28 inches. They are not a grove that attracts 
monarch butterflies, but individual trees surrounded by bare ground. The whole site underwent an 
environmental review before the parcel was divided for sale to the water district. 
 
Commissioner Smith asked if there was a fence or barrier between the pump track use and other park 
uses and was told that there would be different surfaces, but no fence is proposed. 
 
Chairperson Ortiz opened the public hearing. 
 
Paul Pelkey supported use of recycled materials and the skate feature. 

-6-

Item #: 3. 2-6-14 DRAFT Minutes.docx



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – Feb. 6, 2014  7 
 

C:\Program Files (x86)\Neevia.Com\Document Converter\temp\1746.docx 

 
Chairperson Ortiz closed the public hearing. 
 
Commissioner Routh suggested moving the restroom to the location hear the handicapped parking 
spots. Designer Mike Arnone explained the porta-potties were located for ease of service and 
aesthetic considerations. 
 
Commissioner Graves asked how the City anticipates that skateboarders and bikes will reach the 
park, especially from the Cliffwood Heights neighborhood. Staff will look into whether there is a formal 
reciprocal agreement with State Parks for use of the walking path. Director Jesberg acknowledged 
this is not an optimal location for a park, but it is one of the few open spaces in the city. 
 
Commissioner Smith said she supports encouraging recycling but wanted to know if the Hope 
Services pod would be taking up parking spaces. Staff replied it could condition that the use not 
impact the number of parking spaces. Director Jesberg indicated a potential site in the southeast 
corner adjacent to parking. Commissioner Roth confirmed a pad could be prepped. 
 
Chairperson Ortiz said since the pod does not match the natural design of the park, she would not 
want it to be highly visible from the street.  
 
In response to questions, Designer Arnone explained the donor recognition template could be a single 
location used for multiple donors or several located at each feature.  
 
Director Jesberg confirmed that the municipal code sets park hours from 6 a.m. to sunset unless 
otherwise established. Commissioners also confirmed that lighting could be timed and would allow 
police to view after-hours use.  
 
Commissioners expressed general support for the design to allow construction drawings to proceed. 
 
This item was continued to the March 6, 2014, meeting. 
 
6.  DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

 
None. 
 

7.  COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS  
 
None. 
 

8.  ADJOURNMENT 
Chairperson Ortiz adjourned the meeting at 7:46 p.m. to the regular meeting of the Planning 
Commission to be held on Thursday, March 6, 2014, at 7 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers, 
420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, California. 
 
Approved by the Planning Commission on March 6, 2014. 

 
 

________________________________ 
Linda Fridy, Minute Clerk 

-7-

Item #: 3. 2-6-14 DRAFT Minutes.docx



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-8-



 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T 
 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  MARCH 6, 2014 
 
SUBJECT: 1550 McGregor Drive  #13-174  APN: 036-341-02 

Design Permit, Tree Removal Permit, Conditional Use Permit and Coastal 
Development Permit for a public multiuse park with recycling pod in the PF/VS (public 
facilities/visitor serving) zoning district. 
This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is appealable to the 
California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the 
City.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Owner: City of Capitola 

 Representative:  Steve Jesberg 
 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The City owns a 4.1-acre lot at 1550 McGregor Drive located in the PF/VS (public facilities/visitor 
serving) zoning district.  The City is proposing a new multiuse public park which consists of a skate 
park, dog park, bike pump track, children’s play area, and recycling pod.  Public uses require a 
conditional use permit and design permit within the PF/VS zoning district.   
 
BACKGROUND 
On July 25, 2013, the City Council directed staff to develop plans for a recreational facility on the City 
owned McGregor parcel.  The City Council requested that the plans include a skate park, dog park, 
and bike pump track.  The City hired Arnone & Associates to create conceptual plans for the City.  
The consultant prepared three plans which were narrowed to two plans after receiving input from the 
Chief of Police and the Public Works Department staff.  Three user groups composed of members of 
the public with specific interests in one of the three recreational uses were established to review the 
plans. The two remaining plans were then presented to the three user groups. Utilizing their input the 
plans were then reduced to one preferred plan. 
 
On November 14, 2013, the City Council reviewed the preferred conceptual site plan for the multiuse 
park.  During this review, the City Council directed staff to prepare documents based on the preferred 
conceptual site plan for Planning Commission review.    
 
The new multiuse public park was reviewed by the Architectural and Site Committee on December 11, 
2013.  Within the public facilities zoning district the development standards for height, setbacks, lot 
coverage, and landscaping are determined by the Architectural and Site Committee.   During the 
meeting, the committee reviewed the application and did not request any modifications to the 
submitted plans.   The following direction was provided:  
 

-9-

Item #: 4.A. 1550 McGregor Drive Staff Report.pdf



 

 Public Works Director Steve Jesberg is representing the City as the applicant on this project.  He 
introduced the plan to the committee.   

 City Architect Derek Van Alstine reviewed the site plan and did not request any modifications. 

 City Landscape Architect.  Position was vacant. 

 Building Inspector Brian Von Son reviewed the site plan and did not request any modifications.   
 
On February 6, 2014, the Planning Commission reviewed the application.  Due to inadequate noticing 
of the conditional use permit, the item was re-noticed for the March 6, 2014 meeting.  The Planning 
Commission received the presentation and provided positive feedback on the layout of the site. The 
Commissioners asked that staff include additional information on the hours of operation, lighting, and 
trail agreement information.  This is included within the discussion section of the staff report.  
 
DISCUSSION 
1550 McGregor Drive is located along the south side of McGregor Drive just east of the entrance to 
New Brighton State Beach and the Soquel Creek Water District pump house. The property abuts New 
Brighton State Beach to the south and the east, Soquel Creek Water District property to the west, and 
Route 1 to the north.  The South Pacific Railroad tracks wind through the state park and along the 
south property line of the project site.  The north half of the property that fronts McGregor Drive was 
previously utilized as a parking lot for Village shuttle riders and a staging area for large construction 
projects.  The new multiuse public park will be located within the footprint of the previously disturbed 
dirt lot on the property.  The rear portion of the property will not be disturbed.   
 
The multiuse park features a skate park, dog park, bike pump track, children’s play area, and 
temporary recycling pod.  The site plan shows the location of the future uses within the park.  The site 
plan is conceptual and does not go to the level of detail to show exact location of jumps, rails, and 
tracks.  The site plan also identifies future parking, lighting, water, fencing, flat work, and public 
restrooms.    
 
The bicycle pump track is approximately 8,000 square feet in size and located in the northwest corner 
of the park.  Bicycle pump tracks have been growing in popularity over the past decade.  The dirt 
tracks consist of loops with set jumps, humps, and berms.  The dirt tracks vary in length and design to 
accommodate a variety of riders’ skills.  A three-foot-high split rail fence will be located along the 
street frontage and the western boundary of the pump track.     
 
The dog park will be located on the south end of the park.  The dog park entrance is located adjacent 
to the parking lot in the northeast corner.  There are five existing trees in this area that will provide 
shade for visitors to the park.  Improvements include two benches and a pet waste station.  The 
proposed surface of the park is bare soil.  The dog park will be enclosed with a 42” wood and wire 
fence with 4” x 4” redwood posts and galvanized 4” grid hog wire fencing. 
 
The children’s play area and seating node are located central to the park between the pump track and 
skate park.  The play area is approximately 1,000 square feet in size and will contain playground 
equipment.  The ground cover for the play area is bark mulch.  The children’s play area will be 
enclosed within a 3’ high split rail fence.  The seating node is slightly smaller than the children’s play 
area.  This area will include seating, a game table, drinking fountain, and trash/recycling receptacles.  
This area will be landscaped with 7 Laurus Nobilis ‘Saratoga’ trees and a mix of ornamental grass and 
perennials.   
 
The skate park is located along the street frontage adjacent to the parking area.  An engineered 
bioswale is located on the northwest corner of the skate park.  Two benches are proposed within the 
skate park.  There are 3 existing eucalyptus trees within the area of the skate park that will be 
removed.  A 4’ tall black vinyl clad chain link fence will enclose the skate park.  
 

-10-

Item #: 4.A. 1550 McGregor Drive Staff Report.pdf



 

The recycling pod will be located at the far end of the parking lot next to the dog park.  No parking 
spaces will be utilized for the staging of the pod.  Hope Services will manage the pod 7 days a week 
from roughly 9 am to 7 pm collecting reusable household goods, e-waste, and clothing.  The reusable 
goods are collected and stored within the pod.  Once a pod becomes full, Hope Services ships the 
pod to the warehouse and a new pod is placed in the same location.  The City will allow the non-profit 
to utilize the location as long as there are no conflicts with the operation of the public multi-use park.      
 
Design Permit 
Within the architectural and site review for a design permit, the Planning Commission reviews 
applications for the considerations listed within 17.63.090 of the Zoning Code.  The following 
underlined considerations are relevant to the current application:  
 
Access and Parking 
Access to the park is located on the northeast corner of the property off of McGregor Drive.  The 
parking standards in the municipal code do not provide guidance for public parks.  The City hired 
Kimley-Horn and Associates to perform a trip and parking generation study for the McGregor Park 
(Attachment B).  The study identified that a minimum of 24 -26 spaces should be required.  There will 
be 30 spaces proposed within the parking lot, two of which comply with ADA standards.  Bicycle 
racks, portable restrooms, and drinking fountains are located near the entrance of the park off the 
parking area.   
 
Landscaping 
Within the PF Zoning District, landscaping is reviewed to “ensure harmony with adjacent residential 
districts in accordance with architectural and site approval procedures.”  As mentioned previously, the 
site is surrounded by the New Brighton State Beach. There is no adjacent residential development.   
The park will be located on the disturbed area of the lot that was previously utilized as a parking and 
staging lot.  The natural vegetation in the rear portion of the lot will not be disturbed. 
 
A landscape and irrigation plan is included with the submittal.  The majority of new landscaping will be 
planted along the road frontage, in and around the seating and children’s area, and surrounding the 
parking lot.  There will be a mix of ground cover, perennials, and grasses.  The majority of the plants 
are native to the area.  The two non-native species will not be planted in areas abutting the 
surrounding native habitat areas.     
 
Hours of Operation 
Per Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 10.40.010, the hours of operation for the park will be the same 
as all public parks within Capitola.  The park will be open from  6:00 a.m.  to sunset.  The vehicle gate 
at the parking lot entrance will be opened by Public Works each morning and locked each night by the 
Police Department.    
 
Lighting 
Solar LED lighting is proposed within the site.  Two ten foot poles will be located in the seating node 
area.  Three twelve foot poles are located between the park and the parking lot.  The lighting may be 
programmed based on the City’s needs.  It will automatically go on at dusk and then can be 
programmed to either turn off or dim 30% after a set amount of hours.  The Public Works Director and 
Chief of Police will manage the lighting based on necessary monitoring of the park.   
 
Trail Agreements with State Parks 
During the February 6, 2014 meeting, Commissioner Graves asked staff if any reciprocal agreements 
exist between the State Park and the City of Capitola for trail access.  The pathway in question is a 
dirt path that extends from the Park Avenue and McGregor Avenue intersection down into the service 
road within New Brighton State Beach Park. This pathway is informal and does not comply with any 
standards.  Rather than attempt to formalize any agreements with State Parks, staff will work to 

-11-

Item #: 4.A. 1550 McGregor Drive Staff Report.pdf



 

improve access along McGregor Drive by looking into widening the bike lanes and adding additional 
signage. In addition it is likely more informal pathways will be developed as park use increases. 
 
Tree Removal Permit  
There are three eucalyptus trees located in middle of the lot in the location of the future skate park 
that will be removed.  By city ordinance, two replacement trees are required for each tree that is 
removed.  The landscape plan includes the planting of 7 Laurus Nobilis ‘Saratoga’ around the seating 
area.   
 
Conditional Use Permit 
A public park within the Visitor Serving zoning district requires a conditional use permit (CUP).  In 
considering an application for a CUP, the Planning Commission must give due regard to the nature 
and condition of all adjacent uses and structures. The municipal code lists additional requirements 
and review criteria for some uses within the CUP consideration (§17.60.030).  There are no additional 
requirements for public parks within the ordinance.  In issuing the CUP for the public park, the 
Planning Commission may impose requirements and conditions with respect to location, design, 
siting, maintenance and operation of the use  as may be necessary for the protection of the adjacent 
properties and in the public interest.  The park is in a remote location adjacent to New Brighton State 
Beach but not adjacent to any residential development.  The park will compliment the state beach with 
additional recreational opportunities.  
 
CEQA REVIEW 
Section 15304of the CEQA Guidelines exempts minor public alterations of land.  This project involves 
modifying a dirt parking lot into a multiuse park.  No permanent structures are proposed on the site.  
There were no adverse environmental impacts discovered during review of the proposed project. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve project application #13-174 based on the 
following Conditions and Findings for Approval. 
 
CONDITIONS: 
1. The project approval consists of a multiuse park in the PF/VS zoning district.  There are no 

structures proposed on site.  Improvements consist of flat work, fencing, landscaping, and 
lighting.  The proposed project is approved as indicated on the plans reviewed and approved 
by the Planning Commission on March 6, 2014, except as modified through conditions 
imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing.   

 
2. Prior to construction, final building plans shall be consistent with the plans approved by the 

Planning Commission.  All construction and site improvements shall be completed according 
to the approved concept plans.  

 
3. Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM shall be printed in full and incorporated as a sheet 

into the construction plans.  All construction shall be done in accordance with the Public Works 
Standard Detail BMP STRM.   

 
4. The approved plans are conceptual and exact details of the individual uses will be developed 

prior to site improvements.  The approved concept plan with layout of the park is approved as 
reviewed by the Planning Commission on March 6, 2014.  Modifications must be specifically 
requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the conceptual layout of the site shall require Planning Commission 
approval.   

-12-

Item #: 4.A. 1550 McGregor Drive Staff Report.pdf



 

5. A final landscape plan shall be submitted and approved by the Community Development 
Department.  Landscape plans shall reflect the Planning Commission approval and shall 
identify type, size, and location of species and details of irrigation systems.   
 

6. A drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion control plan, shall be submitted to the City and 
approved by Public Works.  The plans shall be in compliance with the requirements specified 
in Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 

 

7.         The applicant shall submit a stormwater management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of 
Public Works which implements all applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and 
Public Works Standard Details, including all standards relating to low impact development 
(LID). 

 
8. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading official to 

verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  
 

9. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise curfew, 
except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  Construction noise 
shall be prohibited between the hours of 9 p.m. and 7:30 a.m. on weekdays. Construction 
noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the exception of Saturday work between 9 a.m. 
and 4 p.m. or emergency work approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 

 

FINDINGS 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 Community Development Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 

the Planning Commission have all reviewed the multiuse park.  The public park project 
requires a conditional use permit within the PF/VS (Public Facility/Visitor Serving) Zoning 
Districts.  Conditions of approval have been included to carry out the objectives of the Zoning 
Ordinance, General Plan and Local Coastal Plan. 

 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 Community Development Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 

the Planning Commission have all reviewed the plans for the new multiuse park.  Conditions of 
approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the character and integrity of 
the neighborhood. The proposed multiuse park compliments the surrounding New Brighton 
State Beach.  The park will be open to the public.  Access to the State Beach is not 
compromised by the new parks.   The park will add to the recreational uses within the 
immediate area, providing visitors of the park with additional recreation options.  

 
C.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15304 of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 
Section 15304 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts minor public alterations of land.  This project 
involves modifying a dirt parking lot into a multiuse park. There are no permanent structures 
proposed within the project.  No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during 
review of the proposed project. 

 
ATTACHMENTS 

A.  Project Plans 

B.  Trip Generation and Parking Study 

C.  Coastal Findings 
 
Report Prepared By:  Katie Cattan, Senior Planner 

-13-

Item #: 4.A. 1550 McGregor Drive Staff Report.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-14-



-15-

Item #: 4.A. Plans.pdf



 !"#$%&'()&*'&+!
)$++$''&+!,(-!
./&' 0)& 0' 123 45

6789 :8;<=;6>? @A <=BC D 7:6AEF 6:>7;BG :<HIE 8<J7:K 6IL6IM ;6N O6APP @7=

6DM9 8?MAA 76DMAA 7Q <AM HD
R 6::<ST O6APU @7=

8O?F 76I<;? H=O:M =7H=? <:M L<I;6AM =BR 6IV 77W <M I;BF 6:D7AF :77>7:N O6AUX @7=

8=>FM =;H==6A JMMQ <AM H=BW :<=;:6;H=BY <8V :<=7O:<HIE 8<J7:N O6AZ I<

78C =8? =8? <A LM 686AMQ <:IM 86F 6AMQ <:IM 6W <>>@T O6ANN @7=

ME[ :M =E <HOA 6=M 6I6
W 68MQM 8F <6=;[ :M =T O6AU\ @7=

A I=] 6H:H=I<^MAM =B_ 6:6;<O6B` 6@] 6H:7ATN O6AX I<

D:MK H?A 7I^ 7:OM 6:M O7I=
a 77:G :6==T O6AZb @7=

-16-

Item #: 4.A. Plans.pdf



-17-

Item #: 4.A. Plans.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-18-



§
Suite 250
100 West San Fernando
San Jose, California
95113

§
TEL   669-800-4131

October 2, 2013

Steve Jesberg – Director of Public Works
City of Capitola
420 Capitola Avenue
Capitola, CA 95010

Subject:  Trip & Parking Generation for McGregor Multi-Use Recreational Park

Mr. Jesberg,

The following information presents the trip and parking generation estimates for the three concept
scenarios of the McGregor Multi-Use Recreational Park consisting of skate park, pump track, dog
park, and children’s park combined uses.

This report utilizes the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) guidelines on trip and parking
generation found in the ITE publications “Trip Generation,” 9th Edition, 2012 and “Parking
Generation,” 3rd Edition, 2004, respectively. None of the proposed land uses for the multi-use
recreational park are specifically contained in ITE, thus, research of similar facilities are also
referenced for the estimations. Research results indicate that parking demand is calculated from trip
generation and vehicle occupancy.

From findings contained in the research and data from ITE, weekend daily trips would likely be
higher than an average weekday’s daily trips. However, the weekday peak hour would create a similar
peak demand than the weekend peak. Thus, the weekday PM peak hour was taken as the study period
for this analysis. Given that some trips, and thus parking spaces, will be utilizing more than one use
(dog park and skate park) at the multi-use recreational park, a 5% credit reduction of trips and
parking demand spaces were given to trip and parking generations in each concept.

Trip Generation

The trip generation details the estimated number of trips to be made to and from the park during the
weekday PM peak hour. Given the limitations of ITE rates and availability of research on related
facilities, there are key assumptions contained within the derived rates. The trip generation rates and
assumptions are noted below:

Skate Park & Pump Track
· The most similar ITE use is Land Use 465: Ice Skating Rink with a weekday PM peak rate

of 2.36 trips/thousand square feet (KSF). This rate was referenced for comparison within
the analysis.

· A weekday PM peak rate of 1.36 trips/KSF was found in both Reference 1 and Reference 2
and used for comparison within the analysis.

o Reference 1 and Reference 2 were relevant traffic impact studies on skate parks.

-19-

Item #: 4.A. B Parking and Traffic Study.pdf



Page 2

· The skate park and pump track were considered similar uses given the variety of uses
associated with the skate parks in the referenced studies, thus, were analyzed using the same
rates.

Dog Park
· A weekday PM peak rate of 1.43 vehicles/KSF with an arrival/departure percentage split of

50/50 was assumed for the dog park.
o This assumed rate includes the general standard noted by the Minneapolis Park &

Recreation Board Planning Staff of 700 SF/dog for an off-leash recreational area. It
also includes the assumption of 1 dog/vehicle given the lack of surrounding
pedestrian facilities in the proposed park’s vicinity along McGregor Drive.
§ (1 dog / .7 KSF) * (1 veh / 1 dog) = 1.43 veh/KSF

Children’s Park
· ITE Rates do not specifically contain the children’s play park use. Instead rates in similar

studies on recreational parks and combined family/dog parks were referenced (References 1
& 3) creating a range of 1.36 trips/KSF  to 1.43 vehicles/KSF. Thus, 1.43 vehicles/KSF
was used.

Parking Generation

The parking generation details the estimated peak period demand of parking spaces required of the
park during the weekday PM peak hour. Given the limitations of ITE rates and availability of
research on related facilities, there are key assumptions contained within the derived rates. The
parking generation rates and assumptions are noted below:

Skate Park & Pump Track
· The most similar ITE use is Land Use 465: Ice Skating Rink with a peak period parking

demand rate of 0.42 spaces/KSF. This use was referenced for comparison within the
analysis.

· A vehicle occupancy rate of 2.5 persons/vehicle was assumed and the peak hour trip
generation was used to estimate the parking demand.

o Reference 1 predicted that during skate park special events there is a 2.75
persons/vehicle occupancy. The McGregor proposed park is not analyzed for special
events, however, there is a lack of surrounding pedestrian facilities along McGregor
drive. Given these factors a rate of 2.5 persons/vehicle was assumed and the peak
hour trip generation was referenced to estimate parking demand.
§ Example: (1 vehicle/2.5 persons) * (17 persons)  = 7 vehicles.

Dog Park & Children’s Play Areas
· As the trip generation previously indicated, the dog and children’s park used the same rate.

Thus, 1.43 veh/KSF for the parking generation estimate was used.

The trip and parking generation tables detailing trip and parking estimates for each concept can be
found in Exhibit 1 and Exhibit 2, respectively.

-20-

Item #: 4.A. B Parking and Traffic Study.pdf



Page 3

Findings

Concept 1
For Concept 1, the total proposed usable park area equates to 29,600 SF and the estimated range of
PM peak hour weekday trips is 41-63 trips (25 IN / 27 OUT). The estimated range of parking spaces
required is 20-23 spaces.

Concept 2
For Concept 2, the total proposed usable park area equates to 24,175 SF and the estimated range of
PM peak hour weekday trips is 34-45 trips (20 IN / 19 OUT). The estimated range of parking spaces
required is 24-26 spaces.

Concept 3
For Concept 3, the total proposed usable park area is estimated at 26,200 SF. The dog park and
optional children’s play areas were not directly provided so using the proposed surrounding land use
areas, these uses were estimated at 6,900 SF and 5,600 SF, respectively. The estimated range of PM
peak hour weekday trips is 37-50 trips (21 IN / 22 OUT). The estimated range of parking spaces
required is 24-26 spaces.

References

1. Center Avenue Skate Park Traffic Analysis, prepared by PCR Services Corporation, dated
January 2012.

2. Gun Range Remediation & Reuse Project Traffic Analysis prepared by Stantec Consulting
Services, Inc., dated March 2013.

3. Sixth Street Park District Dog Park: Parking Capacity Analysis, prepared by Minneapolis
Park & Recreation Board (MPRB) Planning Staff, dated September 2011.

4. Off-leash Dog Park Area Traffic Study: Cummings Family Neighborhood Park, prepared
by City of Folsom Parks & Recreation Department, dated April 2006.

-21-

Item #: 4.A. B Parking and Traffic Study.pdf



Page 4

Given the limitations within ITE and the availability of relevant sources of related facilities, the
estimates given for the trip and parking generations are only best approximations. Thus it is
recommended, as detailed in the tables, to design the proposed park for conservative numbers of trip
and parking generations.

You can contact me directly at 669-800-4146 to discuss any questions or comments you may have
regarding the information presented in this technical memorandum or the supporting tables.

Sincerely,

KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES, INC.

Frederik Ventner, P.E.
(#64621)

-22-

Item #: 4.A. B Parking and Traffic Study.pdf



TRIP GENERATION RATES(A)
ITE Land Use Code /

Reference Units (SF) IN / OUT
Ice Skating Rink(B) ITE 465 2.36 0.45 / 0.55

Skate Park/Pump Track(C) References 1 & 2 1.36 0.47 / 0.53
Dog Park(D) References 3 & 4 1.43 0.50 / 0.50

Children's Park(E ) References 1 & 3 1.43 vehicles/KSF 0.50 / 0.50

Derived - ITE (465)
Pump Track 12,000 17 - 29 11 / 12
Skate Park 11,200 16 - 27 10 / 11
Dog Park 6,400 5 / 5

(2) - (3) (1) / (1)
29,600 41 - 63 25 / 27

Pump Track 4,500 7 - 11 4 / 5
Skate Park 6,600 9 - 16 6 / 6
Dog Park 7,475 6 / 5

Children's Park 5,600 5 / 4
(2) - (2) (1) / (1)

24,175 34 - 45 20 / 19
Pump Track 6,800 10 - 17 6 / 7
Skate Park 6,900 10 - 17 6 / 7
Dog Park(H) 6,900 5 / 5

Optional Children's Play Area(H) 5,600 5 / 4
(2) - (3) (1) / (1)

26,200 37 - 50 21 / 22
Notes:

References:

EXHIBIT 1
MCGREGOR MULTI-USE RECREATIONAL PARK

(3) Sixth Street Park District Dog Park: Parking Capacity Analysis , prepared by Minneapolis Park & Recreation Board (MPRB) Planning Staff, dated September

11
9

10
9

Total Concept 2 (Site Plan)

(4) Off-leash Dog Park Area Traffic Study: Cummings Family Neighborhood Park , prepared by City of Folsom Parks & Recreation Department, dated April 2006

(2) Gun Range Remediation & Reuse Project Traffic Analysis , prepared by Stantec Consulting Services, Inc., dated March 2013

(1) Center Avenue Skate Park Traffic Analysis , prepared by PCR Services Corporation, dated January 2012

Total Concept 3 (Site Plan)

10

(D) ITE Rates do not specifically contain the dog park use. Instead rates of similar studies on combined family/dog parks (References 3 & 4) were referenced and an
estimated rate of 1.43 vehicles/KSF with an arrival/departure percentage split of 50/50 was assumed. This estimated rate includes the general standard of a dog off-
leash recreational area of 700 SF per dog and a conservative estimate of 1 dog per vehicle given the lack of surrounding pedestrian facilities in the proposed park's
vicinity.

(A) ITE Trip Generation rates published by Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE), "Trip Generation," 9th Edition, 2012.

(B) ITE Rates do not specifically contain the skate park use. Instead the most similar use, Ice Skating Rink (LUC 465), was referenced at a rate of 2.36 trips/KSF.

Total Concept 1 (Site Plan)
Multi-Use Park Credit (5%)(G)

Multi-Use Park Credit (5%)(G)

Multi-Use Park Credit (5%)(G)

(H) For Concept 3, the proposed area of the dog park and optional children's play area were not provided by the Client. The areas for these uses were estimated based
off the proposed surrounding parcel areas.

(F) As the total peak hour trips was an estimated range, an average value from this range was given for peak hour trips IN and OUT

(C) ITE Rates do not specifically contain the skate park use. Instead rates in similar studies on skate parks were referenced (References 1 & 2) at a rate of 1.36
trips/KSF.

(G) Given that some trips would be utilizing more than just one use at the multi-use recreational park, a 5% credit reduction is assumed to account for these trips

(E) ITE rates do not specifically contain the children's play park use. Instead given rates of similar studies on recreational parks and combined family/dog parks
(References 1 & 3) were referenced creating a range of 1.36 trips/KSF to 1.43 vehicles/KSF. Thus, 1.43 vehicles/KSF was used.

trips/KSF

vehicles/KSF
trips/KSF

TRIP GENERATION

Weekday PM Peak Rate

Use

Weekday PM Peak Hour
Total Trips

Units (SF)
Average

IN(F) /
Average
OUT(F)

-23-

Item #: 4.A. B Parking and Traffic Study.pdf



PARKING GENERATION RATES(A)
ITE Land Use Code /

Reference Units (SF)
Ice Skating Rink(B) ITE 465 0.42

Skate Park/Pump Track(C) Reference 1 2.5
Dog Park(D) References 3 & 4 1.43 vehicles/KSF

Children's Park(E)  References 1 & 3 1.43

ITE (465) - Derived
Pump Track 12,000 17 6 - 7
Skate Park 11,200 16 5 - 7
Dog Park 6,400

(1) - (1)
29,600 20 - 23

Pump Track 4,500 7 2  -  3
Skate Park 6,600 9 3  -  4
Dog Park 7,475

Children's Park 5,600
(1) - (1)

24,175 24 - 26
Pump Track 6,800 10 3  -  4
Skate Park 6,900 10 3  -  4
Dog Park(G) 6,900

Optional Children's Play Area(G) 5,600
(1) - (1)

26,200 24 - 26
Notes:

References:

Derived Peak
Hour Trip
GenerationUse Units (SF)

Weekday PM Peak Hour
Total Spaces Required

11
9

Total Concept 2 (Site Plan)

10
9

PARKING GENERATION

Peak Period Demand Rate

(G) For Concept 3, the proposed square footage of the dog park and optional children's play area were not provided by the Client. The areas for these uses were estimated based off the
proposed surrounding parcel areas.

(D) ITE Rates do not specifically contain the dog park use. Instead rates of similar studies on combined family/dog parks (References 3 & 4) were referenced and an estimated rate of
1.43 vehicles/KSF with an arrival/departure percentage split of 50/50 was assumed. This estimated rate includes the general standard of a dog off-leash recreational area of 700 SF per
dog and a conservative estimate of 1 dog per vehicle given the lack of surrounding pedestrian facilities in the proposed park's vicinity.

(C) ITE Rates do not specifically contain the skate park use. Instead based on a similar study (Reference 1), a vehicle occupancy rate for skate parks of 2.5 persons/vehicle was used
given the derived peak hour trip generation.

(F) Given that some trips, and thus parking spaces, would be utilizing more than just one use at the multi-use recreational park, a 5% credit reduction is assumed to account for these
trips

(E) ITE rates do not specifically contain the children's play park use. Instead given rates of similar studies on recreational parks and combined family/dog parks (References 1 & 3)
were referenced creating a range of 1.36 trips/KSF to 1.43 vehicles/KSF. Thus, 1.43 vehicles/KSF was used.

10

Total Concept 1 (Site Plan)
Multi-Use Park Credit (5%)(F)

Multi-Use Park Credit (5%)(F)

Multi-Use Park Credit (5%)(F)

(4) Off-leash Dog Park Area Traffic Study: Cummings Family Neighborhood Park , prepared by City of Folsom Parks & Recreation Department, dated April 2006

(3) Sixth Street Park District Dog Park: Parking Capacity Analysis , prepared by Minneapolis Park & Recreation Board (MPRB) Planning Staff, dated September 2011

(1) Center Avenue Skate Park Traffic Analysis , prepared by PCR Services Corporation, dated January 2012

EXHIBIT 2
MCGREGOR MULTI-USE RECREATIONAL PARK

Total Concept 3 (Site Plan)

(B) ITE Rates do not specifically contain the skate park use. Instead the most similar use, Ice Skating Rink (LUC 465), was referenced with a peak period demand rate of .42
spaces/KSF GFA.

(A) ITE Parking Generation rates published by Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE), "Parking Generation," 3rd Edition, 2004.

spaces/KSF
persons/veh

vehicles/KSF

-24-

Item #: 4.A. B Parking and Traffic Study.pdf



  

 

      
PROJECT APPLICATION #13-174 

1550 McGREGOR DRIVE, CAPITOLA 
MIXED USE PARK 

 
 
 
COASTAL FINDINGS 
 

D. Findings Required. A coastal permit shall be granted only upon adoption of specific 
written factual findings supporting the conclusion that the proposed development 
conforms to the certified Local Coastal Program, including, but not limited to: 
 

 The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local Coastal Plan (LCP). 
The specific, factual findings, as per CMC Section 17.46.090 (D) are as follows:  

 
(D) (2) Require Project-Specific Findings. In determining any requirement for public 
access, including the type of access and character of use, the city shall evaluate and 
document in written findings the factors identified in subsections (D) (2) (a) through (e), 
to the extent applicable. The findings shall explain the basis for the conclusions and 
decisions of the city and shall be supported by substantial evidence in the record. If an 
access dedication is required as a condition of approval, the findings shall explain how 
the adverse effects which have been identified will be alleviated or mitigated by the 
dedication. As used in this section, “cumulative effect” means the effect of the 
individual project in combination with the effects of past projects, other current 
projects, and probable future projects, including development allowed under applicable 
planning and zoning. 

 
(D) (2) (a) Project Effects on Demand for Access and Recreation. Identification of 
existing and open public access and coastal recreation areas and facilities in the 
regional and local vicinity of the development. Analysis of the project’s effects upon 
existing public access and recreation opportunities. Analysis of the project’s 
cumulative effects upon the use and capacity of the identified access and recreation 
opportunities, including public tidelands and beach resources, and upon the capacity 
of major coastal roads from subdivision, intensification or cumulative build-out. 
Projection for the anticipated demand and need for increased coastal access and 
recreation opportunities for the public. Analysis of the contribution of the project’s 
cumulative effects to any such projected increase. Description of the physical 
characteristics of the site and its proximity to the sea, tideland viewing points, upland 
recreation areas, and trail linkages to tidelands or recreation areas. Analysis of the 
importance and potential of the site, because of its location or other characteristics, for 
creating, preserving or enhancing public access to tidelands or public recreation 
opportunities;  
 
 The proposed project is located on public property adjacent to the entrance of New 

Brighton State Park.  The project will add to the recreation opportunities in the area.  It will 
not affect public access and coastal recreation areas negatively as it involves a new public 
park along the road frontage of McGregor Drive.  There will be no impact on public trails or 
beach access. 
 

(D) (2) (b) Shoreline Processes. Description of the existing shoreline conditions, 
including beach profile, accessibility and usability of the beach, history of erosion or 
accretion, character and sources of sand, wave and sand movement, presence of 

-25-

Item #: 4.A. C Coastal Findings.pdf



  

 

shoreline protective structures, location of the line of mean high tide during the season 
when the beach is at its narrowest (generally during the late winter) and the proximity of 
that line to existing structures, and any other factors which substantially characterize 
or affect the shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to 
shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline 
processes and beach profile unrelated to the proposed development. Description and 
analysis of any reasonably likely changes, attributable to the primary and cumulative 
effects of the project, to: wave and sand movement affecting beaches in the vicinity of 
the project; the profile of the beach; the character, extent, accessibility and usability of 
the beach; and any other factors which characterize or affect beaches in the vicinity. 
Analysis of the effect of any identified changes of the project, alone or in combination 
with other anticipated changes, will have upon the ability of the public to use public 
tidelands and shoreline recreation areas; 
 

 The proposed project is located adjacent to McGregor Drive, approximately 2,000 feet from 
the shoreline.  No portion of the project is located along the shoreline or beach.   

 
(D) (2) (c) Historic Public Use. Evidence of use of the site by members of the general 
public for a continuous five-year period (such use may be seasonal). Evidence of the 
type and character of use made by the public (vertical, lateral, blufftop, etc., and for 
passive and/or active recreational use, etc.). Identification of any agency (or person) 
who has maintained and/or improved the area subject to historic public use and the 
nature of the maintenance performed and improvements made. Identification of the 
record owner of the area historically used by the public and any attempts by the owner 
to prohibit public use of the area, including the success or failure of those attempts. 
Description of the potential for adverse impact on public use of the area from the 
proposed development (including but not limited to, creation of physical or 
psychological impediments to public use);  
 

 The publicly owned site has been utilized for parking and for construction staging.  The 
new park will be open to the public for recreation.   

(D)  (2) (d) Physical Obstructions. Description of any physical aspects of the 
development which block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the 
tidelands, public recreation areas, or other public coastal resources or to see the 
shoreline; 

 The proposed project is located on public property adjacent to New Brighton State 
Park.  The project will not block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the 
tidelands, public recreation areas, or views to the shoreline. 

 
 (D) (2) (e) Other Adverse Impacts on Access and Recreation. Description of the 
development’s physical proximity and relationship to the shoreline and any public 
recreation area. Analysis of the extent of which buildings, walls, signs, streets or other 
aspects of the development, individually or cumulatively, are likely to diminish the 
public’s use of tidelands or lands committed to public recreation. Description of any 
alteration of the aesthetic, visual or recreational value of public use areas, and of any 
diminution of the quality or amount of recreational use of public lands which may be 
attributable to the individual or cumulative effects of the development.    
 

 The proposed project is located on public property adjacent to New Brighton State 
Park.  The project does not diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands committed to 

-26-

Item #: 4.A. C Coastal Findings.pdf



  

 

public recreation nor alter the aesthetic, visual or recreational value of public use 
areas.  The land will be utilized for public recreation.   
 

 (D) (3) (a – c) Required Findings for Public Access Exceptions. Any determination that 
one of the exceptions of subsection (F) (2) applies to a development shall be supported 
by written findings of fact, analysis and conclusions which address all of the following: 

a. The type of access potentially applicable to the site involved (vertical, lateral, 
bluff top, etc.) and its location in relation to the fragile coastal resource to be protected, 
the agricultural use, the public safety concern, or the military facility which is the basis 
for the exception, as applicable; 

b. Unavailability of any mitigating measures to manage the type, character, 
intensity, hours, season or location of such use so that agricultural resources, fragile 
coastal resources, public safety, or military security, as applicable, are protected; 

c. Ability of the public, through another reasonable means, to reach the same area 
of public tidelands as would be made accessible by an access way on the subject land. 

 The project is not requesting a Public Access Exception, therefore these findings do 
not apply 

(D) (4) (a – f) Findings for Management Plan Conditions. Written findings in support of a 
condition requiring a management plan for regulating the time and manner or character 
of public access use must address the following factors, as applicable: 

a. Identification and protection of specific habitat values including the reasons 
supporting the conclusions that such values must be protected by limiting the hours, 
seasons, or character of public use; 

 b. Topographic constraints of the development site; 

 c. Recreational needs of the public; 

 d. Rights of privacy of the landowner which could not be mitigated by setting the 
project back from the access way or otherwise conditioning the development; 

e. The requirements of the possible accepting agency, if an offer of dedication is 
the mechanism for securing public access; 

f. Feasibility of adequate setbacks, fencing, landscaping, and other methods as 
part of a management plan to regulate public use. 

 No Management Plan is required; therefore these findings do not apply 
 

(D) (5)  Project complies with public access requirements, including submittal of 
appropriate legal documents to ensure the right of public access whenever, and as, 
required by the certified land use plan and Section 17.46.010 (coastal access 
requirements); 
 

 No legal documents to ensure public access rights  are required for the proposed 

-27-

Item #: 4.A. C Coastal Findings.pdf



  

 

project 
  

(D) (6) Project complies with visitor-serving and recreational use policies;  

 
SEC. 30222 

The use of private lands suitable for visitor-serving commercial recreational facilities 
designed to enhance public opportunities for coastal recreation shall have priority over 
private residential, general industrial, or general commercial development, but not over 
agriculture or coastal-dependent industry. 

 The project is a public mixed use park that is a visitor-serving recreational facilities 
designed to enhance public opportunities to recreate.     

SEC. 30223 

Upland areas necessary to support coastal recreational uses shall be reserved for such 
uses, where feasible. 

 The project involves a public recreation facilities. 

c)  Visitor-serving facilities that cannot be feasibly located in existing developed areas 
shall be located in existing isolated developments or at selected points of attraction for 
visitors. 

 

 The project involves a visitor-serving public recreation park on a parcel adjacent to the 
New Brighton state beach.  This is a selected point of attraction for visitors.    

 (D) (7)  Project complies with applicable standards and requirements for 
provision of public and private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of 
transportation and/or traffic improvements; 
 

 The project complies with applicable standards and requirements for provision of public 
and private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of transportation and/or traffic 
improvements.  A parking and traffic study was completed to ensure that demand is 
met.   

 
(D) (8)  Review of project design, site plan, signing, lighting, landscaping, etc., by the 
city’s architectural and site review committee, and compliance with adopted design 
guidelines and standards, and review committee recommendations; 
 

 The project complies with the design guidelines and standards established by the 
Municipal Code.   

  
(D) (9) Project complies with LCP policies regarding protection of public landmarks, 
protection or provision of public views; and shall not block or detract from public views 
to and along Capitola’s shoreline; 

 

 The proposed project is located on City property adjacent to the entrance to New Brighton 
State Park.  The project will not result negatively impact public landmarks and/or public 
views.  The project will not block or detract from public views to and along Capitola’s 
shoreline.   

 
(D) (10) Demonstrated availability and adequacy of water and sewer services; 
 

 The project has adequate water and sewer services. 

-28-

Item #: 4.A. C Coastal Findings.pdf



  

 

 
(D) (11) Provisions of minimum water flow rates and fire response times;  
 

 The project is an outdoor recreation mixed use park.   

 (D) (12) Project complies with water and energy conservation standards; 

 

 The project establishes a recreation mixed-use park.  GHG emissions for the project are 
projected at less than significant impact.  

 
(D) (13) Provision of park dedication, school impact, and other fees as may be required;  
 

 The public park will not require any impact fees. 
 
(D) (14) Project complies with coastal housing policies, and applicable ordinances 
including condominium conversion and mobile home ordinances; 

 

 The project does not involve a condo conversion or mobile homes.   
 
(D) (15) Project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological protection 
policies;  
 

 The project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological protection policies. 
 
(D) (16) Project complies with Monarch butterfly habitat protection policies; 

 

 The project is outside of any identified sensitive habitats, specifically areas where Monarch 
Butterflies have been encountered, identified and documented. 
 

(D) (17) Project provides drainage and erosion and control measures to protect marine, 
stream, and wetland water quality from urban runoff and erosion; 
 

 Engineering plans have been included to ensure compliance with applicable erosion 
control measures. 

 
(D) (18) Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professional for 
projects in seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or coastal bluffs, and project 
complies with hazard protection policies including provision of appropriate setbacks 
and mitigation measures; 
 

 The project is a park.  There are no permanent structures proposed.     
 

(D) (19) All other geological, flood and fire hazards are accounted for and mitigated in 
the project design; 
 

 A certified engineer has reviewed all plans for compliance with geological, flood and fire 
hazards.   

   
(D) (20) Project complies with shoreline structure policies; 
  

 The proposed project is not located along a shoreline. 
  

-29-

Item #: 4.A. C Coastal Findings.pdf



  

 

(D) (21) The uses proposed are consistent with the permitted or conditional uses of the 
zoning district in which the project is located; 
 

 The public park is consistent with the Public Facilities/Visitor Serving zoning district.  

(D) (22) Conformance to requirements of all other city ordinances, zoning requirements, 
and project review procedures; 
 

 The project conforms to the requirements of all city ordinances, zoning requirements and 
project development review and development procedures. 

 
(D) (23) Project complies with the Capitola parking permit program as follows:  
 

 The project site is not located within the area of the Capitola parking permit program. 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

-30-

Item #: 4.A. C Coastal Findings.pdf



 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T 
 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  MARCH 6, 2014 
 
SUBJECT: 306 El Salto Drive    #13-181  APN: 036-123-26 

Design Permit and Coastal Development Permit application for an addition to a single 
family home in the R-1(Single-Family) Zoning District.    
This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is appealable to the 
California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the 
City.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Chris and Cindy Henry 
Representative: Martha Matson; filed 01/23/2014 

  
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant has submitted a Design Permit and a Coastal Development Permit application for the 
property at 306 El Salto Drive.  The project is located in the R-1 (Single Family) zoning district.  
Currently, the property includes a single-family home, a two-car garage that is shared with the 
adjacent neighbor, and a small shed.  The applicant would like to remodel the existing home.  The 
remodel includes removing the existing kitchen, bath, mudroom and the small shed in the rear yard.  
The new addition will be located on the back of the house and include a new kitchen, mudroom, 
bedroom and bathroom.  The front living room will also be remodeled with new window and door 
locations, roof design, and a covered front porch.  A design permit is required due to the extensive 
changes to the front façade of the home.   
 
BACKGROUND 
On February 13, 2014, the Architectural and Site Review Committee reviewed the application.   

 City Design Representative Derek Van Alstine reviewed the application and did not request 
any changes.    

 City Landscape Architect.  Position was vacant at time of meeting. 

 City Public Works Director Steve Jesberg informed the applicant that a drainage plan will be 
required at time of submittal for building plan review.    

 City Building Inspector Brian Von Son informed the applicant that firewall standards must be 
met within the garage.   

 The City Historian Carolyn Swift acknowledged that the home was not included on the 1986 
Architectural Survey or the 2005 City of Capitola Historic Structures List.   

 
DISCUSSION 
The structure at 306 El Salto Drive is located on Depot Hill.  The home is not listed on the 1986 
Architectural Survey, the 2005 City of Capitola Historic Structures List, or the 2004 Depot Hill Historic 
District Feasibility Study. The City of Capitola Historic Context Statement explains that the original 
subdivision of the Depot Hill area was under the control of the Hihn Company from 1884 to 1919.  

-31-

Item #: 4.B. 306 El Salto Dr Staff Report.pdf



 

According to the 2004 Depot Hill Historic District Feasibility Study, this 35-year span constitutes the 
period of significance for the neighborhood.  The home at 306 El Salto was included in the 1927 
Sanborn Fire Insurance Map. 
 
The existing home at 306 El Salto is surrounded by a mix of historic and contemporary single-family 
homes and secondary dwelling units.  The home has a small front yard with a pathway leading to the 
front door.  A shared driveway and garage are located along the east property line.  The garage is 
located at the rear of the lot.   
 
The current review is for a Design Permit for a remodel of the existing single-family home.  The doors, 
windows, and roof design on the front elevation will be modified within the reconstruction of the front 
living room.  The front door will be centrally located with new windows wrapping from the front door 
around to the side elevation.  The existing low pitched shed roof over the living room will be removed 
and a new roof will extend from the existing wing ridge to the new deck columns.  The roof 
modification will raise the living room ceiling heights and introduce a covered porch to the front 
facade.  On the rear of the home, the existing kitchen, bath, mudroom, and the small shed will be 
removed.  The rear addition will include a new kitchen, mudroom, bedroom, and bathroom.  The 
addition connects the main home to the existing garage.     
 
Site and Structural Data 
The project conforms with all R-1 (single family) zoning district standards, as follows: 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 

Lot Size 3,200 sq. ft. 

Maximum FAR Allowed 57% 1,824 sq. ft. 

Proposed FAR 47% 1,485 sq. ft. 

Existing and Proposed Square Footage 

Existing House 1,175 sq. ft. 

Existing Garage    190 sq. ft.  

Existing Shed    134 sq. ft. 

Total Existing 1,499 sq. ft. 

Added space    134 sq. ft. 

Demolished Space    150 sq. ft. 

Total Proposed 1,483 sq. ft. 

Set Backs 

 R-1 District Proposed 

Front Yard 15’ 16’ 5” 

Rear Yard 16’ (20% lot depth) 16’ 

Side Yard 4’ (10% lot depth) 4’ 

Building Height 

 R-1 District Proposed 

Residential 25'-0" 17’ 

Parking 

 Required Proposed 

Residential up 
to 1,500 sq. ft.) 

2 spaces total 
 

1 covered 
Non-conforming 

 
Non-Conforming Garage and Parking 
There is an existing, non-conforming garage onsite.  The garage straddles the east property line and 
is shared with the residence of 308 El Salto.  The garage does not meet the setback requirements for 
the side yard and rear yard.  The garage is not being renovated; therefore it is an existing legal non-
conforming structure.   

-32-

Item #: 4.B. 306 El Salto Dr Staff Report.pdf



 

 
There is one covered parking spot within the garage that complies with the minimum parking 
dimension of 10 feet wide by 20 feet deep.  There is available parking within the driveway, but the 
parking is substandard because the minimum width and depth requirements are not met.  Pursuant to 
§17.51.135, no additional parking is required due to the floor area not increasing beyond 10% of the 
existing gross floor area.         
 
Architecture and Site Considerations 
Municipal Code section 17.63.090 lists the considerations reviewed by the Planning Commission 
within a Design Permit application.  Staff has underlined the relative architecture and site 
considerations below followed by a staff analysis.  Additional requirements for drainage and fire 
protection were identified during the Architecture and Site Review meeting.  Conditions of approval 
are included addressing drainage and fire protection which will be reviewed for compliance at time of 
submittal of building plans.     
 
17.63.090(C) Landscaping  
1. The location, height and materials of walls, fences, hedges, trees and screen plantings to insure 
harmony with adjacent development or to conceal storage areas, utility installations or other unsightly 
development, 
2. The planting of groundcover or other landscape surfacing to prevent dust and erosion, 
3. The prevention of unnecessary destruction of existing healthy trees, 
4. Usable open space shall be reviewed both with respect to area and quality of landscape 
development; 
Staff Analysis: There is established landscaping on the site which the owner plans to protect during 
construction.  No trees will be removed for the remodel. The existing brick patio, picket fence, and 
rock retaining wall in the front yard will remain in place.  Staff has included condition of approval #6 to 
require that the existing landscaping be retained during construction as planned.  The condition also 
requires that if landscaping is removed, the applicant must submit a landscape plan to the Community 
Development department for approval.  There is currently drip irrigation on the property.   
 
17.63.090(D) Site Layout:  
1. The orientation and location of buildings, decks or balconies, and open spaces in relation to the 
physical characteristics of the site, the character of the neighborhood and the appearance and 
harmony of the buildings with adjacent development such that privacy of adjacent properties is 
maintained; 
Staff Analysis: The modifications to the front of the home will complement the existing streetscapes 
creating a traditional entrance and covered porch on the front façade of the home.  The orientation 
and location of the proposed addition would be harmonious with neighboring residential development 
and would maintain privacy among adjacent properties. 
 
17.63.090(F). Considerations relating to architectural character: 
1. The suitability of the building for its purpose, 
2. The appropriate use of materials to insure compatibility with the intent of the title; 
Staff Analysis: The proposed new materials are compatible with the existing structure, including: 
aluminum clad wood windows, horizontal wood lap siding to match existing, and new wood trim within 
the gable ends.  The introduction of a more detailed fascia, wider wood trim around the windows, and 
two wood columns on the front porch will add decorative features to enhance the existing home.     
 
  

-33-

Item #: 4.B. 306 El Salto Dr Staff Report.pdf



 

CEQA REVIEW 
Section 15301(e) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts additions to existing structures provided that the 
addition in under 10,000 square feet and not located in an environmentally sensitive area.  This 
project involves a remodel to an existing home located in the single family residential (R-1) zoning 
district. No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed project. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve project application #13-181 based on the 
following Conditions and Findings for Approval. 
 
CONDITIONS 

 

1. The project approval consists of construction of a 134 square-foot addition to an existing single 
family home. The maximum Floor Area Ratio for the 3,200 square-foot property is 57% (1,824 
square feet).  The total FAR of the home with new addition is 47% with a total of 1,485 square 
feet, compliant with the maximum FAR within the zone. The proposed project is approved as 
indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on March 6, 
2014, except as modified through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during the 
hearing. 

 
2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 

modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be consistent 
with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and site improvements 
shall be completed according to the approved plans. 

 
3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be printed in 

full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM shall 
be printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans.  All construction shall 
be done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP STRM.   

 
5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically requested 

and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any significant changes 
to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require Planning Commission 
approval.   
 

6. The existing front yard landscaping shall be retained.  If the landscaping is removed, the 
applicant shall submit a landscape plan to the Community Development Department for 
approval.  The landscape plan will include the specific number of plants of each type and their 
size, as well as the irrigation system to be utilized. The new front yard landscaping will be 
required to be installed prior to final building occupancy. 
 

7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #13-181 shall be 
paid in full. 

 
8. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 

approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel Creek 
Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.   

 
9. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion control 

plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans shall be in 

-34-

Item #: 4.B. 306 El Salto Dr Staff Report.pdf



 

compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 13.16 Storm 
Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 

 

10. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater management 
plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements all applicable Post 
Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard Details, including all standards 
relating to low impact development (LID). 
 

11. Prior to issuance of building permits, the building plans must show that the garage  complies 
with the firewall standards of the IBC.  

 
12. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading official to 

verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  
 

13. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired by 
the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed in the 
road right-of-way. 

 
14. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise curfew, 

except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  Construction noise 
shall be prohibited between the hours of 9 p.m. and 7:30 a.m. on weekdays. Construction 
noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the exception of Saturday work between 9 a.m. 
and 4 p.m. or emergency work approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 

 

15. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or sidewalk 
shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction of the Public 
Works Department.  All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or sidewalk shall meet 
current Accessibility Standards. 

 

16. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall 
be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director.  Upon evidence 
of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions, the 
applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director or shall file an application for a permit amendment for Planning Commission 
consideration. Failure to remedy a non-compliance in a timely manner may result in permit 
revocation. 

 

17. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.   The applicant shall have an 
approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent permit 
expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to expiration 
pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 

 

18. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the applicant 
to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the site on which 
the approval was granted. 

 

19. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be placed out 
of public view on non-collection days.  

  

-35-

Item #: 4.B. 306 El Salto Dr Staff Report.pdf



 

 
FINDINGS 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 Community Development Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 

the Planning Commission have all reviewed the addition to the single family home.  The 
project conforms to the development standards of the R-1 (Single-Family) Zoning Districts.  
Conditions of approval have been included to carry out the objectives of the Zoning Ordinance, 
General Plan and Local Coastal Plan. 

 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 Community Development Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 

the Planning Commission have all reviewed the addition to the single-family home.  The 
project conforms to the development standards of the R-1 (Single-Family) Zoning Districts.  
Conditions of approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the character 
and integrity of the neighborhood. The proposed addition to the single-family residence 
compliments the existing single-family homes in the neighborhood in use, mass and scale, 
materials, height, and architecture.   

 
C.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301(e) of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 
Section 15301(e) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts additions to existing structures provided 
that the addition in under 10,000 square feet and not located in an environmentally sensitive 
area.  This project involves a remodel to an existing home located in the single family 
residential (R-1) zoning district. No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during 
review of the proposed project. 

 
ATTACHMENTS 

A.  Project Plans 
 
Report Prepared By:  Katie Cattan  

Senior Planner 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2014 Meeting Packets\03-06-14 Planning Commission\13-181 306 El Salto  

-36-

Item #: 4.B. 306 El Salto Dr Staff Report.pdf



-37-

Item #: 4.B. 306 El Salto Plans.pdf



-38-

Item #: 4.B. 306 El Salto Plans.pdf



-39-

Item #: 4.B. 306 El Salto Plans.pdf



-40-

Item #: 4.B. 306 El Salto Plans.pdf



-41-

Item #: 4.B. 306 El Salto Plans.pdf



-42-

Item #: 4.B. 306 El Salto Plans.pdf



-43-

Item #: 4.B. Color and Materials Board.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-44-



  

 

      
PROJECT APPLICATION #13-181 
306 EL SALTO DRIVE, CAPITOLA 

ADDITION TO SINGLE FAMILY HOME 
 
COASTAL FINDINGS 
 

D. Findings Required. A coastal permit shall be granted only upon adoption of specific 
written factual findings supporting the conclusion that the proposed development 
conforms to the certified Local Coastal Program, including, but not limited to: 
 

 The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local Coastal Plan (LCP). 
The specific, factual findings, as per CMC Section 17.46.090 (D) are as follows:  

 
(D) (2) Require Project-Specific Findings. In determining any requirement for public 
access, including the type of access and character of use, the city shall evaluate and 
document in written findings the factors identified in subsections (D) (2) (a) through (e), 
to the extent applicable. The findings shall explain the basis for the conclusions and 
decisions of the city and shall be supported by substantial evidence in the record. If an 
access dedication is required as a condition of approval, the findings shall explain how 
the adverse effects which have been identified will be alleviated or mitigated by the 
dedication. As used in this section, “cumulative effect” means the effect of the 
individual project in combination with the effects of past projects, other current 
projects, and probable future projects, including development allowed under applicable 
planning and zoning. 

 
(D) (2) (a) Project Effects on Demand for Access and Recreation. Identification of 
existing and open public access and coastal recreation areas and facilities in the 
regional and local vicinity of the development. Analysis of the project’s effects upon 
existing public access and recreation opportunities. Analysis of the project’s 
cumulative effects upon the use and capacity of the identified access and recreation 
opportunities, including public tidelands and beach resources, and upon the capacity 
of major coastal roads from subdivision, intensification or cumulative build-out. 
Projection for the anticipated demand and need for increased coastal access and 
recreation opportunities for the public. Analysis of the contribution of the project’s 
cumulative effects to any such projected increase. Description of the physical 
characteristics of the site and its proximity to the sea, tideland viewing points, upland 
recreation areas, and trail linkages to tidelands or recreation areas. Analysis of the 
importance and potential of the site, because of its location or other characteristics, for 
creating, preserving or enhancing public access to tidelands or public recreation 
opportunities;  
 
 The proposed project is located at 306 El Salto Drive.  The home is not located in an area 

with coastal access. The home will not have an effect on public trails or beach access. 
 

(D) (2) (b) Shoreline Processes. Description of the existing shoreline conditions, 
including beach profile, accessibility and usability of the beach, history of erosion or 
accretion, character and sources of sand, wave and sand movement, presence of 
shoreline protective structures, location of the line of mean high tide during the season 
when the beach is at its narrowest (generally during the late winter) and the proximity of 
that line to existing structures, and any other factors which substantially characterize 
or affect the shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to 
shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline 

-45-

Item #: 4.B. 306 El Salto Drive Coastal Findings.pdf



  

 

processes and beach profile unrelated to the proposed development. Description and 
analysis of any reasonably likely changes, attributable to the primary and cumulative 
effects of the project, to: wave and sand movement affecting beaches in the vicinity of 
the project; the profile of the beach; the character, extent, accessibility and usability of 
the beach; and any other factors which characterize or affect beaches in the vicinity. 
Analysis of the effect of any identified changes of the project, alone or in combination 
with other anticipated changes, will have upon the ability of the public to use public 
tidelands and shoreline recreation areas; 
 

 The proposed project is located along El Salto Drive.  No portion of the project is located 
along the shoreline or beach.   

 
(D) (2) (c) Historic Public Use. Evidence of use of the site by members of the general 
public for a continuous five-year period (such use may be seasonal). Evidence of the 
type and character of use made by the public (vertical, lateral, blufftop, etc., and for 
passive and/or active recreational use, etc.). Identification of any agency (or person) 
who has maintained and/or improved the area subject to historic public use and the 
nature of the maintenance performed and improvements made. Identification of the 
record owner of the area historically used by the public and any attempts by the owner 
to prohibit public use of the area, including the success or failure of those attempts. 
Description of the potential for adverse impact on public use of the area from the 
proposed development (including but not limited to, creation of physical or 
psychological impediments to public use);  
 

 There is not history of public use on the subject lot.     

(D)  (2) (d) Physical Obstructions. Description of any physical aspects of the 
development which block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the 
tidelands, public recreation areas, or other public coastal resources or to see the 
shoreline; 

 The proposed project is located on private property on El Salto Drive.  The project will 
not block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the tidelands, public 
recreation areas, or views to the shoreline.   

 
 (D) (2) (e) Other Adverse Impacts on Access and Recreation. Description of the 
development’s physical proximity and relationship to the shoreline and any public 
recreation area. Analysis of the extent of which buildings, walls, signs, streets or other 
aspects of the development, individually or cumulatively, are likely to diminish the 
public’s use of tidelands or lands committed to public recreation. Description of any 
alteration of the aesthetic, visual or recreational value of public use areas, and of any 
diminution of the quality or amount of recreational use of public lands which may be 
attributable to the individual or cumulative effects of the development.    
 

 The proposed project is located on private property that will not impact access and 
recreation.  The project does not diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands 
committed to public recreation nor alter the aesthetic, visual or recreational value of 
public use areas. 
 

 (D) (3) (a – c) Required Findings for Public Access Exceptions. Any determination that 
one of the exceptions of subsection (F) (2) applies to a development shall be supported 
by written findings of fact, analysis and conclusions which address all of the following: 

-46-

Item #: 4.B. 306 El Salto Drive Coastal Findings.pdf



  

 

a. The type of access potentially applicable to the site involved (vertical, lateral, 
bluff top, etc.) and its location in relation to the fragile coastal resource to be protected, 
the agricultural use, the public safety concern, or the military facility which is the basis 
for the exception, as applicable; 

b. Unavailability of any mitigating measures to manage the type, character, 
intensity, hours, season or location of such use so that agricultural resources, fragile 
coastal resources, public safety, or military security, as applicable, are protected; 

c. Ability of the public, through another reasonable means, to reach the same area 
of public tidelands as would be made accessible by an access way on the subject land. 

 The project is not requesting a Public Access Exception, therefore these findings do 
not apply 

(D) (4) (a – f) Findings for Management Plan Conditions. Written findings in support of a 
condition requiring a management plan for regulating the time and manner or character 
of public access use must address the following factors, as applicable: 

a. Identification and protection of specific habitat values including the reasons 
supporting the conclusions that such values must be protected by limiting the hours, 
seasons, or character of public use; 

 The project is located in a residential area without sensitive habitat areas.   

 b. Topographic constraints of the development site; 

 The project is located on a flat lot.   

 c. Recreational needs of the public; 

 The project does not impact recreational needs of the public.  

 d. Rights of privacy of the landowner which could not be mitigated by setting the 
project back from the access way or otherwise conditioning the development; 

e. The requirements of the possible accepting agency, if an offer of dedication is 
the mechanism for securing public access; 

f. Feasibility of adequate setbacks, fencing, landscaping, and other methods as 
part of a management plan to regulate public use. 

 
(D) (5)  Project complies with public access requirements, including submittal of 
appropriate legal documents to ensure the right of public access whenever, and as, 
required by the certified land use plan and Section 17.46.010 (coastal access 
requirements); 
 

 No legal documents to ensure public access rights  are required for the proposed 
project 

  

-47-

Item #: 4.B. 306 El Salto Drive Coastal Findings.pdf



  

 

(D) (6) Project complies with visitor-serving and recreational use policies;  

 
SEC. 30222 

The use of private lands suitable for visitor-serving commercial recreational facilities 
designed to enhance public opportunities for coastal recreation shall have priority over 
private residential, general industrial, or general commercial development, but not over 
agriculture or coastal-dependent industry. 

 The project involves a single family home on a residential lot of record.     

SEC. 30223 

Upland areas necessary to support coastal recreational uses shall be reserved for such 
uses, where feasible. 

 The project involves a single family home on a residential lot of record.   

c)  Visitor-serving facilities that cannot be feasibly located in existing developed areas 
shall be located in existing isolated developments or at selected points of attraction for 
visitors. 

 

 The project involves a single family home on a residential lot of record.   

 (D) (7)  Project complies with applicable standards and requirements for 
provision of public and private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of 
transportation and/or traffic improvements; 
 

 The project involves the construction of a single family home.  The project complies 
with applicable standards and requirements for provision for parking, pedestrian 
access, alternate means of transportation and/or traffic improvements.   

 
(D) (8)  Review of project design, site plan, signing, lighting, landscaping, etc., by the 
city’s architectural and site review committee, and compliance with adopted design 
guidelines and standards, and review committee recommendations; 
 

 The project complies with the design guidelines and standards established by the 
Municipal Code.   

  
(D) (9) Project complies with LCP policies regarding protection of public landmarks, 
protection or provision of public views; and shall not block or detract from public views 
to and along Capitola’s shoreline; 

 

 The project will not negatively impact public landmarks and/or public views.  The project 
will not block or detract from public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline.   

 
(D) (10) Demonstrated availability and adequacy of water and sewer services; 
 

 The project is located on a legal lot of record with available water and sewer services.   

 
(D) (11) Provisions of minimum water flow rates and fire response times;  
 

 The project is located within close proximity of the Capitola fire department.  Water is 
available at the location.   

 (D) (12) Project complies with water and energy conservation standards; 

-48-

Item #: 4.B. 306 El Salto Drive Coastal Findings.pdf



  

 

 

 The project is for a single family home.  The GHG emissions for the project are projected 
at less than significant impact. All water fixtures must comply with the low-flow standards of 
the soquel creek water district. 

 
(D) (13) Provision of park dedication, school impact, and other fees as may be required;  
 

 The project will be required to pay appropriate fees prior to building permit issuance. 
 
(D) (14) Project complies with coastal housing policies, and applicable ordinances 
including condominium conversion and mobile home ordinances; 

 

 The project does not involve a condo conversion or mobile homes.   
 
(D) (15) Project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological protection 
policies;  
 

 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with established policies. 
 
(D) (16) Project complies with Monarch butterfly habitat protection policies; 

 

 The project is outside of any identified sensitive habitats, specifically areas where Monarch 
Butterflies have been encountered, identified and documented. 
 

(D) (17) Project provides drainage and erosion and control measures to protect marine, 
stream, and wetland water quality from urban runoff and erosion; 
 

 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with applicable erosion 
control measures. 

 
(D) (18) Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professional for 
projects in seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or coastal bluffs, and project 
complies with hazard protection policies including provision of appropriate setbacks 
and mitigation measures; 
 

 Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professionals for this 
project.  Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project applicant shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the most recent version of the California 
Building Standards Code.   
 

(D) (19) All other geological, flood and fire hazards are accounted for and mitigated in 
the project design; 

 

 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project complies with geological, 
flood, and fire hazards and are accounted for and will be mitigated in the project design. 

   
(D) (20) Project complies with shoreline structure policies; 
  

 The proposed project is not located along a shoreline. 
  

(D) (21) The uses proposed are consistent with the permitted or conditional uses of the 
zoning district in which the project is located; 

-49-

Item #: 4.B. 306 El Salto Drive Coastal Findings.pdf



  

 

 

 This use is an allowed use consistent with the Single Family zoning district.  

(D) (22) Conformance to requirements of all other city ordinances, zoning requirements, 
and project review procedures; 
 

 The project conforms to the requirements of all city ordinances, zoning requirements and 
project development review and development procedures. 

 
(D) (23) Project complies with the Capitola parking permit program as follows:  
 

 The project site is located within the area of the Capitola parking permit program. 

-50-

Item #: 4.B. 306 El Salto Drive Coastal Findings.pdf



 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T 
 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  MARCH 6, 2014 
 
SUBJECT: 4605 Emerald Street   #14-011   APN: 034-032-15 

Design Permit and Coastal Development Permit application to demolish an existing 
single-family residence and construct a new single-family home, located in the R-
1(Single Family) zoning district.  
This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is not appealable to the 
California Coastal Commission.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: North Point Investments LLC 
Representative: Wayne Miller 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant submitted a Design Permit and a Coastal Development Permit for a new 1,824 square 
foot, single-family home at 4605 Emerald Street.  The project is located in the R-1 (Single-Family) 
zoning district.  Currently, a single-family home is located on the property and encroaches onto 4625 
Emerald Street.  There are two legal lots of record.  The applicant plans to demolish the existing home 
and build a new single-family home on the lot.  A new single family home requires approval of a 
Design Permit and Coastal Development Permit by the Planning Commission.   
 
BACKGROUND 
On February 13, 2014, the Architectural and Site Review Committee reviewed the application.   

 City Design Representative Derek Van Alstine complimented the design and did not request 
any modifications. 

 City Landscape Architect position was vacant. 

 City Public Works Director Steve Jesberg notified the applicant that curb and gutter is 
required.   

 City Building Inspector Brian Von Son notified the applicant that fire sprinklers are required.  

 City Planner Katie Cattan requested that the elevations include labels of all exterior materials 
and that trees be added to the landscape plan. Staff received updated elevations and an 
updated landscape plan including three trees on each lot.   

 
During the meeting, staff informed the applicant of public comment that was received regarding 
concern for the height of two windows on the second story rear elevation in the bedroom and 
bathroom.  Building Inspector, Brian Von Son, explained that in a residential application, the maximum 
sill height for the clear opening shall not be greater than 44”.  Every bedroom in a residence is 
required to have at least one emergency escape and rescue window.  The minimum net clear opening 
is required to be 5.7 square feet for a second story window.  The minimum width for these windows 
shall be no less than 20” and the minimum height shall be no less than 24”.  The “net clear opening”, 
that is the operable portion of the window, does not include fixed fenestration.  The applicant raised 

-51-

Item #: 4.C. 4605 Emerald Street Staff Report.pdf



 

the window in the bathroom to 5 feet.  The bedroom window is at the required 44” maximum to comply 
with the building code requirement for egress.  
    
DISCUSSION 
The property is located in the Jewel Box neighborhood of Capitola.  The Jewel Box neighborhood is 
dominated by single family homes with a few historic homes, secondary dwelling units, and multi-
family apartments.  The existing home is a single-family home that is not listed on the 1986 Capitola 
Architectural Survey or the 2005 City of Capitola Historic Structures List.  A portion of the existing 
home extends onto 4625 Emerald Street.  The home must be removed prior to issuance of a building 
permit to remove all existing non-conformities. 
 
Site and Structural Data 
The project conforms with all R-1 (single family) zoning district standards, as follows: 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 

Lot Size 3,200 sq. ft. 

Maximum FAR Allowed 57% 1,824 sq. ft. 

Proposed FAR 57% 1,824 sq. ft. 

Proposed Square Footage 

Home 1,597 sq. ft. 

Garage    227 sq. ft.  

Total Existing 1,824 sq. ft. 

Set Backs 

 R-1 District Proposed 

Front Yard 15’ 16’  

Rear Yard 16’ (20% lot depth) 16’ 8” 

Side Yard 4’ (10% lot depth) 4’ and 6’ 

Building Height 

 R-1 District Proposed 

Residential 25'-0" 24’ 

Parking 

 Required Proposed 

Residential up 
to 2000 sq. ft.) 

2 spaces total, 1 
covered 

1 covered 
2 uncovered 

 
Architecture and Site Considerations 
Municipal Code section 17.63.090 lists the considerations reviewed by the Planning Commission 
within a Design Permit application.  Staff has underlined the relative architecture and site 
considerations below followed by a staff analysis.  Conditions of approval have been added to 
address the additional requirements for curb and gutter and fire sprinklers as identified during the 
architecture and site review meeting which will be reviewed for compliance at time of submittal of 
building plans.     
 
17.63.090(C) Landscaping  
1. The location, height and materials of walls, fences, hedges, trees and screen plantings to insure 
harmony with adjacent development or to conceal storage areas, utility installations or other unsightly 
development, 
2. The planting of groundcover or other landscape surfacing to prevent dust and erosion, 
3. The prevention of unnecessary destruction of existing healthy trees, 
4. Usable open space shall be reviewed both with respect to area and quality of landscape 
development; 

-52-

Item #: 4.C. 4605 Emerald Street Staff Report.pdf



 

Staff Analysis: The applicant submitted a joint landscape plan for the homes at 4605 and 4625 
Emerald Street.  The plan for 4605 includes one 15-gallon Crepe Myrtle tree and one 15-gallon 
London Plane tree in the front yard, one Meyer Lemon tree in the back yard, , a mix of perennials 
around the front yard periphery, and a buffalo grass lawn.  §12.12.190(C) identifies the goal of the city 
is to reach and maintain at least fifteen percent tree coverage per lot on a on-going basis.  The 
Planning Commission has the discretion to require additional trees during permit review.   
 
17.63.090(D) Site Layout:  
1. The orientation and location of buildings, decks or balconies, and open spaces in relation to the 
physical characteristics of the site, the character of the neighborhood and the appearance and 
harmony of the buildings with adjacent development such that privacy of adjacent properties is 
maintained; 
Staff Analysis: The applicant modified the window height in the second story bathroom to provide 
greater privacy between neighbors.  The home was designed with consideration to privacy and does 
not include a second story decks on the rear façade.   
 
17.63.090(F). Considerations relating to architectural character: 
1. The suitability of the building for its purpose, 
2. The appropriate use of materials to insure compatibility with the intent of the title; 
Staff Analysis: The new single family home has a contemporary design.  Exterior materials include 
vertical board and batt and a wainscot of smooth stucco.  The board and batt will have 3” wood batts.  
The vinyl windows will be trimmed with 4” wood trim.  The home includes a low pitched, hipped 
coreten steel roof with wide eave overhangs.  Additional architectural details include wood corbels in 
the roof soffit and a single heavy squared pier column at the front entryway.  All doors will be wood or 
wood clad, including a wood garage door.  Vinyl windows are proposed. The proposed design and 
materials are compatible with the surrounding homes in the neighborhood.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
Public comment was received from an adjacent property owner regarding the windows on the second 
story rear elevation. (Attachment C)  The applicant made modifications to the elevations to alleviate 
the neighbors concerns.  The window in the bathroom was raised to 5 feet and the hallway window 
will have feathered glass.    
 
CEQA REVIEW 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the construction of a single-family residence in a 
residential zone.  This project involves construction of a new single-family residence subject to the R-
1 (single-family residence) Zoning District.  No adverse environmental impacts were discovered 
during review of the proposed project. 
  
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve project application #14-011 based on the 
following Conditions and Findings for Approval. 
 
CONDITIONS 

1. The project approval consists of construction of a 1,824 square-foot single-family home. The 
maximum Floor Area Ratio for the 3200 square foot property is 57% (1,824 square feet).  The 
total FAR of the project is 57% with a total of 1,824 square feet, compliant with the maximum 
FAR within the zone. The proposed project is approved as indicated on the final plans 
reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on March 6, 2014, except as modified 
through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be consistent 

-53-

Item #: 4.C. 4605 Emerald Street Staff Report.pdf



 

with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and site improvements 
shall be completed according to the approved plans. 
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be printed in 
full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit, plans must show compliance with curb and gutter 
requirements and sprinkler requirements. Existing overhead utility lines are required to be 
placed underground to the nearest utility pole. 
 

5. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM shall 
be printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans.  All construction shall 
be done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP STRM.   

 
6. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically requested 

and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any significant changes 
to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require Planning Commission 
approval.   
 

7. Prior to issuance of building permit, the existing structure located at 4605 Emerald Street must 
be completely removed from the site.   
 

8. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and approved by 
the Community Development Department.  Landscape plans shall reflect the Planning 
Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species and details of the 
irrigation systems.   

 
9. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #14-011 shall be 

paid in full. 
 

10. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as required to 
assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing Ordinance.   
 

11. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel Water 
District, and Central Fire Protection District.   
 

12. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion control 
plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans shall be in 
compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 13.16 Storm 
Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

13. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater management 
plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements all applicable Post 
Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard Details, including all standards 
relating to low impact development (LID). 
 

14. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading official to 
verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  
 

15. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired by 
the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed in the 
road right-of-way. 

-54-

Item #: 4.C. 4605 Emerald Street Staff Report.pdf



 

 
16. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise curfew, 

except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  Construction noise 
shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty a.m. on weekdays. 
Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the exception of Saturday work 
between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work approved by the building official. 
§9.12.010B 
 

17. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or sidewalk 
shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction of the Public 
Works Department.  All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or sidewalk shall meet 
current Accessibility Standards.   
   

18. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall 
be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director.  Upon evidence 
of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions, the 
applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director or shall file an application for a permit amendment for Planning Commission 
consideration. Failure to remedy a non-compliance in a timely manner may result in permit 
revocation. 
 

19. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.   The applicant shall have an 
approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent permit 
expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to expiration 
pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

20. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the applicant 
to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the site on which 
the approval was granted. 
 

21. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be placed out 
of public view on non-collection days.  

 
FINDINGS 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 Community Development Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 

the Planning Commission have all reviewed the new single-family home.  The project 
conforms to the development standards of the R-1 (Single-Family) Zoning Districts.  
Conditions of approval have been included to carry out the objectives of the Zoning Ordinance, 
General Plan and Local Coastal Plan. 

 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 Community Development Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 

the Planning Commission have all reviewed the new single-family home.  The project 
conforms to the development standards of the R-1 (Single-Family) Zoning Districts.  
Conditions of approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the character 
and integrity of the neighborhood. The proposed single-family residence compliments the 
existing single-family homes in the neighborhood in use, mass and scale, materials, height, 
and architecture.   

 

-55-

Item #: 4.C. 4605 Emerald Street Staff Report.pdf



 

C.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15303(a) of the California 
Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the construction of a single-family 
residence in a residential zone.  This project involves construction of a new single-family 
residence subject to the R-1 (single-family residence) Zoning District.  No adverse 
environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed project. 

 
ATTACHMENTS 

A.  Project Plan  
B.  Landscape Plan 
C.  Public Comment 
D.  Coastal Findings 
 

 
Report Prepared By:  Katie Cattan  

Senior Planner 
 
 
 

 
 

-56-

Item #: 4.C. 4605 Emerald Street Staff Report.pdf



-57-

Item #: 4.C. Plans.pdf



-58-

Item #: 4.C. Plans.pdf



-59-

Item #: 4.C. Plans.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-60-



-61-

Item #: 4.C. Landscape Plan.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-62-



From: Bob Barrett
To: Cattan, Katie
Cc: Mick Routh
Subject: 4605 and 4625 Emerald Street Project
Date: Friday, February 14, 2014 1:40:55 AM

Dear Ms. Cattan:
I am writing to comment on the proposal for construction of houses at
4605 and 4625 Emerald Street. My wife and I own and live in the
house, at 4610 Crystal St, directly behind the proposed house at 4605
Emerald. 

I have seen some drawings showing setbacks and rear-elevations for
the two houses. In general, these seem to be fine proposals. I am
concerned about the impact on privacy as these two-story buildings may
have views directly into my yard. Needless to say, privacy in this
neighborhood of small lots is always an issue. I think it is important to
address this in the architecture of the proposed buildings, before
there is a loss of privacy. Once the construction is finished any loss of
privacy becomes permanent. 

Therefore, I request that all 2nd story, rear facing windows in the two
buildings be raised so that the lower edge is 5 feet from the floor. This
will prevent views both from the proposed houses into neighboring
yards and from neighboring yards into the house as well. This will be a
good modification for the comfort of the present neighbors as well as
for those who move into the new houses.

I will add that I have such an elevated window in my bedroom (though it
is a first floor bedroom). I find it an advantage in that it does provide
light, leaves wall space available for furniture and limits views into or
out of the room.

It is my hope that the builder will find my request to be a simple and
reasonable modification. With this change, I would have no further
concerns about the proposal.

Thank you for considering my comments. I am living away from Capitola
for the spring. I do not see my post office mail regularly. Please keep
me advised on the Emerald Street project at my email address.

Thank you,

-63-

Item #: 4.C. Public Comment.pdf



From: Bob Barrett
To: Cattan, Katie
Cc: Wayne Miller; Mick Routh; PLANNING COMMISSION
Subject: Comments on 4605 and 4625 Emerald Street Project
Date: Monday, February 24, 2014 3:49:54 AM

Dear Ms. Cattan:
On February 14th I submitted comments, by email, regarding privacy
concerns that my wife and I have about the proposed houses at 4605
and 4625 Emerald Street. Since then I have had correspondence with
Wayne Miller, the project manager, and have resolved some of our
concerns. This email is intended as an update/modification of my
previous comments.

With regard to the house at 4605 Emerald which is directly behind my
house, Mr. Miller has informed me that he has modified the plan to
raise the sill of the rear facing bathroom window to 5 feet. I am
pleased with this modification as I think it will improve the privacy at
my house as well as for the occupants of the new house. I do have one
other request for that house. 

The smaller 2nd-floor hallway window at the rear will have a view
directly down into our bedroom through our sliding glass door.
Therefore, we request the use of a textured glass in the hallway
window. There are very nice glasses available that would make the view
somewhat diffused and non-detailed while still allowing light, color and
the feeling of the day to come through. These glasses can have
attractive patterns that provide interest in themselves. I have
submitted this request directly to Mr. Miller. I sent that to him just a
few minutes ago so I have yet to hear his thoughts on this idea.
However, if he is agreeable to installing textured glass in that hallway
window, all my concerns about this project will be resolved.

Lastly, with regard to the house at 4625 Emerald I withdraw the
comments of my previous email. I understand that the sill of the west-
facing window of the 2nd floor back bedroom will be at 5 feet and that
the rear facing window sills cannot be raised due to egress concerns.
Given the orientation of windows in my house, I am satisfied that the
proposal for 4625 does not result in any significant privacy loss at my
house. I have no further concerns or comments about that one.

Thank you for your consideration of our concerns.

-64-

Item #: 4.C. Public Comment.pdf



From: Bob Barrett
To: Cattan, Katie; PLANNING COMMISSION
Cc: Wayne Miller; Judy Miller; Mick Routh
Subject: Comments on the Emerald Street Project
Date: Tuesday, February 25, 2014 7:07:18 AM

Dear Ms. Cattan:
Following is summary of the resolution of my concerns about the privacy
impact of the proposed project at 4605 and 4625 Emerald Street. 

I have had amiable correspondence with Wayne Miller, Project
Manager, regarding my concerns about impacts on privacy at my house,
located immediately behind 4605 Emerald at 4610 Crystal Street. I
understand that he is agreeable to two modifications of the plans for
4605 Emerald to improve privacy at both my house and for the
residents of this new house behind mine. These modifications are:

1. The sill of the window of the 2nd floor rear bathroom will be raised
to 5 feet.
2. The 2nd floor hallway window at the rear will be fitted with a
textured glass to obscure the view.

With these two modifications, my concerns about privacy are well
addressed and I am happy to say that my wife and I look forward to
the completion of this project and the elimination of the skunk habitat
that has existed there for the past few years.
Sincerely,
Bob and Stephanie Barrett
4610 Crystal Street

-65-

Item #: 4.C. Public Comment.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-66-



  

 

      
PROJECT APPLICATION #14-011 

4605 EMERALD STREET, CAPITOLA 
NEW SINGLE FAMILY HOME 

 
COASTAL FINDINGS 
 

D. Findings Required. A coastal permit shall be granted only upon adoption of specific 
written factual findings supporting the conclusion that the proposed development 
conforms to the certified Local Coastal Program, including, but not limited to: 
 

 The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local Coastal Plan (LCP). 
The specific, factual findings, as per CMC Section 17.46.090 (D) are as follows:  

 
(D) (2) Require Project-Specific Findings. In determining any requirement for public 
access, including the type of access and character of use, the city shall evaluate and 
document in written findings the factors identified in subsections (D) (2) (a) through (e), 
to the extent applicable. The findings shall explain the basis for the conclusions and 
decisions of the city and shall be supported by substantial evidence in the record. If an 
access dedication is required as a condition of approval, the findings shall explain how 
the adverse effects which have been identified will be alleviated or mitigated by the 
dedication. As used in this section, “cumulative effect” means the effect of the 
individual project in combination with the effects of past projects, other current 
projects, and probable future projects, including development allowed under applicable 
planning and zoning. 

 
(D) (2) (a) Project Effects on Demand for Access and Recreation. Identification of 
existing and open public access and coastal recreation areas and facilities in the 
regional and local vicinity of the development. Analysis of the project’s effects upon 
existing public access and recreation opportunities. Analysis of the project’s 
cumulative effects upon the use and capacity of the identified access and recreation 
opportunities, including public tidelands and beach resources, and upon the capacity 
of major coastal roads from subdivision, intensification or cumulative build-out. 
Projection for the anticipated demand and need for increased coastal access and 
recreation opportunities for the public. Analysis of the contribution of the project’s 
cumulative effects to any such projected increase. Description of the physical 
characteristics of the site and its proximity to the sea, tideland viewing points, upland 
recreation areas, and trail linkages to tidelands or recreation areas. Analysis of the 
importance and potential of the site, because of its location or other characteristics, for 
creating, preserving or enhancing public access to tidelands or public recreation 
opportunities;  
 
 The proposed project is located at 4605 Emerald Street.  The home is not located in an 

area with coastal access. The home will not have an effect on public trails or beach 
access. 
 

(D) (2) (b) Shoreline Processes. Description of the existing shoreline conditions, 
including beach profile, accessibility and usability of the beach, history of erosion or 
accretion, character and sources of sand, wave and sand movement, presence of 
shoreline protective structures, location of the line of mean high tide during the season 
when the beach is at its narrowest (generally during the late winter) and the proximity of 
that line to existing structures, and any other factors which substantially characterize 
or affect the shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to 

-67-

Item #: 4.C. 4605 Emerald Street Coastal Findings.pdf



  

 

shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline 
processes and beach profile unrelated to the proposed development. Description and 
analysis of any reasonably likely changes, attributable to the primary and cumulative 
effects of the project, to: wave and sand movement affecting beaches in the vicinity of 
the project; the profile of the beach; the character, extent, accessibility and usability of 
the beach; and any other factors which characterize or affect beaches in the vicinity. 
Analysis of the effect of any identified changes of the project, alone or in combination 
with other anticipated changes, will have upon the ability of the public to use public 
tidelands and shoreline recreation areas; 
 

 The proposed project is located along Emerald Street.  No portion of the project is located 
along the shoreline or beach.   

 
(D) (2) (c) Historic Public Use. Evidence of use of the site by members of the general 
public for a continuous five-year period (such use may be seasonal). Evidence of the 
type and character of use made by the public (vertical, lateral, blufftop, etc., and for 
passive and/or active recreational use, etc.). Identification of any agency (or person) 
who has maintained and/or improved the area subject to historic public use and the 
nature of the maintenance performed and improvements made. Identification of the 
record owner of the area historically used by the public and any attempts by the owner 
to prohibit public use of the area, including the success or failure of those attempts. 
Description of the potential for adverse impact on public use of the area from the 
proposed development (including but not limited to, creation of physical or 
psychological impediments to public use);  
 

 There is not history of public use on the subject lot.     

(D)  (2) (d) Physical Obstructions. Description of any physical aspects of the 
development which block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the 
tidelands, public recreation areas, or other public coastal resources or to see the 
shoreline; 

 The proposed project is located on private property on Emerald Street.  The project will 
not block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the tidelands, public 
recreation areas, or views to the shoreline.   

 
 (D) (2) (e) Other Adverse Impacts on Access and Recreation. Description of the 
development’s physical proximity and relationship to the shoreline and any public 
recreation area. Analysis of the extent of which buildings, walls, signs, streets or other 
aspects of the development, individually or cumulatively, are likely to diminish the 
public’s use of tidelands or lands committed to public recreation. Description of any 
alteration of the aesthetic, visual or recreational value of public use areas, and of any 
diminution of the quality or amount of recreational use of public lands which may be 
attributable to the individual or cumulative effects of the development.    
 

 The proposed project is located on private property that will not impact access and 
recreation.  The project does not diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands 
committed to public recreation nor alter the aesthetic, visual or recreational value of 
public use areas. 
 

 (D) (3) (a – c) Required Findings for Public Access Exceptions. Any determination that 
one of the exceptions of subsection (F) (2) applies to a development shall be supported 

-68-

Item #: 4.C. 4605 Emerald Street Coastal Findings.pdf



  

 

by written findings of fact, analysis and conclusions which address all of the following: 

a. The type of access potentially applicable to the site involved (vertical, lateral, 
bluff top, etc.) and its location in relation to the fragile coastal resource to be protected, 
the agricultural use, the public safety concern, or the military facility which is the basis 
for the exception, as applicable; 

b. Unavailability of any mitigating measures to manage the type, character, 
intensity, hours, season or location of such use so that agricultural resources, fragile 
coastal resources, public safety, or military security, as applicable, are protected; 

c. Ability of the public, through another reasonable means, to reach the same area 
of public tidelands as would be made accessible by an access way on the subject land. 

 The project is not requesting a Public Access Exception, therefore these findings do 
not apply 

(D) (4) (a – f) Findings for Management Plan Conditions. Written findings in support of a 
condition requiring a management plan for regulating the time and manner or character 
of public access use must address the following factors, as applicable: 

a. Identification and protection of specific habitat values including the reasons 
supporting the conclusions that such values must be protected by limiting the hours, 
seasons, or character of public use; 

 The project is located in a residential area without sensitive habitat areas.   

 b. Topographic constraints of the development site; 

 The project is located on a flat lot.   

 c. Recreational needs of the public; 

 The project does not impact recreational needs of the public.  

 d. Rights of privacy of the landowner which could not be mitigated by setting the 
project back from the access way or otherwise conditioning the development; 

e. The requirements of the possible accepting agency, if an offer of dedication is 
the mechanism for securing public access; 

f. Feasibility of adequate setbacks, fencing, landscaping, and other methods as 
part of a management plan to regulate public use. 

 
(D) (5)  Project complies with public access requirements, including submittal of 
appropriate legal documents to ensure the right of public access whenever, and as, 
required by the certified land use plan and Section 17.46.010 (coastal access 
requirements); 
 

 No legal documents to ensure public access rights  are required for the proposed 

-69-

Item #: 4.C. 4605 Emerald Street Coastal Findings.pdf



  

 

project 
  

(D) (6) Project complies with visitor-serving and recreational use policies;  

 
SEC. 30222 

The use of private lands suitable for visitor-serving commercial recreational facilities 
designed to enhance public opportunities for coastal recreation shall have priority over 
private residential, general industrial, or general commercial development, but not over 
agriculture or coastal-dependent industry. 

 The project involves a single family home on a residential lot of record.     

SEC. 30223 

Upland areas necessary to support coastal recreational uses shall be reserved for such 
uses, where feasible. 

 The project involves a single family home on a residential lot of record.   

c)  Visitor-serving facilities that cannot be feasibly located in existing developed areas 
shall be located in existing isolated developments or at selected points of attraction for 
visitors. 

 

 The project involves a single family home on a residential lot of record.   

 (D) (7)  Project complies with applicable standards and requirements for 
provision of public and private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of 
transportation and/or traffic improvements; 
 

 The project involves the construction of a single family home.  The project complies 
with applicable standards and requirements for provision for parking, pedestrian 
access, alternate means of transportation and/or traffic improvements.   

 
(D) (8)  Review of project design, site plan, signing, lighting, landscaping, etc., by the 
city’s architectural and site review committee, and compliance with adopted design 
guidelines and standards, and review committee recommendations; 
 

 The project complies with the design guidelines and standards established by the 
Municipal Code.   

  
(D) (9) Project complies with LCP policies regarding protection of public landmarks, 
protection or provision of public views; and shall not block or detract from public views 
to and along Capitola’s shoreline; 

 

 The project will not negatively impact public landmarks and/or public views.  The project 
will not block or detract from public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline.   

 
(D) (10) Demonstrated availability and adequacy of water and sewer services; 
 

 The project is located on a legal lot of record with available water and sewer services.   

 
(D) (11) Provisions of minimum water flow rates and fire response times;  
 

 The project is located within close proximity of the Capitola fire department.  Water is 

-70-

Item #: 4.C. 4605 Emerald Street Coastal Findings.pdf



  

 

available at the location.   

 (D) (12) Project complies with water and energy conservation standards; 

 

 The project is for a single family home.  The GHG emissions for the project are projected 
at less than significant impact. All water fixtures must comply with the low-flow standards of 
the soquel creek water district. 

 
(D) (13) Provision of park dedication, school impact, and other fees as may be required;  
 

 The project will be required to pay appropriate fees prior to building permit issuance. 
 
(D) (14) Project complies with coastal housing policies, and applicable ordinances 
including condominium conversion and mobile home ordinances; 

 

 The project does not involve a condo conversion or mobile homes.   
 
(D) (15) Project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological protection 
policies;  
 

 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with established policies. 
 
(D) (16) Project complies with Monarch butterfly habitat protection policies; 

 

 The project is outside of any identified sensitive habitats, specifically areas where Monarch 
Butterflies have been encountered, identified and documented. 
 

(D) (17) Project provides drainage and erosion and control measures to protect marine, 
stream, and wetland water quality from urban runoff and erosion; 
 

 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with applicable erosion 
control measures. 

 
(D) (18) Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professional for 
projects in seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or coastal bluffs, and project 
complies with hazard protection policies including provision of appropriate setbacks 
and mitigation measures; 
 

 Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professionals for this 
project.  Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project applicant shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the most recent version of the California 
Building Standards Code.   
 

(D) (19) All other geological, flood and fire hazards are accounted for and mitigated in 
the project design; 

 

 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project complies with geological, 
flood, and fire hazards and are accounted for and will be mitigated in the project design. 

   
(D) (20) Project complies with shoreline structure policies; 
  

 The proposed project is not located along a shoreline. 

-71-

Item #: 4.C. 4605 Emerald Street Coastal Findings.pdf



  

 

  
(D) (21) The uses proposed are consistent with the permitted or conditional uses of the 
zoning district in which the project is located; 
 

 This use is an allowed use consistent with the Single Family zoning district.  

(D) (22) Conformance to requirements of all other city ordinances, zoning requirements, 
and project review procedures; 
 

 The project conforms to the requirements of all city ordinances, zoning requirements and 
project development review and development procedures. 

 
(D) (23) Project complies with the Capitola parking permit program as follows:  
 

 The project site is not located within the area of the Capitola parking permit program. 

-72-

Item #: 4.C. 4605 Emerald Street Coastal Findings.pdf



 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T 
 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  MARCH 6, 2014 
 
SUBJECT: 4625 Emerald Street   #14-012   APN: 034-032-22 

Design Permit and Coastal Development Permit application to demolish an existing 
secondary dwelling unit and construct a new single-family home, located in the R-
1(Single-family) zoning district.  
This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is not appealable to the 
California Coastal Commission. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: North Point Investments LLC 
Representative: Wayne Miller 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant submitted plans for a new 1,824 square-foot single-family home which require a Design 
Permit and a Coastal Development Permit for the property at 4625 Emerald Street.  The project is 
located in the R-1 (Single-family) zoning district.  Currently, a secondary dwelling unit is located on the 
property and the single-family home located at 4605 Emerald Street encroaches over the north 
property line.  The owner owns both legal lots of record and will remove the existing home and 
secondary dwelling unit prior to building a new single-family home on each lot.  A new single-family 
home requires approval of a Design Permit and Coastal Development Permit by the Planning 
Commission.   
 
BACKGROUND 
On February 13, 2014, the Architectural and Site Review Committee reviewed the application.   

 City Design Representative Derek Van Alstine complimented the design and did not request 
any modifications. 

 City Landscape Architect position was vacant. 

 City Public Works Director Steve Jesberg notified the applicant that curb and gutter is 
required.   

 City Building Inspector Brian Von Son notified the applicant that fire sprinklers are required.  

 City Planner Katie Cattan requested that the elevations include labels of all exterior materials 
and that trees be added to the landscape plan. Staff received updated elevations and an 
updated landscape plan including three trees on each lot.   

 
During the meeting, staff informed the applicant of public comment that was received regarding 
concern for the height of two bedroom windows on the second story rear elevation.  Building Inspector 
Brian Von Son explained that in a residential application, the maximum sill height for the clear opening 
shall not be greater than 44”.  Every bedroom in a residence is required to have at least one 
emergency escape and rescue window.  The minimum net clear opening is required to be 5.7 square 
feet for a second-story window.  The minimum width for these windows shall be no less than 20” and 

-73-

Item #: 4.D. 4625 Emerald Street Staff Report.pdf



 

the minimum height shall be no less than 24”.  The “net clear opening”, that is the operable portion of 
the window, does not include fixed fenestration.  The bedroom windows are at the required 44” 
maximum to comply with the building code requirement for egress.  
 
DISCUSSION 
The property is located in the Jewel Box neighborhood of Capitola.  The Jewel Box neighborhood is 
dominated by single-family homes with a few historic homes, secondary dwelling units, and multi-
family apartments.  A secondary dwelling unit is located on the property at 4625 Emerald Street and 
the single-family home located at 4605 Emerald Street encroaches over the north property line.  The 
existing secondary dwelling unit and the encroachment from the neighboring single-family home at 
4605 Emerald Street must be removed prior to building permit approval.   
 
Site and Structural Data 
The project conforms with all R-1 (single-family) zoning district standards, as follows: 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 

Lot Size 3,200 sq. ft. 

Maximum FAR Allowed 57% 1,824 sq. ft. 

Proposed FAR 57% 1,824 sq. ft. 

Proposed Square Footage 

Home 1,597 sq. ft. 

Garage    227 sq. ft.  

Total Existing 1,824 sq. ft. 

Set Backs 

 R-1 District Proposed 

Front Yard 15’ 24’ 6”  

Rear Yard 16’ (20% lot depth) 16’  

Side Yard 4’ (10% lot depth) 6’ 

Building Height 

 R-1 District Proposed 

Residential 25'-0" 25’ 

Parking 

 Required Proposed 

Residential up 
to 2000 sq. ft.) 

2 spaces total, 1 
covered 

1 covered 
2 uncovered 

    
Architecture and Site Considerations 
Municipal Code section 17.63.090 lists the considerations reviewed by the Planning Commission 
within a Design Permit application.  Staff has underlined the relative architecture and site 
considerations below followed by a staff analysis.  Conditions of approval have been added to 
address the additional requirements for curb and gutter and fire sprinklers as identified during the 
Architecture and Site Review meeting which will be reviewed for compliance at time of submittal of 
building plans.     
 
17.63.090(C) Landscaping  
1. The location, height and materials of walls, fences, hedges, trees and screen plantings to insure 
harmony with adjacent development or to conceal storage areas, utility installations or other unsightly 
development, 
2. The planting of groundcover or other landscape surfacing to prevent dust and erosion, 
3. The prevention of unnecessary destruction of existing healthy trees, 
4. Usable open space shall be reviewed both with respect to area and quality of landscape 
development; 

-74-

Item #: 4.D. 4625 Emerald Street Staff Report.pdf



 

Staff Analysis: The applicant submitted a joint landscape plan for the homes at 4605 and 4625 
Emerald Street.  The plan for 4625 includes one olive tree and one magnolia tree in the front yard, a 
Meyer lemon in the rear yard, a mix of perennials along the front property line, white dawn “Rosa” to 
climb the trellis, and a turf patio buffalo grass lawn.  §12.12.190(C) identifies the goal of the city is to 
reach and maintain at least fifteen percent tree coverage per lot on an on-going basis.  The Planning 
Commission has the discretion to require additional trees during permit review.  The application does 
not show any existing trees on the site.   
 
17.63.090(D) Site Layout:  
1. The orientation and location of buildings, decks or balconies, and open spaces in relation to the 
physical characteristics of the site, the character of the neighborhood and the appearance and 
harmony of the buildings with adjacent development such that privacy of adjacent properties is 
maintained; 
Staff Analysis: The home was designed with consideration to privacy and does not include a second 
story deck on the rear façade.  The two bedroom windows on the second story rear elevation are built 
to the 44” height to comply with egress requirements.   
 
17.63.090(F). Considerations relating to architectural character: 
1. The suitability of the building for its purpose, 
2. The appropriate use of materials to insure compatibility with the intent of the title; 
Staff Analysis: The new single-family home is a craftsman style design. Exterior materials include 
stucco on the first story and fiber cement shingle siding on the second story.  The home includes a 
low pitched, gabled roof design with wide eave overhangs.  Additional architectural details include 
corbels in the front and rear roof soffit and decorative false roof rafters under the side soffit.  The 
home is oriented toward the street with a double French doors accessed under a large garden trellis.  
There are three squared pier column, one by the recessed single door entry and two supporting the 
trellis.  All doors will be wood or wood clad, including a wood garage door.  Vinyl windows are 
proposed.   The proposed design and materials are compatible with the surrounding homes in the 
neighborhood.   
 
CEQA REVIEW 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the construction of a single-family residence in a 
residential zone.  This project involves construction of a new single-family residence subject to the R-
1 (single-family residence) Zoning District.  No adverse environmental impacts were discovered 
during review of the proposed project. 
  
PUBLIC COMMENT 
Public comment was received from an adjacent property owner regarding the windows on the second 
story rear elevation. (Attachment C)  The neighbor was informed that window height in the bedroom 
cannot exceed 44 inches pursuant to building code regulations.  With the updated information, the 
neighbor was satisfied with the proposal.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve project application #14-012 based on the 
following Conditions and Findings for Approval. 
 
CONDITIONS 

1. The project approval consists of construction of a 1,824 square-foot single-family home. The 
maximum Floor Area Ratio for the 3200 square foot property is 57% (1,824 square feet).  The 
total FAR of the project is 57% with a total of 1,824 square feet, compliant with the maximum 
FAR within the zone. The proposed project is approved as indicated on the final plans 
reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on March 6, 2014, except as modified 
through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 

-75-

Item #: 4.D. 4625 Emerald Street Staff Report.pdf



 

 
2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 

modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be consistent 
with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and site improvements 
shall be completed according to the approved plans. 
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be printed in 
full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit, plans must show compliance with curb and gutter 
requirements and fire sprinkler requirements.  Existing overhead utility lines are required to be 
placed underground to the nearest utility pole.   
 

5. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM shall 
be printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans.  All construction shall 
be done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP STRM.   

 
6. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically requested 

and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any significant changes 
to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require Planning Commission 
approval.   
 

7. Prior to issuance of building permit, the existing secondary dwelling unit and the encroachment 
from the neighboring single-family home at 4605 Emerald Street must be removed from the 
property.      
 

8. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and approved by 
the Community Development Department.  Landscape plans shall reflect the Planning 
Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species and details of the 
irrigation systems.   

 
9. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #14-012 shall be 

paid in full. 
 

10. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as required to 
assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing Ordinance.   
 

11. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel Water 
District, and Central Fire Protection District.   
 

12. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion control 
plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans shall be in 
compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 13.16 Storm 
Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

13. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater management 
plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements all applicable Post 
Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard Details, including all standards 
relating to low impact development (LID). 
 

14. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading official to 
verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  

-76-

Item #: 4.D. 4625 Emerald Street Staff Report.pdf



 

 
15. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired by 

the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed in the 
road right-of-way. 
 

16. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise curfew, 
except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  Construction noise 
shall be prohibited between the hours of 9 p.m. and 7:30 a.m. on weekdays. Construction 
noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the exception of Saturday work between 9 a.m. 
and 4 p.m. or emergency work approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 
 

17. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or sidewalk 
shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction of the Public 
Works Department.  All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or sidewalk shall meet 
current Accessibility Standards.   
   

18. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall 
be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director.  Upon evidence 
of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions, the 
applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director or shall file an application for a permit amendment for Planning Commission 
consideration. Failure to remedy a non-compliance in a timely manner may result in permit 
revocation. 
 

19. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.   The applicant shall have an 
approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent permit 
expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to expiration 
pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

20. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the applicant 
to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the site on which 
the approval was granted. 
 

21. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be placed out 
of public view on non-collection days.  

 
FINDINGS 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 Community Development Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 

the Planning Commission have all reviewed the new single-family home.  The project 
conforms to the development standards of the R-1 (Single-Family) Zoning Districts.  
Conditions of approval have been included to carry out the objectives of the Zoning Ordinance, 
General Plan and Local Coastal Plan. 

 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 Community Development Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 

the Planning Commission have all reviewed the new single-family home.  The project 
conforms to the development standards of the R-1 (Single-Family) Zoning Districts.  
Conditions of approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the character 
and integrity of the neighborhood. The proposed single-family residence compliments the 

-77-

Item #: 4.D. 4625 Emerald Street Staff Report.pdf



 

existing single-family homes in the neighborhood in use, mass and scale, materials, height, 
and architecture.   

 
C.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15303(a) of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the construction of a single-family 
residence in a residential zone.  This project involves construction of a new single-family 
residence subject to the R-1 (single-family residence) Zoning District.  No adverse 
environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed project. 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

A.  Project Plan  
B.  Landscape Plan 
C.  Public Input 
D.  Coastal Findings 
 

Report Prepared By:  Katie Cattan  
Senior Planner 
 
 
 

 
 

 

-78-

Item #: 4.D. 4625 Emerald Street Staff Report.pdf



-79-

Item #: 4.D. Landscape Plan.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-80-



From: Bob Barrett
To: Cattan, Katie
Cc: Mick Routh
Subject: 4605 and 4625 Emerald Street Project
Date: Friday, February 14, 2014 1:40:55 AM

Dear Ms. Cattan:
I am writing to comment on the proposal for construction of houses at
4605 and 4625 Emerald Street. My wife and I own and live in the
house, at 4610 Crystal St, directly behind the proposed house at 4605
Emerald. 

I have seen some drawings showing setbacks and rear-elevations for
the two houses. In general, these seem to be fine proposals. I am
concerned about the impact on privacy as these two-story buildings may
have views directly into my yard. Needless to say, privacy in this
neighborhood of small lots is always an issue. I think it is important to
address this in the architecture of the proposed buildings, before
there is a loss of privacy. Once the construction is finished any loss of
privacy becomes permanent. 

Therefore, I request that all 2nd story, rear facing windows in the two
buildings be raised so that the lower edge is 5 feet from the floor. This
will prevent views both from the proposed houses into neighboring
yards and from neighboring yards into the house as well. This will be a
good modification for the comfort of the present neighbors as well as
for those who move into the new houses.

I will add that I have such an elevated window in my bedroom (though it
is a first floor bedroom). I find it an advantage in that it does provide
light, leaves wall space available for furniture and limits views into or
out of the room.

It is my hope that the builder will find my request to be a simple and
reasonable modification. With this change, I would have no further
concerns about the proposal.

Thank you for considering my comments. I am living away from Capitola
for the spring. I do not see my post office mail regularly. Please keep
me advised on the Emerald Street project at my email address.

Thank you,

-81-

Item #: 4.D. Public Comment.pdf



From: Bob Barrett
To: Cattan, Katie
Cc: Wayne Miller; Mick Routh; PLANNING COMMISSION
Subject: Comments on 4605 and 4625 Emerald Street Project
Date: Monday, February 24, 2014 3:49:54 AM

Dear Ms. Cattan:
On February 14th I submitted comments, by email, regarding privacy
concerns that my wife and I have about the proposed houses at 4605
and 4625 Emerald Street. Since then I have had correspondence with
Wayne Miller, the project manager, and have resolved some of our
concerns. This email is intended as an update/modification of my
previous comments.

With regard to the house at 4605 Emerald which is directly behind my
house, Mr. Miller has informed me that he has modified the plan to
raise the sill of the rear facing bathroom window to 5 feet. I am
pleased with this modification as I think it will improve the privacy at
my house as well as for the occupants of the new house. I do have one
other request for that house. 

The smaller 2nd-floor hallway window at the rear will have a view
directly down into our bedroom through our sliding glass door.
Therefore, we request the use of a textured glass in the hallway
window. There are very nice glasses available that would make the view
somewhat diffused and non-detailed while still allowing light, color and
the feeling of the day to come through. These glasses can have
attractive patterns that provide interest in themselves. I have
submitted this request directly to Mr. Miller. I sent that to him just a
few minutes ago so I have yet to hear his thoughts on this idea.
However, if he is agreeable to installing textured glass in that hallway
window, all my concerns about this project will be resolved.

Lastly, with regard to the house at 4625 Emerald I withdraw the
comments of my previous email. I understand that the sill of the west-
facing window of the 2nd floor back bedroom will be at 5 feet and that
the rear facing window sills cannot be raised due to egress concerns.
Given the orientation of windows in my house, I am satisfied that the
proposal for 4625 does not result in any significant privacy loss at my
house. I have no further concerns or comments about that one.

Thank you for your consideration of our concerns.

-82-

Item #: 4.D. Public Comment.pdf



From: Bob Barrett
To: Cattan, Katie; PLANNING COMMISSION
Cc: Wayne Miller; Judy Miller; Mick Routh
Subject: Comments on the Emerald Street Project
Date: Tuesday, February 25, 2014 7:07:18 AM

Dear Ms. Cattan:
Following is summary of the resolution of my concerns about the privacy
impact of the proposed project at 4605 and 4625 Emerald Street. 

I have had amiable correspondence with Wayne Miller, Project
Manager, regarding my concerns about impacts on privacy at my house,
located immediately behind 4605 Emerald at 4610 Crystal Street. I
understand that he is agreeable to two modifications of the plans for
4605 Emerald to improve privacy at both my house and for the
residents of this new house behind mine. These modifications are:

1. The sill of the window of the 2nd floor rear bathroom will be raised
to 5 feet.
2. The 2nd floor hallway window at the rear will be fitted with a
textured glass to obscure the view.

With these two modifications, my concerns about privacy are well
addressed and I am happy to say that my wife and I look forward to
the completion of this project and the elimination of the skunk habitat
that has existed there for the past few years.
Sincerely,
Bob and Stephanie Barrett
4610 Crystal Street

-83-

Item #: 4.D. Public Comment.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-84-



 
S T A F F   R E P O R T 

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  March 6, 2014 
 
SUBJECT:  507 PLUM STREET/ 
  712 CAPITOLA AVENUE #14-020  APN: 036-062-14 

Amendment to an approved design permit for a detached single-car garage in 
the CN (Neighborhood Commercial) Zoning District. 

  Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
  Property Owner:  Terry Evan David, filed 2/04/2014 
  Representative:  Dennis Norton 
 
APPLICANT’S PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing to construct a 510 square-foot detached one-car garage at 507 Plum 
Street in the CN (Neighborhood Commercial) zoning district. The subject property is currently 
developed with a one-story, single-family residence. The use is consistent with the General 
Plan, Zoning Ordinance and Local Coastal Plan. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The Planning Commission has previously reviewed and approved two separate applications for 
the property at 507 Plum St. At the May 3, 2012, hearing the Planning Commission approved a 
proposal for an attached two-car garage addition to the residence. The applicant did not build 
the approved garage. A year later at the July 18, 2013, meeting the commission approved an 
application for the construction of a second dwelling unit to be located above a two-car garage 
that will be attached to the existing single-family residence. Again, the applicant did not build the 
approved garage and second-story residence. The application being presented before you 
today is for a single-car detached garage. The project is going before the Planning Commission 
again because of a new design to the garage and the orientation of the roof.      
 
DISCUSSION 
Residential/commercial mixed development is a principally permitted use within the 
Neighborhood Commercial (CN) zoning district. The residential/commercial mixed development 
contains both a single-family house and a commercial building.  The commercial office building 
is not being modified with the proposal. The project involves a revision to the previously 
approved garage addition. The proposed detached single-car garage will open to the east and 
be accessed from the existing driveway. Tongue and Groove (T&G) “Hardy” siding will be used 
for the exterior of the garage’s walls, which will match the design of the existing residential unit. 
The garage meets the minimum interior dimensions (10’x20’) for a single-car garage, as well as 
providing the minimum backup space of 24’.  All CN development standards are being met, 
including setbacks, parking, lot coverage and height. 
 
  

-85-

Item #: 4.E. 507 Plum 712 Capitola Avenue staff report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  March 6, 2014    507 Plum / 712 Capitola Avenue  2 
 

 

 

Site and Structural Data 
 

 Existing Coverage 

Lot Size 12,034 sq. ft 

Existing 20% 2,416 sq.ft. 

Proposed  24% 2,926 sq.ft. 

CN District n/a No maximum lot coverage.   

 

 Existing Square Footage Proposed Square Footage 

First Floor 1,356  1,356 

Garage n/a 510 

Total Residential 1,356 1,866 

Commercial 1,060 1,060 

SITE TOTAL 2,416 2,926 

 

Building Height 
 

 CN District Existing Residential Proposed Garage 

Residential 27'-0" 15'-0" 14'-11" 

 

Parking 
Section 17.51.130 

 Required Existing Proposed 

Residential 2 spaces 
1 uncovered, 1 
covered 
 

4 spaces, uncovered 
 

3 spaces, uncovered 
1 space, covered 

Commercial 5 spaces 5 spaces 5 spaces 

 

Setbacks 
Section 17.24.112-116 

 Required Existing Proposed 

Front Yard 1st Story 
 

15’ 
 

65’ to residence 
 

65’ to new addition 
 

Rear Yard 1st Story 
 

24’-9” 
 

15’ to residence 
 

30’-5’’ to addition 
 

Side Yard 1st Story 
 

9’-9” (l) & (r) 
 

32’-2” (l) & 
 26’-11”(r) 

9’-9” (l) & 26’-11” (r) 
 

 
 
Architectural and Site Review 
The Architectural and Site Review Committee reviewed the previous two applications for 507 
Plum Street before they went to the Planning Commission. Due to the relatively minor change 
involved with the subject application, the proposal was not reconsidered by the Committee.    
 
  

-86-

Item #: 4.E. 507 Plum 712 Capitola Avenue staff report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  March 6, 2014    507 Plum / 712 Capitola Avenue  3 
 

 

 

Utilities 
The applicant has requested an exception to the requirement to underground existing overhead 
utility lines.  Per Municipal Code §17.81.180, new residential construction or any residential 
remodels that result in an increase of 25% or greater of the existing square footage shall be 
required to place existing overhead utility line underground to the nearest utility pole.  An 
exception to this requirement can be made by the Planning Commission if it is determined that a 
hardship exists, primarily for environmental reasons and not financial hardship.  The existing 
overhead service is approximately 10' from the new meter location and is not obstructed with 
any environmental constraint.  Due to the application not meeting the exception requirements 
for undergrounding utilities, staff recommends denial of the exception request.  
 
Nonconforming 
The structure is legal nonconforming due to not meeting the current rear setback requirement.  
Per Municipal Code §17.72.070, structural alterations to nonconforming structures are limited to 
80% of the present fair market value of the structure.  The applicant has provided a construction 
cost breakdown (Attachment B) that demonstrates how the proposed project will not exceed 
80% of the present fair market value of the structure.  The Building Official has reviewed the 
calculations and determined them to be accurate.  It should be noted that all new additions to 
the structure meet the current CN district development standards. 
  
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve application #14-020, subject to the 
following conditions and findings:  
 
CONDITIONS 

1. The project approval consists of construction of a 510 square-foot detached garage. The 
proposed project is approved as indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved by 
the Planning Commission on March 6, 2014, except as modified through conditions 
imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and 
site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans. 
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM 
shall be printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans.  All 
construction shall be done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP 
STRM.   

 
5. At time of submittal for building permit, plans must show that existing overhead utility 

lines will be placed underground to the nearest utility pole. 
 
6. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 

requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.   
 

-87-

Item #: 4.E. 507 Plum 712 Capitola Avenue staff report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  March 6, 2014    507 Plum / 712 Capitola Avenue  4 
 

 

 

7. The existing front and side yard landscaping shall be retained. If the landscaping is 
removed, the applicant shall submit a landscape plan to the Community Development 
Department for approval. The landscape plan will include the specific number of plants 
of each type and their size, as well as the irrigation system to be utilized. The new yard 
landscaping will be required to be installed prior to final building occupancy.  

 
8. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #14-020 

shall be paid in full. 
 

9. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel 
Creek Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.   
 

10. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 
control plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans 
shall be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code 
Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

11. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater 
management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements 
all applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard 
Details, including all standards relating to low impact development (LID). 
 

12. Prior to issuance of building permits, the garage must comply with the firewall standards 
of the IBC.  

 
13. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading 

official to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  
 

14. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 
by the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed 
in the road right-of-way. 
 

15. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of 9 p.m. and 7:30 a.m. on 
weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the exception of 
Saturday work between 9 a.m. and 4 p.m. or emergency work approved by the building 
official. §9.12.010B 
 

16. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or 
sidewalk shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction 
of the Public Works Department.  All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or 
sidewalk shall meet current Accessibility Standards. 

    
17. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 

approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director.  Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable 
municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the 
satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an application for a 
permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-
compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 

-88-

Item #: 4.E. 507 Plum 712 Capitola Avenue staff report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  March 6, 2014    507 Plum / 712 Capitola Avenue  5 
 

 

 

 
18. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.   The applicant shall have 

an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent 
permit expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to 
expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

19. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted. 
 

20. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 
placed out of public view on non-collection days.  

 
  

-89-

Item #: 4.E. 507 Plum 712 Capitola Avenue staff report.pdf



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT:  March 6, 2014    507 Plum / 712 Capitola Avenue  6 
 

 

 

FINDINGS 
 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance and General Plan. 
 

Community Development Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, 
and the Planning Commission have reviewed the project.  The project conforms to the 
development standards of the CN (Neighborhood Commercial) Zoning District, and carry out 
the objectives of the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan and Local Coastal Plan. 

 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.   
 

Community Development Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, 
and the Planning Commission have reviewed the project.  The project conforms to the 
development standards of the CN (Neighborhood Commercial) Zoning District, and will not 
have a negative impact on the character and integrity of the neighborhood.  The proposed 
garage compliments the existing neighborhood commercial district in use, mass and scale, 
materials, height, and architecture.   

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301(e)(2) of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 

 
Section 15301(e)(2) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts additions to structures that are less 
than 10,000 square feet if the project is in an area where all public facilities are available to 
allow for the development and the project is not located in an environmentally sensitive 
area.  This project involves an amendment to a previously approved design permit to allow 
construction of a detached one-car garage instead of an attached two-car garage that is 
considered infill development.  No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during 
review of the proposed project 

 
Report Prepared By: Ryan Safty      
   Assistant Planner 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

A.  Project Plans 
B.  Construction Cost Breakdown 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P:\Planning Commission\2014 Meeting Packets\03-06-2014\word\507 Plum 712 Capitola Avenue.docx 

-90-

Item #: 4.E. 507 Plum 712 Capitola Avenue staff report.pdf



-91-

Item #: 4.E. Attachment A.pdf



-92-

Item #: 4.E. Attachment A.pdf



-93-

Item #: 4.E. Attachment A.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-94-



2-22-2014 

Capitola  Community Development Department 

 

 

Re: 507 Plum Street, Capitola 

       Terry David Residence 

 

Existing  Single  Story Residence                        1356 Square Foot 

Existing Offices                                                      1,060 Square foot 

Total existing structures                                      2,416  Square Foot 

$150.00 a square foot X  2,416 square foot  =                                         $ 362,400.00 

    

Proposed   garage addition                                510 square foot 

$ 150.00 a square foot X 510 square foot =                                                      $ 76,500 

 

Total % of cost  ( proposed to existing  )     =     21% 

 

 

-95-

Item #: 4.E. Attachment B.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-96-



 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T 
 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  MARCH 6, 2014 
 
SUBJECT: 2001 40th Avenue      #14-029      APN: 034-512-02 

Conditional Use Permit for a Pure Barre Capitola Fitness Studio in the CC (Community 
Commercial) Zoning District. 
This project is not located within the Coastal Zone. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Lockwood Epping Properties 
Representative: Ashley Weaver, filed 02/14/2014 

  
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant submitted a Conditional Use Permit to operate a fitness studio within an existing 
commercial space located at 2001 40th Avenue, in the CC (Community Commercial) zoning district.  
The use will replace the Jenny Craig that previously occupied the space.  The proposed use is 
consistent with the General Plan and Zoning Ordinance with the issuance of a Conditional Use 
Permit. 
 
DISCUSSION 
The applicant is proposing to lease 1,872 square feet of commercial space to operate Pure Barre 
Capitola. The property is located on the corner of 40th Avenue and Clares Street behind the Burger 
King.  The area is dominated by commercial establishments with residential development to the north 
and east.  The applicant provided the following information on the existing uses within the multi-use 
building: 

 SalonCentric (4,719 sf).  Hours of operation: Mon/Wed 8 am – 7 on; Tues/Thurs/Fri 8 am – 6 
pm; Sat, 8 am – 4 pm. (Wholesaler/warehouse; not open to the public) 

 Kepare Salon (1,491 sf).  Hours of operation: Mon to Thurs, 9 am – 5 pm; Fri/Sat, 9 am – 3 pm 
and by appointment 

 Michale Raffo, DDS (1,576 sf).  Hours of operation: Mon to Thurs, 8 am – 5 pm; Fri, 8am – 12 
pm 

 Manpower (2,369 sf). Hours of operation: Mon to Fri, 8 am – 5 pm 
 
Conditional Use Permit 
A fitness studio is considered a specialized school within the Capitola Municipal Code.  A specialized 
school requires a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) within the CC (Community Commercial) zoning 
district.  In considering an application for a CUP, the Planning Commission must give due regard to 
the nature and condition of all adjacent uses and structures. The municipal code lists additional 
requirements and review criteria for some uses within the CUP consideration (§17.60.030).  There are 
no additional requirements for specialized schools within the ordinance.  In issuing the CUP for the 
specialized school, the Planning Commission may impose requirements and conditions with respect 

-97-

Item #: 4.F. 2001 40th Avenue CUP Staff Report.pdf



 

to location, design, siting, maintenance and operation of the use  as may be necessary for the 
protection of the adjacent properties and in the public interest.   
 
The fitness studio is proposing to offer approximately 25 classes per week in the mornings and early 
evenings.  They anticipate an average of 13 students per class.  Classes are proposed daily between 
the hours of 6 am – 11 am in the mornings and 4:30 pm to 8 pm in the evenings.  In addition to fitness 
classes, they plan to have a retail boutique that provides fitness apparel, accessories, and Pure Barre 
merchandise.   
 
Noise 
Interior layout and future improvents are proposed within the existing tenant space to mitigate 
amplified sound during classes.  The reception area, locker room, office, and bathroom are located 
along the west internal wall adjacent to the salon.  The amplified sound will be within the studio which 
is located adjacent to multiuse building’s common area, bathrooms, and storage.  The studio will be 
sound proofed during construction.  All demising walls will be constructed with 6 inch metal studs 
extending tight to the overhead structure.  Both sides of the demising walls shall have QuiteRock 545 
gypsum wall boards (or equivalent) extending to the ceiling.  All demising walls will have 2 
Thermafiber Sound Zero insulation (or equivalent) extending to underside of the structure.   
 
Parking 
§15.51.130(G) within the parking section of the zoning ordinance requires that a school provide one 
parking space for each employee, including teachers and administrators, plus additional spaces as 
determined by the Planning Commission to be adequate for student and visitor parking. Each regular 
space must be a minimum of nine feet by eighteen feet. Forty percent of the spaces may be compact 
spaces of eight feet by sixteen feet. 
 
Pure Barre will have 1 to 2 employees at any given time and an average of 13 participants per class.  
The property has 44 non-exclusive parking spaces on site, 3 of which are ADA compliant.  The 
applicant provided a parking demand analysis based upon Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) 
land uses. The study identified that peak demand for the combined uses within the center is 40 
spaces.  The study also identified that 37 parking spaces total are required for the center per the City 
of Capitola Municipal Code.  The study concluded that the parking demand generated by the 
proposed use can be met within the existing onsite parking.   
 
CEQA 
This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California Environmental Quality Act 
and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations. The proposed 
project involves a fitness studio use occupying an existing commercial space formerly occupied by an 
office business. No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during project review by either 
the Planning Department Staff or the Planning Commission. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve application #14-029, subject to the following 
conditions and based upon the following findings: 
 
CONDITIONS 
1.  The project approval consists of a Conditional Use Permit to operate a fitness studio (specialized 

school) within an existing commercial space located at 2001 40th Avenue.  No modifications to the 
exterior of the structure are proposed within the application.  Any significant modifications to the 
size or exterior appearance of the existing design require approval of a Design Permit by the 
Planning Commission.   
 

2.  Parking for the proposed fitness studio must be accommodated within the onsite parking.   

-98-

Item #: 4.F. 2001 40th Avenue CUP Staff Report.pdf



 

 
3.  The reception area, locker room, office, and bathroom are located against the west internal wall 

adjacent to the existing salon.  The amplified sound will be within the studio which is adjacent to 
multiuse buildings common area, bathrooms, and storage.  This layout must be maintained within 
future construction documents to mitigate impacts of noise on adjacent businesses.  

 
4.  Sound proofing must be installed as proposed within the submittal documents.  Specifically, all 

demising walls will be constructed with 6 inch metal studs extending tight to the overhead 
structure.  Both sides of the demising walls shall have QuiteRock 545 gypsum wall boards (or 
equivalent) extending to the overhead structure.  All demising walls will have 2 Thermafiber Sound 
Zero insulation (or equivalent) extending to underside of the structure.   

 
5.  Prior to installation of a sign, the applicant shall obtain approval for a Sign Permit through the 

Community Development Department.    
 

6.  The applicant shall obtain a business license from the City of Capitola prior to operating the 
business. 

 
7.  Prior to granting of final occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall be 

demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director. 
 

8.  The application shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission upon evidence of non-compliance 
with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions. 

 
9.  The conditional use permit will expire in the case where the conditional use permit has not been 

used within two years after the date of granting thereof.  Any interruption or cessation beyond the 
control of the property owner shall not result in the termination of such right or privilege. A permit 
shall be deemed to have been “used” when actual substantial, continuous activity has taken place 
upon the land pursuant to the permit. 

 
FINDINGS 
 
A. The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the Zoning 

Ordinance and General Plan. 
Community Development Department Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the 
application and determined that the proposed business may be granted a conditional use permit 
within the CC Zoning District. The use meets the intent and purpose of the Community 
Commercial Zoning District.  Conditions of approval have been included to ensure that the use is 
consistent with the Zoning Ordinance and General Plan. 

 
B. The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.   

Community Development Department Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the 
proposed use and determined that the use complies with the applicable provisions of the Zoning 
Ordinance and therefore maintain the character and integrity of this area of the City. Conditions of 
approval have been included to carry out these objectives. 

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California Environmental 

Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California Code of 
Regulations. 
The proposed project involves a fitness studio use occupying an existing commercial space 
formerly occupied by an office business. No adverse environmental impacts were discovered 
during project review by either the Planning Department Staff or the Planning Commission. 

 

-99-

Item #: 4.F. 2001 40th Avenue CUP Staff Report.pdf



 

ATTACHMENTS 
A.  Project Submittal 
B.  Parking Study  

 
Report Prepared By:  Katie Cattan  

Senior Planner 
 
 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2014 Meeting Packets\03-06-14 Planning Commission\14-029 2001 41
st
 Avenue 

  

-100-

Item #: 4.F. 2001 40th Avenue CUP Staff Report.pdf



-101-

Item #: 4.F. Submittal.pdf



-102-

Item #: 4.F. Submittal.pdf



-103-

Item #: 4.F. Submittal.pdf



-104-

Item #: 4.F. Submittal.pdf



-105-

Item #: 4.F. Submittal.pdf



-106-

Item #: 4.F. Submittal.pdf



-107-

Item #: 4.F. Submittal.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-108-



PARKING ANALYSIS 
FEBRUARY 25, 2014 

 
 
Introduction 
 
The purpose of this report is to document the findings of a parking analysis for 2001 40th Avenue, 
Capitola, California 95010. The objective of this analysis is to provide a realistic estimate of peak 
parking demand within the mixed-use complex and to determine if there is sufficient parking for 
existing uses and the proposed project. The proposed project, Pure Barre, is a 1,872 square-foot 
fitness studio that requires use of the on-site parking facilities. 
 
 
Methodology 
 
Parking demand rates published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) in Parking 
Generation, 4th Edition are industry standards and allow the calculation of parking demand using 
empirical information derived from a variety of parking use studies. Parking Generation is 
generally regarded as the best source for measured parking demands. The ITE provides average 
and 85th percentile usage rates for individual land uses. To be conservative for the purposes of 
this analysis and to give a higher confidence in the overall functioning of parking, the 85th 
percentile rank is used rather than the average.  
 
This report also examines important factors related to the location and context of the proposed 
project including City of Capitola Municipal Code parking requirements, land use mix, access to 
and availability of alternate modes of transportation and overall parking supply.  
 
 
ITE Parking Demand Analysis 
 
Parking Generation, 4th Edition includes parking demand rates for 106 land uses. Following are 
descriptions of land uses and corresponding ITE codes assigned to the proposed project and 
existing businesses at 2001 40th Avenue.  
 
Pure Barre (proposed project), Health/Fitness Club 492 – Health clubs are privately-owned 
facilities that may include swimming pools, whirlpools, saunas, saunas, tennis, racquetball and 
handball courts, exercise classes and weightlifting equipment.  
Rationale: Pure Barre is a fitness studio offering exercise classes.  
 
SalonCentric Professional Beauty Partners, Warehousing 150 – Warehouses are facilities that are 
primarily devoted to storage of materials. They may also include office and maintenance areas.  
Rationale: SalonCentric is a wholesale distributor of salon professional products and is open to 
licensed professionals only.  
 
Michael Raffo, DDS, Medical-Dental Office Building 720 – A medical office is a facility that 
provides diagnoses and outpatient care on a routine basis but is unable to provide prolonged in-
house medical/surgical care. A medical office is generally operated by one or more private 
physicians or dentists.  
Rationale: Michael Raffo, DDS is a dental office.  
 
 

-109-

Item #: 4.F. Parking Analysis 2001 40th Avenue Capitola.pdf



Manpower and Kepare Salon, Office Building, Suburban 701 – A general office building houses 
multiple tenants. It is a location where affairs of businesses, commercial or industrial 
organizations, or professional persons or firms are conducted. An office building or buildings 
may contain a mixture of tenants including professional services; insurance companies; 
investment brokers; and tenant services, such as a bank or savings and loan institution, a 
restaurant or cafeteria, and service retail facilities. 
Rationale: Manpower is a professional services office offering workforce solutions. Kepare Salon 
is a personal services business offering hair care and skin care. (There is no parking data for ITE 
Land Use Code Hair Salon 918; the ITE parking demand rate for Office Building, Suburban 701 
is used as the best-fit category.)  
 
The following chart shows ITE parking generation rates for each business based on thousands of 
square feet (KSF), using 85th percentile usage rates. Using the 85th percentile rather than averages 
gives a more conservative estimate of parking demand and should increase confidence in overall 
parking functioning. The result is peak weekday demand of 40 parking spaces. The complex has 
44 on-site, shared parking spaces, inclusive of three ADA stalls. Thus, based on ITE parking 
demand rates, peak demand does not create a parking shortage. 
 

 
 
Weekend Hours – ITE rates show parking demand only for the proposed project on Saturday and 
no parking demand for Sunday. Based on actual operating hours of existing uses and the 
proposed project, parking will be required on weekends. Parking demands are minimal due to 
Saturday/Sunday closure of Manpower and Michael Raffo, DDS and Sunday closure of 
SalonCentric and Kepare Salon.   
 
 
City of Capitola Municipal Code Parking Requirements  
 
As a basis of comparison, the following chart shows the number of parking spaces required by the 
City of Capitola Municipal Code 17.51.130 by use. The parking requirement for the proposed 
project is reasonably planned as two employees and thirteen attendees parking on site. (A typical 
Pure Barre class size is 11-13 attendees.) Further, the 44 parking spaces at the multi-use complex 
are considered shared parking spaces per the general provision 17.51.015.B, “Parking spaces 
within an integrated complex shall not be designated for exclusive use of any individual 
commercial tenant.” The proposed project and existing uses require 37 parking spaces. On-site 
parking facilities meet City Code parking requirements with seven parking spaces to spare 
(inclusive of the three ADA stalls).  

 
 

Weekday Saturday Sunday Weekday Saturday Sunday

Pure Barre (proposed project) Health/Fitness Club  492 8.46 3.38 NA 1.872 16 6.3 NA
SalonCentric Warehousing  150 0.81 NA NA 4.719 4 NA NA
Michael Raffo, DDS Medical-Dental Office Building  720 4.27 NA NA 1.576 7 NA NA
Kepare Salon Hair Salon 918 3.45 NA NA 1.491 5 NA NA
Manpower Office Building, Suburban  701 3.45 NA NA 2.369 8 NA NA
Total Parking Spaces Required 40 6.3 0.0

Business Name Description/ITE Code Unit = 
KSF

Total Parking Required in 
Peak Period

85th Percentile 85th Percentile

ITE Vehicle Parking 
Generation Rates

-110-

Item #: 4.F. Parking Analysis 2001 40th Avenue Capitola.pdf



 
 
 
Additional Factors  
 
ITE parking demand rates and City Code do not consider variables when establishing parking 
requirements. For this reason, it is important to take into account contextual factors related to the 
specific location and proposed use. Shared parking, on-street parking, bicycle routes and public 
transportation provide further support for patrons of 2001 40th Avenue. 
 
Shared Parking and On-Street Parking – Shared parking is often inherent in mixed-use 
developments. Shared parking may be applied when land uses have different parking demand 
patterns and are able to use the same parking spaces/areas throughout the day. A key factor to 
consider is that the proposed project has primarily off-peak hours of operation – early morning, 
evening and weekend. This complements the operating hours and use patterns of existing 
businesses, meaning that shared parking can be utilized with limited interruption and low impact 
to existing businesses. Further, on-site parking facilities can be supplemented by 4-hour, free 
parking on 40th Avenue (adjacent to the property).   
 
Alternate Modes of Transportation – As part of Capitola’s Bicycle Transit Plan, 41st Avenue and 
Capitola Road have designated Class II Bike Lanes, and Clares Avenue is a Class III Bicycle 
Route (sharrow) indicated by road stenciling and signage. Bus transit is provided by Santa Cruz 
Metropolitan Transit (Metro) and accessible at the Capitola Mall Transit Center. Metro serves all 
of Santa Cruz County and the cities of Scotts Valley, Santa Cruz, Capitola and Watsonville. The 

Pure Barre (proposed project)

17.51.130.G -- Schools, one space for each employee, 
including teachers and administrators, plus additional 
spaces as determined by the planning commission to be 
adequate for student and visitor parking. Each regular 
space must be a minimum of nine feet by eighteen feet. 
Forty percent of the spaces may be compact spaces of 
eight feet by sixteen feet.

1,872 15

SalonCentric

17.51.130.K -- Wholesale establishments or 
warehouses, including mini-storage, one space per 
each five thousand square feet. Each space must be a 
minimum of nine feet by eighteen feet. No compact 
spaces are allowed.

4,719 1

Michael Raffo, DDS

17.51.130.I -- Medical office and clinics, one space for 
each three hundred square feet of gross floor area or 
five spaces per doctor, whichever is greater, all nine feet 
by eighteen feet.

1,576 5

Kepare Salon

17.51.130.J -- Retail use and restaurants/take-out food 
establishments with six or fewer seats, one space for 
every two hundred forty square feet of gross floor area, 
each regular space must be a minimum of nine feet by 
eighteen feet. Thirty percent of the spaces may be 
compact spaces of eight feet by sixteen feet.

1,491 6

Manpower

17.51.130.O -- Offices, corporate, administrative, real 
estate, one space per two hundred forty square feet of 
gross building space. Each regular space must be a 
minimum of nine feet by eighteen feet. Thirty percent of 
the spaces may be compact spaces of eight feet by 
sixteen feet.

2,369 10

Total Parking Spaces Required 37

Business Name City of Capitola 
Parking Requirement

Square 
Feet

Parking 
Required

-111-

Item #: 4.F. Parking Analysis 2001 40th Avenue Capitola.pdf



Capitola Mall Transit Center is the primary mid-county hub, with eight lines servicing the transit 
center (UC, 12, 54, 55, 56, 66, 68, 69).  
 
 
Findings  
 
This report analyzes the parking demand that would be generated by the proposed project and 
existing uses, and concludes that approval of the proposed project would not be detrimental to the 
surrounding businesses, nor would such an approval result in a shortage of available parking.  
 
The key findings of this parking analysis are summarized in the following statements:  
 

• The 44 parking spaces at 2001 40th Avenue are sufficient to meet parking demands of 
existing uses and the proposed project, Pure Barre.  

• Parking demand rates in ITE’s Parking Generation are based on empirical data and 
generally regarded as the best source for measured parking demands. To be conservative 
for the purposes of this analysis and to give a higher confidence in the overall functioning 
of parking, the 85th percentile rank is used rather than the average. Based on ITE parking 
demand rates, the proposed project and existing uses will have a peak parking demand of 
40 parking spaces.  

• On-site parking facilities are within City of Capitola Municipal Code parking 
requirements of 37 spaces for the proposed project and existing uses. The proposed 
project parking demand is reasonably planned at 15 spaces – 2 employees and 13 
attendees requiring parking.   

• The off-peak operating hours of the proposed project complements existing uses. Shared 
parking can be utilized with limited interruption and low impact to existing businesses.  

• Public transportation, bicycle routes and on-street parking further support patrons at 2001 
40th Avenue.  

-112-

Item #: 4.F. Parking Analysis 2001 40th Avenue Capitola.pdf



 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T 
 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  MARCH 6, 2014 
 
SUBJECT: 110 Lawn Way  #14-006  APN: 035-243-05 

Design Permit, Variance, and Coastal Development Permit application for an addition 
to a single family home in the CV (Central Village) Zoning District.  The applicant is 
requesting a variance for onsite parking.   
This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is appealable to the 
California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the 
City.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Norma Kettman 
Representative: Gary Lindeke, filed 1/24/2014 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing an addition to a single family home at 110 Lawn Way in the CV (Central 
Village) zoning district.  The existing home is a one-story, cement block structure.  The habitable area 
of the home will be increased through the introduction of a half story.  
 
BACKGROUND 
In 1911, a tract of summer cottages designed by Architect Edward L. Van Cleeck were built along 
East/West Lawn Way and North Lawn Way.  The City of Capitola established the Lawn Way/Six 
Sisters Historic District in 1987.  The Capitola Architectural/Historical Inventory describes the Lawn 
Way as “a series of one-story cottages once associated with Camp Capitola (that) line ‘Lawn Way’ 
which led to and from the resort’s grand hotel, Hotel Capitola.”  The majority (17 of 22) of the units 
included in the Historic District are listed as “contributing structures.” (Attachment C)  The home at 
110 (East) Lawn Way is within the historic district boundary and is a non-contributing structure.  In 
1964, the original home was condemned by the City and then demolished by the owner.  The existing 
home was constructed the same year.   
 
On November 7, 2013, the Planning Commission provided guidance on a conceptual review of an 
addition to the existing structure at 110 Lawn Way.  Staff requested guidance on the applicability of 
guideline #2 which states “No structure shall increase the habitable area of the existing unit.  The 
height of the structure shall not be increased to add additional stories to the structure.”   Two concepts 
were submitted by the applicant including a story and a half design and a full second story addition.  
Both concepts increase the habitable area and height of the existing structure.  There was not 
unanimous consensus from the Commission, but the majority of the Commissioners articulated that 
due to the unique circumstances of the existing property they would consider additional habitable area 
within a design that is compatible,  to scale with the historic district, and maintains the character of the 
district as a whole.  Concerns were expressed regarding the impacts of incremental changes 

-113-

Item #: 5. 110 Lawn Way Staff Report.pdf



 

throughout the district and it was stressed  that findings would need to be made which are unique to 
the property.       
 
Architecture and Site Review Committee  
On February 13, 2014, the Architectural and Site Review Committee reviewed the design permit 
application.  

 Historian Carolyn Swift explained that one-story buildings are a character-defining design 
element of the Lawn Way Historic District.  Ms. Swift expressed continued concern for the 
negative impact that the proposed massing may have on the district as a whole.   

 Architect Derek Van Alstine found the one and a half story option to be appropriate in mass 
and scale within the surrounding district.  He stated concern for the proposed vinyl windows 
and steel cable rail on the upper deck.  Mr. Van Alstine suggested that more traditional 
materials and design features be applied such as true divided light wood or wood clad 
windows, widened trim around the windows, and a wood railing on the upper level deck.  The 
applicant modified the design to include clad wood windows with 6” window trim and a wooden 
railing. 

 Landscape Architect.  Position was vacant at the time.  

 City Public Works Director Steve Jesberg requested that future drainage be discharged to the 
lawns rather than the alley way.   

 City Building representative Brian Van Son had no issues with the proposed options. 
 

DISCUSSION 
The existing home is located at 110 Lawn Way in the CV (Central Village) zoning district and within 
the Six Sisters/Lawn Way National Historic District.  Lawn Way is unique with residential homes 
fronting a shared pedestrian lawn and walkways.  The historic cottages are simple in design with 
dominant exterior materials of plain wood shingles extending from the roof eaves to a lap siding 
wainscot.  Windows styles are a mix of single-hung and casement windows. The roof designs are also 
simple with moderately pitched front gabled and side gabled homes.  Along East Lawn Way there are 
several original duplexes with parallel front gabled roofs and wood board and batt exterior finishes.   
 
There are two structures with second stories within the Lawn Way portion of the Historic District.  The 
structure at 104 East Lawn Way is the only historically contributory two-story building within the Lawn 
Way portion of the district. The structure at 132 North Lawn Way is the only non-contributory two-story 
structure in the Lawn Way portion of the district.   
 
The existing structure at 110 Lawn Way is a single-story cement block home with a flat roof.  The flat 
roof is utilized as a roof deck with a wrought iron railing along the edge.  There is a single front door 
with a large aluminum casement window on each side.  There are no windows or doors on the side 
elevation fronting North Lawn Way.   
 
The current design application includes a story and a half addition with a side gabled roof.  A south-
facing deck with wood railing and shed roof is proposed within the half story.  Exterior materials 
include fiber-cement shingles within the roof eave and fiber-cement board lap siding on the side 
elevations.  The existing aluminum windows will be replaced with clad wood windows with a 6” trim.       
 
  

-114-

Item #: 5. 110 Lawn Way Staff Report.pdf



 

Development Standards 
The development standards for the Central Village zoning district are set forth in the Central Village 
Design Guidelines.  Standards for height and parking are included in the district as follows: 
 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 

Lot Size 938.4 sq. ft. 

Existing and Proposed Square Footage 

Existing House   889 sq. ft. 

Proposed Half Story Addition   470 sq. ft 

Total Proposed 1,359 sq. ft. 

Building Height 

 CV District Proposed 

Residential 27'-0" 22’ 8” 

Lot Coverage 

There is no specific maximum lot coverage in the C-V zone, 
except that there shall be sufficient area to satisfy off-street 
parking requirements  

Yards 

There are no yard requirements in the C-V zone, except that 
ten percent of lot area shall be developed as landscaped 
open area, at least partially fronting on, and open to, the 
street.  No portion of this landscaped area shall be used for 
off-street parking. 

Parking 

When a substantial remodel or reconstruction of a building is 
done for reasons other than fire or natural disaster, parking 
requirements for the entire structure shall be provided. 

 Required Proposed 

Residential up 
to 1,500 sq. ft.) 

2 uncovered spaces  
 

None.  Requesting 
Variance 

 
Central Village Design Guidelines 
The development standards for the Central Village zoning district are set forth in the Central Village 
Design Guidelines.  The City of Capitola adopted the Central Village guidelines to promote excellence 
of development and maintain the unique character of Capitola Village.  The introduction to the 
guidelines state “the visual and aesthetic appeal of the Village lies in the combination of its distinctive 
natural setting and the scale, variety, and interest of its buildings and landmarks.”  The guidelines note 
that incremental changes influence the overall character of the district.  The guidelines articulate 
preservation policy that infill development should complement the existing historic resources to 
maintain the character of the district as a whole.   The guidelines also acknowledge that “certain 
design factors may have to be balanced with others in order to reach an optimal design.”  The 
guidelines allow the Planning Commission to exercise discretion within the review of an application, 
unlike development standards which must comply with the zoning ordinance.    
 
The Central Village District Design Guidelines include general guidelines for all projects within the 
Village and four guidelines specific to the Lawn Way Residential Overlay District. The guidelines do 
not differentiate between treatment of “contributory” and “non-contributory” structures; therefore, all 
structures are subject to the same guidelines.  The guidelines for the Lawn Way Residential Overlay 
District are as follows:  
  

-115-

Item #: 5. 110 Lawn Way Staff Report.pdf



 

 
1. The residential use and character of the area shall be maintained.  There shall be no 

conversion from residential to commercial for any structure which faces onto Lawn Way. 
2. No structure shall increase the habitable area of the existing unit.  The height of the structure 

shall not be increased to add additional stories to the structure.  
3. The public sidewalk right-of-way shall be maintained in is present configuration. 
4. Garbage cans, utilities and other outside storage areas to the rear of the Lawn Way structures 

shall be enclosed and screened from public view.  
 
Guideline #2 explicitly states that a structure shall not increase in habitable area or height.  On 
November 7, 2013, the Planning Commission provided guidance on a conceptual review of an 
addition to the existing structure at 110 Lawn Way.  There was not unanimous consensus from the 
Commission, but the majority of the Commissioners articulated that due to the unique circumstances 
of the existing property they would consider additional habitable area within a design that is 
compatible and to scale with the surrounding historic homes and maintains the character of the district 
as a whole.  The Planning Commission also voiced concern for the impacts of incremental changes 
throughout the district and stressed the need for findings that are unique to the property.   
 
Staff has identified the following unique findings related to the existing structure within the historic 
district.   

1. The existing home was constructed in 1964 of concrete block, aluminum windows, and a flat 
roof with a concrete block parapet and iron railing.  The design and materials of the home are 
not representative of or in harmony with the district.  The proposed design would enhance the 
home’s architectural appearance and be more compatible with other residences in the district. 

2. The proposed addition will not impact the historic designation of the home.  The existing home 
was built in 1964 outside the period of historic significance.  The existing home is not historic 
and does not contribute to the Six Sisters/Lawn Way historic district.      

3. The property is the only home in the historic district that was built outside of the period of 
historic significance that has one story.  Other homes that were built outside of the period of 
historic significance include 132 North Lawn Way and 114/116 Esplanade.  These structures 
are both two story structures.   

4. The original home was demolished in 1964.  There are no original materials, features, finishes, 
or construction techniques present in the current design that could be preserved or 
rehabilitated to relate to the period of historic significance.     

5. The home at 111 East Lawn Way is non-contributory due to substantial modifications to the 
original structure.  Future renovations to 111 Lawn Way consistent with the Secretary of the 
Interior Standards for rehabilitation could reverse substantial modifications.  111 Lawn Way 
retains some original materials and form.      

 
During conceptual review of the application, staff raised concerns regarding the scale of the structure 
relative to surrounding homes.  The home at 110 Lawn Way has 12.5’ wall heights.  The surrounding 
historic homes have approximate wall heights of 9.5’ measured from existing grade.  The original 
conceptual design placed the pitched roof on top of the existing walls.  The applicant responded to 
staff’s concerns by lowering the wall height from existing grade to top of wall to +/- 10’ 3” and 
increasing the roof overhang.   
 
Historian Carolyn Swift expressed concern for the impacts of the proposed massing of the addition on 
the district as a whole.  The applicant included a streetscape within the application.  The streetscape 
includes the homes within the district as viewed from the south and the east.   
 
The architect, John Craycroft, designed the new roof to have a 10:12 pitch which is slightly steeper 
than the 8:12 pitch of the historic properties in the district.  The home at 110 Lawn Way is oriented to 
the south and the side faces North Lawn Way.  The side elevation has a greater width than the homes 

-116-

Item #: 5. 110 Lawn Way Staff Report.pdf



 

that front North Lawn Way.  The slightly steeper roof pitch combined with the wider width pushed the 
ridge height to 22’ 8”.  After hearing Carolyn Swift’s concerns regarding the massing of the roof, the 
applicant modified to roof pitch to 8:12 consistent with those in the Lawn Way district.   This change 
brought the ridge height down to 20’ 4.5”.      
 
Variance 
The proposed remodel and addition is substantial, therefore parking requirements for the entire 
structure are required.  The applicant is requesting a variance to onsite parking.  Pursuant to 
§17.66.090, the Planning Commission, on the basis of the evidence submitted at the hearing, may 
grant a variance permit when it finds: 
 
A. That because of special circumstances applicable to subject property, including size, shape, 

topography, location or surroundings, the strict application of this title is found to deprive subject 
property of privileges enjoyed by other properties in the vicinity and under identical zone 
classification; 
  

B.  That the grant of a variance permit would not constitute a grant of special privilege inconsistent 
with the limitations upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in which subject property is 
situated. 

 
Staff finds that the following special circumstances are applicable to the subject property:  

1. The property is located in Lawn Way of which none of the existing properties have parking.  
Requiring on-site parking would deprive the property owner of a privilege enjoyed by all other 
properties in the district. 

2. Strict adherence to on-site parking requirements would require surface parking or a first-story 
garage with second-story living quarters.  The project site is a small, 938 square-foot lot which 
does not have adequate access or space to accommodate surface parking.  A two-story 
design with a ground level garage would not be in keeping with the character of the Lawn Way 
district. 

3. The proposed addition does not increase the non-conforming parking of the site.   The existing 
home requires 2 uncovered parking spaces.  The existing home with the new addition would 
also require 2 uncovered parking spaces.   

 
COASTAL PERMIT 
Within the issuance of a Coastal Pemit, the following finding is required: 
 

§17.46.090(D)23(h): No additional development in the village that intensifies use and requires 
additional parking shall be permitted. Changes in use that do not result in additional parking 
demand can be allowed and exceptions for onsite parking as allowed in the land use plan can 
be made. 
 

The use will remain as a single-family home and will not intensify the use of the site.  The project does 
not result in additional parking demand.  The property will continue to participate in the village parking 
permit program.   
 
CEQA REVIEW 
Section 15301(e) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts additions to existing structures provided that the 
addition in under 10,000 square feet and not located in an environmentally sensitive area.  This 
project involves a remodel to an existing home located in the CV (central village) zoning district 
residential overlay. No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed 
project. 
 
  

-117-

Item #: 5. 110 Lawn Way Staff Report.pdf



 

RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve project application #14-006 based on the 
following Conditions and Findings for Approval. 
 
 
CONDITIONS 

1. The project approval consists of construction of a 470 square-foot half-story addition. There is 
no maximum Floor Area Ratio within the CV zoning district.  The proposed project is approved 
as indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on March 
6, 2014, except as modified through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during 
the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be consistent 
with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and site improvements 
shall be completed according to the approved plans 
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be printed in 
full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM shall 
be printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans.  All construction shall 
be done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP STRM.   

 
5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically requested 

and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any significant changes 
to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require Planning Commission 
approval.  
 

6. All exterior materials shall be installed according to the approved set of plans, including: true 
divided light wood-clad windows, a wood 9 light front door, wood French doors and wood 
railing on the second story, hardi horizontal lap siding over existing concrete, and hardi shingle 
accents in gable ends and on chimney.  Windows and doors shall have 6” wide trim.       
 

7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #14-006 shall be 
paid in full. 
 

8. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel Water 
District, and Central Fire Protection District.   
 

9. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion control 
plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans shall be in 
compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 13.16 Storm 
Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

10. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater management 
plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements all applicable Post 
Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard Details, including all standards 
relating to low impact development (LID). 
 

11. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading official to 
verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  

-118-

Item #: 5. 110 Lawn Way Staff Report.pdf



 

 
12. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired by 

the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed in the 
road right-of-way. 
 

13. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise curfew, 
except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  Construction noise 
shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty a.m. on weekdays. 
Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the exception of Saturday work 
between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work approved by the building official. 
§9.12.010B 
 

14. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or sidewalk 
shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction of the Public 
Works Department.  All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or sidewalk shall meet 
current Accessibility Standards. 
 

15. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall 
be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director.  Upon evidence 
of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions, the 
applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director or shall file an application for a permit amendment for Planning Commission 
consideration. Failure to remedy a non-compliance in a timely manner may result in permit 
revocation. 
 

16. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.   The applicant shall have an 
approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent permit 
expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to expiration 
pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

17. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the applicant 
to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the site on which 
the approval was granted. 
 

18. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be placed out 
of public view on non-collection days.  
 

FINDINGS 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 Community Development Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 

the Planning Commission have all reviewed the addition to the single family home.  The 
project secures the purpose statement of the CV (Central Village) Zoning Districts.  A Variance 
has been granted by the Planning Commission to carry out the objectives of the Zoning 
Ordinance, General Plan and Local Coastal Plan. 

 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 

Community Development Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 
the Planning Commission have all reviewed the addition to the single-family home.  The 
existing home was constructed in 1964 of concrete block, aluminum windows, and a flat roof 
with a concrete block parapet and iron railing.  The design and materials of the home are not 
representative of or in harmony with the Lawn Way/Six Sisters Historic District.  The proposed 

-119-

Item #: 5. 110 Lawn Way Staff Report.pdf



 

design would enhance the home’s architectural appearance and be more compatible with 
other residences in the district.   
The project received a variance to required onsite parking to allow a pitched roof element with 
increased habitable space.  The increased habitable space does not increase the non-
conforming parking of the site.  The existing home requires 2 uncovered parking spaces.  The 
existing home with the new addition would also require 2 uncovered parking spaces.   
Conditions of approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the character 
and integrity of the neighborhood. The proposed addition to the single-family residence 
compliments the existing homes in the district in use, mass and scale, materials, height, and 
architecture.   
 

C.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301(e) of the California 
Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 
Section 15301(e) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts additions to existing structures provided 
that the addition in under 10,000 square feet and not located in an environmentally sensitive 
area.  This project involves a remodel to an existing home located in the CV (Central Village) 
zoning district. No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during review of the 
proposed project. 

 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A: Plans 
Attachment B: Streetscape  
Attachment C: Historic District Boundary  
Attachment D: Coastal Findings 

-120-

Item #: 5. 110 Lawn Way Staff Report.pdf



A
R

IZ
O

N
A

 
T
A

N

2
1

6
2

-5
0

W
a

lls
: 

H
a

r
d

ie
 P

la
n

k
 H

o
r
iz

. L
a

p
 S

id
in

g
&
 S

h
in

g
le

 S
id

e
w

a
ll 

w
it

h
 6

" 
w

id
e

 T
r
im

W
in

d
o

w
s

:
M

ilg
a

r
d 

 W
o

o
d

/
F

ib
e

r
g

la
s

s
 C

la
d

F
r
e

n
c

h
 D

o
o

r
s

:
M

ilg
a

r
d 

 W
o

o
d

/
F

ib
e

r
g

la
s

s
 C

la
d

F
r
o

n
t
 D

o
o

r
:

W
o

o
d

 (
9

 L
it

e
)

D
e

c
k

 R
a

il:
P

ic
k

e
t
 R

a
ili

n
g 

C
o

lo
r
 P

a
lle

t
t
e

: 
B

e
n

j
a

m
in

 M
o

o
r
e

 P
a

in
t
s 

(o
r
 s

im
ila

r
)

B
o

d
y
: 

A
r
iz

o
n

a
 T

a
n

T
r
im

: 
S

w
is

s
 C

o
ff

e
e

D
o

o
r
: 

T
o

a
s

t
e

d
 C

h
e

s
t
n

u
t

R
o

o
fi

n
g

:
C

o
m

p
o

s
it

io
n
 S

h
in

g
le

G
A

F
 T

im
b

e
r
lin

e
 H

D
"M

is
s

io
n

 B
r
o

w
n

"

 

C
r
a

y
c

r
o

ft
 D

e
s

ig
n 

  
4

5
5

 H
a

p
p

y
 V

a
lle

y
 W

a
y

S
a

n
t
a

 C
r
u

z
, C

A
 
 9

5
0

6
5

T
e

l:
 8

3
1

-
4

2
7

-
3

0
4

8

F
e

b
r
u

a
r
y
 2

7
, 2

0
1

4
  
 

S
W

IS
S

 C
O

F
F

E
E

O
C

-4
5

G
A

F
 
T

IM
B

E
R

L
IN

E
 H

D

"M
IS

S
IO

N
 B

R
O

W
N

"

P
r
o

je
c

t
:

K
e

t
t
m

a
n
n
 R

e
s

id
e

n
c

e
1

1
0

 L
a

w
n

 W
a

y
C

a
p

it
o

la
, C

A

 F
r
o

n
t
 (

S
o

u
t
h
) 

E
le

v
a

t
io

n 

D
e

s
ig

n
:

E
x

t
e

r
io

r
 M

a
t
e

r
ia

ls
 a

n
d

 F
in

is
h
e

s

T
O

A
S

T
E

D
 C

H
E

S
T

N
U

T

2
1

7
4

-1
0

-121-

Item #: 5. Plans.pdf



�����

�����
�� ��� �� ���

N
S

it
e

 P
la

n
1

/
4

"=
1

'

 R
O

O
F 

 D
E

C
K
 

E
x

is
t
in

g
 R

o
o

f 
P

la
n

1
/

4
"=

1
'

		
 ��
������

		
 ��
��
 ���
 ��

������
 B

A
T

H 

 B
E

D
R

O
O

M
 1

 

 B
E

D
R

O
O

M
 2

 
 K

IT
C

H
E

N 

 D
 

 W
 

 L
A

U
N

D
R

Y
 

W
H

R
E

F

 C
L 

 C
L 

 L
IV

IN
G

 

 C
L 

N��
 ��

E
a

s
t
 E

le
v

a
t
io

n
1

/
4

"=
1

'

N
o

r
t
h
 E

le
v

a
t
io

n
1

/
4

"=
1

'

W
e

s
t
 E

le
v

a
t
io

n
1

/
4

"=
1

'

����� ���������
F

r
o

n
t
 (

S
o

u
t
h
) 

E
le

v
a

t
io

n
1

/
4

"=
1

'

����� ���������

Norma Kettmann 
110 Lawn Way
Capitola, CA

SITE   PLAN

J
O

B
 N

O
.:

D
R

A
W

N
:

S
H

E
E

T

D
A

T
E

:

S
C

A
L

E
:

D
R

A
W

N
:

S
H

E
E

T

D
A

T
E

:

S
C

A
L

E
:

Z
.C

.

1
/

8
"=

1
'

Project:Design:
Craycroft Design   
455 Happy Valley Way
Santa Cruz, CA  95065
Tel: 831-427-3048      

V
E

R
S

IO
N

Kettmann Residence
110 Lawn Way
Capitola, CA
 APN:   035-243-05  

L
a

w
n

 W
a

y

A
u

g
u

s
t
 2

0
1

3

A
1� !"#$#%& ' EXISTING PLANS

Owner:()*()+, ++)+,)+,

N
F

lo
o

r
 P

la
n

1
/

4
"=

1
'

 L
O

W
 S

L
O

P
E

 R
O

O
F 

DN

R
O

O
F 

H
A

T
C

H

UP

C
H

IM
N

E
Y
 

C
A

P

M
E

T
A

L 
R

A
IL

IN
G

M
E

T
A

L 
R

A
IL

IN
G

W
O

O
D

 
R

A
IL

IN
G

-� ./012345

 E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 
R

E
S

ID
E

N
C

E 

 E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
 M

A
T

E
R

IA
L

S
 &

 F
IN

IS
H

E
S

: 
 

C
o

n
c

r
e

t
e

 B
lo

c
k 

 
M

e
m

b
r
a

n
e

 R
o

o
fi

n
g

 
Ir

o
n
 R

a
ili

n
g

4
4

0
 S

q
. f

t
. �6789:;<=8>??@A=B

L
iv

in
g

 A
r
e

a
: 

8
7

5
 s

q
. f

t
. 

E
x

t
e

r
io

r
 S

t
a

ir
s

: 
1

4
 s

q
. f

t
. 

T
o

t
a

l: 
8

8
9

 s
q

. f
t
. 

������

-122-

Item #: 5. Plans.pdf



PROPOSED
PLANS

20'-4 1/2"

F
r
o

n
t
 (

S
o

u
t
h
) 

E
le

v
a

t
io

n
1

/
4

"=
1

'

Norma Kettmann 
110 Lawn Way
Capitola, CA

J
O

B
 N

O
.:

D
R

A
W

N
:

S
H

E
E

T

D
A

T
E

:

S
C

A
L

E
:

D
R

A
W

N
:

S
H

E
E

T

D
A

T
E

:

S
C

A
L

E
:

Z
.C

.

1
/

8
"=

1
'

Project:Owner:Design:
Craycroft Design   
455 Happy Valley Way
Santa Cruz, CA  95065
Tel: 831-427-3048      

V
E

R
S

IO
N

Kettmann Residence
110 Lawn Way
Capitola, CA
 APN:   035-243-05  

L
a

w
n

 W
a

y

A
u

g
u

s
t
 2

0
1

3

A
2

P
R

E
L

IM
IN

A
R

Y
8

/2
8

/1
3

1
1

/1
3

/1
3

1
/1

6
/1

4
R

E
V

S
IO

N
S

2
/4

/1
4

R
E

V
S

IO
N

S
2

/1
8

/1
4

R
E

V
S

IO
N

S
2

/2
7

/1
4

R
E

V
S

IO
N

S

3
'-
2
 1

/2
"

3
'-
2
 1

/2
"

6'-0"

 F
A

M
IL

Y
 

 R
O

O
M

  

 D
N 

20'-8"

26'-8"

3
3

'-
4

"

 D
E

C
K
  

P
r
o

p
o

s
e

d
 S

e
c

o
n
d

 F
lo

o
r
 P

la
n

1
/

4
"=

1
'

3
3

'-
4

"

1
6

'-
0

"
4

'-
8

"

26'-8"

 B
A

T
H 

 B
E

D
R

O
O

M
 1

 

 K
IT

C
H

E
N 

 D
 

 W
 

 L
A

U
N

D
R

Y
 

W
H

R
E

F

 C
L 

 L
IV

IN
G

 

P
r
o

p
o

s
e

d
 F

ir
s

t
 F

lo
o

r
 P

la
n

1
/

4
"=

1
'

1
2

'-
8

"

 O
F

F
IC

E 

UP

1
6

2
 s

q
. f

t
. 

 B
A

T
H 

 S
T

O
R

A
G

E 
 

 S
T

O
R

A
G

E 
 

2
6

'-
1
1

"

N
o

r
t
h
 E

le
v

a
t
io

n
1

/
4

"=
1

'E
a

s
t
 E

le
v

a
t
io

n
1

/
4

"=
1

'

W
e

s
t
 E

le
v

a
t
io

n
1

/
4

"=
1

'

 S
T

O
R

A
G

E 
 

A
r
e

a
 C

a
lc

u
la

t
io

n
s

F
ir

s
t
 F

lo
o

r
:  
  

  
  

 
 8

8
9

 s
q

. f
t
. 

S
e

c
o

n
d

 F
lo

o
r
:  

  
 4

2
6

 s
q

. f
t
. 

T
o

t
a

l 
H

e
a

t
e

d
:  

 1
3

1
5

 s
q

. f
t
. 

 R
ID

G
E 

  

1
2

8

s
k
y
lig

h
t  

s
k
y
lig

h
t  

s
k
y
lig

h
t  

s
k
y
lig

h
t  

W
o

o
d

 S
t
o

v
e

 F
lu

e
w

it
h
 S

h
e

e
t
 M

e
t
a

l 
S

h
r
o

u
d

 

W
o

o
d

 S
t
o

v
e

 F
lu

e
w

it
h
 S

h
e

e
t
 M

e
t
a

l 
S

h
r
o

u
d

 

(N
) 

F
ix

e
d

/
H

o
r
iz

. S
lid

e
r

(N
) 

F
r
e

n
c

h
 D

o
o

r
s

 &
 

S
in

g
le

 H
u

n
g 

 W
in

d
o

w
s 

(N
) 

F
r
e

n
c

h
 D

o
o

r
s

 &
 

S
in

g
le

 H
u

n
g

 W
in

d
o

w
s 

V
a

u
lt

e
d

 C
e

ili
n
g

(N
) 

H
o

r
iz

. 
S

lid
e

r 
(N

) 
H

o
r
iz

. 
S

lid
e

r 

(N
) 

F
ix

e
d

/
H

o
r
iz

. S
lid

e
r

2
n

d
L

E
V

E
L

1
s

t
L

E
V

E
L

 C
L 

4
 f

t 
h

ig
h

 w
a
ll

s
k
y
lig

h
t  

(N) 4-0 x 4-0 Window

(N) 4-0 x 4-0 Window

3
'-

7
"

1
0

'-
0

 1
/2

"
1

9
'-

0
 1

/2
"

4
2

" 
H

ig
h 

P
ic

k
e

t
 R

a
ili

n
g

fi
re

p
la

ce

fl
u

e

E
x

t
e

r
io

r
 M

a
t
e

r
ia

ls
:

W
a

lls
: 

H
a

r
d

ie
 P

la
n
k

 H
o

r
iz

. L
a

p
 S

id
in

g
&
 S

h
in

g
le

 S
id

e
w

a
ll 

w
it

h
 6

" 
w

id
e

 T
r
im

W
in

d
o

w
s

:
M

ilg
a

r
d 

 W
o

o
d

/
F

ib
e

r
g

la
s

s
 C

la
d

F
r
e

n
c

h
 D

o
o

r
s

:
M

ilg
a

r
d 

 W
o

o
d

/
F

ib
e

r
g

la
s

s
 C

la
d

F
r
o

n
t
 D

o
o

r
:

W
o

o
d

 (
9

 L
it

e
)

D
e

c
k

 R
a

il:
P

ic
k

e
t
 R

a
ili

n
g

R
o

o
fi

n
g

:
C

o
m

p
o

s
it

io
n

 S
h
in

g
le

G
A

F
 T

im
b

e
r
lin

e
 H

D
"M

is
s

io
n
 B

r
o

w
n
"

 

C
o

lo
r
 P

a
lle

t
t
e

: 
B

e
n

j
a

m
in

 M
o

o
r
e

 P
a

in
t
s 

(o
r
 s

im
ila

r
)

B
o

d
y
: 

A
r
iz

o
n
a

 T
a

n
T

r
im

: 
S

w
is

s
 C

o
ff

e
e

D
o

o
r
: 

T
o

a
s

t
e

d
 C

h
e

s
t
n
u

t

4'-0"

 F
A

M
IL

Y
  

 
 R

O
O

M
  

 L
IV

IN
G

  
 

 R
O

O
M

  
 

 K
IT

C
H

E
N 

S
e

c
t
io

n 
1

/
4

"=
1

'

 S
T

O
R

A
G

E 
 

1
2

8

1
2

2
.5

(E
) 

F
L

O
O

R
 J

O
IS

T

N
E

W
 G

A
B

L
E

 R
O

O
F

C
O

M
P

O
S

IT
IO

N 
S

H
IN

G
L

E
 R

O
O

F
IN

G

N
E

W
 H

A
R

D
I P

A
N

E
L

H
O

R
IZ

. S
ID

IN
G

 O
V

E
R

E
X

IS
T

. B
L

O
C

K
 W

A
L

L

(E
) 

2
X

1
0

 R
O

O
F

/
C

E
IL

IN
G

J
O

IS
T

8'-5"

(E
) 

F
L

O
O

R
 J

O
IS

T

10'-3"

7'-8"

C
U

T
 B

L
O

C
K

@
 C

O
R

N
E

R
S

A
N

D
 B

A
C

K
 W

A
L

L 

1'-4"

1
'-

1
0

"

C
U

T
 B

L
O

C
K

@
 C

O
R

N
E

R
S

O
F

 F
R

O
N

T
 W

A
L

L 

+/-

3'-6"

9'-6 1/2"

1
2

8

W
o

o
d

 S
t
o

v
e

 F
lu

e
w

it
h
 S

h
e

e
t
 M

e
t
a

l 
S

h
r
o

u
d

 

C
lo

se
t

14'-8"6'-0"

-123-

Item #: 5. Plans.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-124-



�������� Norma Kettmann 
110 Lawn Way
Capitola, CA

J
O

B
 N

O
.:

D
R

A
W

N
:

S
H

E
E

T

D
A

T
E

:

S
C

A
L

E
:

D
R

A
W

N
:

S
H

E
E

T

D
A

T
E

:

S
C

A
L

E
:

Z
.C

.

1
/

8
"=

1
'

Project:Owner:Design:
Craycroft Design   
455 Happy Valley Way
Santa Cruz, CA  95065
Tel: 831-427-3048      

V
E

R
S

IO
N

Kettmann Residence
110 Lawn Way
Capitola, CA
 APN:   035-243-05  

L
a

w
n

 W
a

y

A
u

g
u

s
t
 2

0
1

3

A
3�������	
��������  STREETSCAPES  ������� �������������

������� R
E
V
S
IO

N
S

������������

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
 L

A
W

N
 W

A
Y

 S
T

R
E

E
T

S
C

A
P

E
 F

R
O

M
 S

O
U

T
H 

1
/

8
" 
=
 1

' 

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 
 L

A
W

N
 W

A
Y

 S
T

R
E

E
T

S
C

A
P

E
 F

R
O

M
 S

O
U

T
H 

1
/

8
" 
=
 1

' 

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
 L

A
W

N
 W

A
Y

 S
T

R
E

E
T

S
C

A
P

E
 F

R
O

M
 E

A
S

T 
 

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 
 L

A
W

N
 W

A
Y

 S
T

R
E

E
T

S
C

A
P

E
 F

R
O

M
 E

A
S

T 
 

1
/

8
" 
=
 1

' 

1
1

0
 L

a
w

n
 W

a
y

1
1

0
 L

a
w

n
 W

a
y

1
1

0
 L

a
w

n
 W

a
y

1
1

0
 L

a
w

n
 W

a
y

R
E
V
IS
E
D

������� R
E
V
S
IO

N
S

-125-

Item #: 5. Streetscape.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-126-



-127-

Item #: 5. Historic District Boundary.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-128-



  
 

      
PROJECT APPLICATION #14-006 

110 LAWN WAY, CAPITOLA 
ADDITION TOSINGLE-FAMILY HOME 

 
COASTAL FINDINGS 
 

D. Findings Required. A coastal permit shall be granted only upon adoption of specific 
written factual findings supporting the conclusion that the proposed development 
conforms to the certified Local Coastal Program, including, but not limited to: 
 

• The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local Coastal Plan (LCP). 
The specific, factual findings, as per CMC Section 17.46.090 (D) are as follows:  

 
(D) (2) Require Project-Specific Findings. In determining any requirement for public 
access, including the type of access and character of use, the city shall evaluate and 
document in written findings the factors identified in subsections (D) (2) (a) through (e), 
to the extent applicable. The findings shall explain the basis for the conclusions and 
decisions of the city and shall be supported by substantial evidence in the record. If an 
access dedication is required as a condition of approval, the findings shall explain how 
the adverse effects which have been identified will be alleviated or mitigated by the 
dedication. As used in this section, “cumulative effect” means the effect of the 
individual project in combination with the effects of past projects, other current 
projects, and probable future projects, including development allowed under applicable 
planning and zoning. 

 
(D) (2) (a) Project Effects on Demand for Access and Recreation. Identification of 
existing and open public access and coastal recreation areas and facilities in the 
regional and local vicinity of the development. Analysis of the project’s effects upon 
existing public access and recreation opportunities. Analysis of the project’s 
cumulative effects upon the use and capacity of the identified access and recreation 
opportunities, including public tidelands and beach resources, and upon the capacity 
of major coastal roads from subdivision, intensification or cumulative build-out. 
Projection for the anticipated demand and need for increased coastal access and 
recreation opportunities for the public. Analysis of the contribution of the project’s 
cumulative effects to any such projected increase. Description of the physical 
characteristics of the site and its proximity to the sea, tideland viewing points, upland 
recreation areas, and trail linkages to tidelands or recreation areas. Analysis of the 
importance and potential of the site, because of its location or other characteristics, for 
creating, preserving or enhancing public access to tidelands or public recreation 
opportunities;  
 
• The proposed project is located at 110 Lawn Way.  The home is not located in an area with 

coastal access. The home will not have an effect on public trails or beach access. 
 

(D) (2) (b) Shoreline Processes. Description of the existing shoreline conditions, 
including beach profile, accessibility and usability of the beach, history of erosion or 
accretion, character and sources of sand, wave and sand movement, presence of 
shoreline protective structures, location of the line of mean high tide during the season 
when the beach is at its narrowest (generally during the late winter) and the proximity of 
that line to existing structures, and any other factors which substantially characterize 
or affect the shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to 
shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline 

-129-

Item #: 5. 110 Lawn Way Coastal Findings.pdf



  
 

processes and beach profile unrelated to the proposed development. Description and 
analysis of any reasonably likely changes, attributable to the primary and cumulative 
effects of the project, to: wave and sand movement affecting beaches in the vicinity of 
the project; the profile of the beach; the character, extent, accessibility and usability of 
the beach; and any other factors which characterize or affect beaches in the vicinity. 
Analysis of the effect of any identified changes of the project, alone or in combination 
with other anticipated changes, will have upon the ability of the public to use public 
tidelands and shoreline recreation areas; 
 
• The proposed project is located along Lawn Way.  No portion of the project is located 

along the shoreline or beach.   
 

(D) (2) (c) Historic Public Use. Evidence of use of the site by members of the general 
public for a continuous five-year period (such use may be seasonal). Evidence of the 
type and character of use made by the public (vertical, lateral, blufftop, etc., and for 
passive and/or active recreational use, etc.). Identification of any agency (or person) 
who has maintained and/or improved the area subject to historic public use and the 
nature of the maintenance performed and improvements made. Identification of the 
record owner of the area historically used by the public and any attempts by the owner 
to prohibit public use of the area, including the success or failure of those attempts. 
Description of the potential for adverse impact on public use of the area from the 
proposed development (including but not limited to, creation of physical or 
psychological impediments to public use);  
 

• There is no history of public use on the subject lot.     

(D)  (2) (d) Physical Obstructions. Description of any physical aspects of the 
development which block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the 
tidelands, public recreation areas, or other public coastal resources or to see the 
shoreline; 

• The proposed project is located on private property on Lawn Way.  The project will not 
block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the tidelands, public 
recreation areas, or views to the shoreline.   

 
 (D) (2) (e) Other Adverse Impacts on Access and Recreation. Description of the 
development’s physical proximity and relationship to the shoreline and any public 
recreation area. Analysis of the extent of which buildings, walls, signs, streets or other 
aspects of the development, individually or cumulatively, are likely to diminish the 
public’s use of tidelands or lands committed to public recreation. Description of any 
alteration of the aesthetic, visual or recreational value of public use areas, and of any 
diminution of the quality or amount of recreational use of public lands which may be 
attributable to the individual or cumulative effects of the development.    
 

• The proposed project is located on private property that will not impact access and 
recreation.  The project does not diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands 
committed to public recreation nor alter the aesthetic, visual or recreational value of 
public use areas. 
 

 (D) (3) (a – c) Required Findings for Public Access Exceptions. Any determination that 
one of the exceptions of subsection (F) (2) applies to a development shall be supported 
by written findings of fact, analysis and conclusions which address all of the following: 

-130-

Item #: 5. 110 Lawn Way Coastal Findings.pdf



  
 

a. The type of access potentially applicable to the site involved (vertical, lateral, 
bluff top, etc.) and its location in relation to the fragile coastal resource to be protected, 
the agricultural use, the public safety concern, or the military facility which is the basis 
for the exception, as applicable; 

b. Unavailability of any mitigating measures to manage the type, character, 
intensity, hours, season or location of such use so that agricultural resources, fragile 
coastal resources, public safety, or military security, as applicable, are protected; 

c. Ability of the public, through another reasonable means, to reach the same area 
of public tidelands as would be made accessible by an access way on the subject land. 

• The project is not requesting a Public Access Exception, therefore these findings do 
not apply 

(D) (4) (a – f) Findings for Management Plan Conditions. Written findings in support of a 
condition requiring a management plan for regulating the time and manner or character 
of public access use must address the following factors, as applicable: 

a. Identification and protection of specific habitat values including the reasons 
supporting the conclusions that such values must be protected by limiting the hours, 
seasons, or character of public use; 

• The project is located in a residential area without sensitive habitat areas.   

 b. Topographic constraints of the development site; 

• The project is located on a flat lot.   

 c. Recreational needs of the public; 

• The project does not impact recreational needs of the public.  

 d. Rights of privacy of the landowner which could not be mitigated by setting the 
project back from the access way or otherwise conditioning the development; 

e. The requirements of the possible accepting agency, if an offer of dedication is 
the mechanism for securing public access; 

f. Feasibility of adequate setbacks, fencing, landscaping, and other methods as 
part of a management plan to regulate public use. 

 
(D) (5)  Project complies with public access requirements, including submittal of 
appropriate legal documents to ensure the right of public access whenever, and as, 
required by the certified land use plan and Section 17.46.010 (coastal access 
requirements); 
 

• No legal documents to ensure public access rights  are required for the proposed 
project 

  

-131-

Item #: 5. 110 Lawn Way Coastal Findings.pdf



  
 

(D) (6) Project complies with visitor-serving and recreational use policies;  
 
SEC. 30222 
The use of private lands suitable for visitor-serving commercial recreational facilities 
designed to enhance public opportunities for coastal recreation shall have priority over 
private residential, general industrial, or general commercial development, but not over 
agriculture or coastal-dependent industry. 

• The project involves a single-family home on a residential lot of record.     
SEC. 30223 
Upland areas necessary to support coastal recreational uses shall be reserved for such 
uses, where feasible. 

• The project involves a single-family home on a residential lot of record.   
c)  Visitor-serving facilities that cannot be feasibly located in existing developed areas 
shall be located in existing isolated developments or at selected points of attraction for 
visitors. 

 
• The project involves a single-family home on a residential lot of record.   

 (D) (7)  Project complies with applicable standards and requirements for 
provision of public and private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of 
transportation and/or traffic improvements; 
 

• The project involves the construction of a single-family home.  The project complies 
with applicable standards and requirements for provision for parking, pedestrian 
access, alternate means of transportation and/or traffic improvements.   

 
(D) (8)  Review of project design, site plan, signing, lighting, landscaping, etc., by the 
city’s architectural and site review committee, and compliance with adopted design 
guidelines and standards, and review committee recommendations; 
 
• The project complies with the design guidelines and standards established by the 

Municipal Code.   
  
(D) (9) Project complies with LCP policies regarding protection of public landmarks, 
protection or provision of public views; and shall not block or detract from public views 
to and along Capitola’s shoreline; 

 
• The project will not negatively impact public landmarks and/or public views.  The project 

will not block or detract from public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline.   
 
(D) (10) Demonstrated availability and adequacy of water and sewer services; 
 
• The project is located on a legal lot of record with available water and sewer services.   

 
(D) (11) Provisions of minimum water flow rates and fire response times;  
 
• The project is located within close proximity of the Central Fire District.  Water is available 

at the location.   
 (D) (12) Project complies with water and energy conservation standards; 

-132-

Item #: 5. 110 Lawn Way Coastal Findings.pdf



  
 

 
• The project is for a single-family home.  The GHG emissions for the project are projected 

at less than significant impact. All water fixtures must comply with the low-flow standards of 
the Soquel Creek Water District. 

 
(D) (13) Provision of park dedication, school impact, and other fees as may be required;  
 
• The project will be required to pay appropriate fees prior to building permit issuance. 
 
(D) (14) Project complies with coastal housing policies, and applicable ordinances 
including condominium conversion and mobile home ordinances; 

 
• The project does not involve a condo conversion or mobile homes.   
 
(D) (15) Project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological protection 
policies;  
 
• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with established policies. 
 
(D) (16) Project complies with Monarch butterfly habitat protection policies; 

 
• The project is outside of any identified sensitive habitats, specifically areas where Monarch 

Butterflies have been encountered, identified and documented. 
 

(D) (17) Project provides drainage and erosion and control measures to protect marine, 
stream, and wetland water quality from urban runoff and erosion; 
 
• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with applicable erosion 

control measures. 
 
(D) (18) Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professional for 
projects in seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or coastal bluffs, and project 
complies with hazard protection policies including provision of appropriate setbacks 
and mitigation measures; 
 
• Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professionals for this 

project.  Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project applicant shall 
comply with all applicable requirements of the most recent version of the California 
Building Standards Code.   
 

(D) (19) All other geological, flood and fire hazards are accounted for and mitigated in 
the project design; 

 
• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project complies with geological, 

flood, and fire hazards and are accounted for and will be mitigated in the project design. 
   
(D) (20) Project complies with shoreline structure policies; 
  
• The proposed project is not located along a shoreline. 

  
(D) (21) The uses proposed are consistent with the permitted or conditional uses of the 
zoning district in which the project is located; 

-133-

Item #: 5. 110 Lawn Way Coastal Findings.pdf



  
 

 
• This use is an allowed use consistent with the Central Village zoning district.  
(D) (22) Conformance to requirements of all other city ordinances, zoning requirements, 
and project review procedures; 
 
• The project conforms to the requirements of all city ordinances, zoning requirements and 

project development review and development procedures. 
 
(D) (23) Project complies with the Capitola parking permit program as follows:  
 
• The project is requesting a variance to the onsite parking.  It is located within the area of 

the Capitola parking permit program. 

-134-

Item #: 5. 110 Lawn Way Coastal Findings.pdf



 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T 
 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  JANUARY 16, 2014 
 
SUBJECT: 1730 Wharf Road   #13-169  APN: 035-111-14 

Design Permit, Variance, Coastal Development Permit, and Tree Removal Permit for a 
new single-family residence in the R-1/AR (Single Family/Automatic Review) Zoning 
District. 
This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is appealable to the 
California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the 
City. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Owner: Bruce Golino 
Representative: Courtney Hughes, William Fisher Architecture, filed: 11/26/2013 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing to construct a 3,717 square-foot single-family residence at 1730 Wharf 
Road in the R-1/AR (Single Family/Automatic Review) zoning district. The property is also located 
within the Soquel Creek Riparian Corridor.  The use is consistent with the General Plan, Zoning 
Ordinance and Local Coastal Plan. 
 
BACKGROUND 
On December 11, 2013, the Architectural and Site Review Committee reviewed the application. 

 City Architect, Derek Van Alstine, complemented the low height in the design as perceived 
from the street.   

 City Landscape Architect.  There is currently a vacancy for this appointment. 

 City Public Works Director, Steve Jesberg, requested that the driveway and sidewalk cuts be 
ADA accessible.  He also informed the applicant of the requirements for runoff and erosion 
control that must be in compliance at the time of building plan submittal.  

 City Building Official, Mark Wheeler, required a management plan for Wharf Road during 
excavation and construction.  He discussed the requirements for structural engineering and a 
verified soils report by licensed engineers prior to building submittal.   

 
On January 16, 2014, the Planning Commission reviewed the original application and denied the 
application without prejudice.  The Planning Commission advised the applicant to return with a soils 
report and structural engineer analysis on impacts to the adjacent cable car.  They also directed the 
applicant to consider moving the home toward the south property line away further away from the 
cable car track at the Shadowbrook Restaurant.  The Planning Commission informed the applicant 
that a variance to the setback requirements would be considered to achieve the requested change in 
the building location.  (Attachment C: January 16, 2014 PC Minutes) 
 

-135-

Item #: 5.B. 1740 Wharf Rd Staff Report.pdf



 

The applicant revised the application to include the additional information and design modifications 
suggested by the Planning Commission.  A 2004 geotechnical study was produced for the original 
subdivision application.  The applicant resubmitted the previous study along with two letters from a 
Richard Irish, a Registered Civil Engineer.  After reviewing the plans and soils study, Mr. Irish made 
findings that the site can be shored safely and that the residence can be constructed without 
disturbing the neighboring structures. (Attachment D)   
 
The Architect made three modifications to the original design.  The home was reoriented to the south 
property line to create increased distance between the structure and the existing cable car.  The 
window on the north elevation was removed as requested by the owner of the Shadowbrook.  Also, a 
second window on the south elevation was reoriented along a property line to comply with fire code 
requirements.  No additional modifications were made to the design.  The applicant is requesting a 
variance for the zero lot line setback on the south property line.      
 
SITE AND STRUCTURAL DATA 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 

Lot Size 8,860 sq. ft. 

Maximum FAR Allowed 48% 4,252 sq. ft. 

Proposed FAR 44% 3,717 sq. ft. 

 

Proposed Square Footage 

First Floor (Basement)    601 sq. ft. 

Second Floor    818 sq. ft.  

Third Floor (Dining Living) 1,187 sq. ft. 

Forth Floor (Entry/Garage)    825 sq. ft. 

Fifth Floor    686 sq. ft. 

Total 4,117 sq. ft. 

Less Basement Exception  - 250 sq. ft. 

Plus upper floor deck beyond 150 sq. ft.   -150 sq. ft. 

Gross Floor Area 3,717 sq. ft. 

 

Building Setbacks 

 R-1 District Proposed 

Front Yard 15’ House  
20’ Garage 

15’ House 
20’ Garage 

Rear Yard 35’ from edge of 
riparian canopy 

35’ from edge of riparian 
canopy 

North Side Yard  10% lot width (4’5”) 20% lot width  
(8’ 10”) 

South Side Yard 10% (4’5”) 0  Variance 
requested 

 

Building Height 

 R-1 District Proposed 

Residential 25'-0" 23'-9" 

 

Parking 

 Required Proposed 

Residential 
(2,601 sq. ft. – 
4,000 sq. ft.) 

4 spaces total 
Minimum 1 covered 

3 uncovered 

4 spaces total 
2 covered 

2 uncovered 

-136-

Item #: 5.B. 1740 Wharf Rd Staff Report.pdf



 

  
DISCUSSION 
The property at 1730 Wharf Road has several unique natural attributes and surrounding built 
conditions.  The lot was created within a subdivision approved on May 6, 2004.  The lot has a 
relatively flat section along Wharf Road that extends approximately 30 feet deep into the lot.  Beyond 
this point, the lot becomes extremely steep dropping down toward Soquel Creek.  The rear half of the 
lot is part of a scenic easement in which development is prohibited.  The lot is also located within the 
Soquel Creek Riparian Corridor.  A riparian delineation was completed by a qualified biologist to 
ensure that the riparian corridor and necessary setbacks would not be impacted.  Also unique to the 
lot is the mix of surrounding land uses.  A single-family home is located adjacent to the south and the 
popular restaurant destination, the Shadowbrook, is located adjacent to the north.  The architect has 
sited the building and stepped the stories to fit within the unique natural features associate with the 
property and the existing surrounding land uses.            
 
Height 
The height limit in the R-1 (Single Family) zoning district is 25 feet to the highest point of the roof, 
ridge, or parapet wall.  Height is measured in the R-1 district as followed.   
 
“Building height” means the vertical distance measured from the assumed ground surface of the 
building.  
“Assumed ground surface” means a line on each elevation of an exterior wall or vertical surface which 
connects those points where the perimeter of the structure meets the finished grade, subject to the 
following exception: 

§17.15.080.A1. If there has been grading or fill on the property within five years preceding the 
time of the application, and that grading or filling has or would increase the height of the 
finished grade at one or more points where it would meet the perimeter of the proposed 
structure, the planning commission may measure heights from where it estimates the grade is 
or was before the grading or filling, if the commission determines that such an action is 
necessary to keep the height of the proposed structure in reasonable relationship to the 
heights in the neighborhood. (Ord. 873 § 1, 2004) 

 
The applicant provided a roof over topography (page A3) to demonstrate that the structure is within 
the 25 foot height limit.  The rear of the building steps with the slope of the building and complies with 
the 25 foot height limit.  The zoning code does not regulate the number of stories.  The home has a 
total of 5 stories.  
 
Setbacks: Variance Requested 
The original orientation of the home complied with all setback requirements of the R-1 zone and the 
Soquel Creek Riparian Corridor development regulations, including the 4’5” setback along the north 
property line.  During the Planning Commission review, the commission stated concerns for the 
possible impacts the excavation on the adjacent cable car track at the Shadowbrook Restaurant.  At 
the direction of the Planning Commission, the Architect modified the orientation of the home to be built 
directly on the south property line with zero setbacks.  This creates an 8’ 10” setback along the north 
property line adjacent to the cable car track.   The applicant is requesting a variance for a 0 foot 
setback on the south property line.  The adjacent home is located 10’ off the property line.  
 
Pursuant to §17.66.090, the Planning Commission, on the basis of the evidence submitted at the 
hearing, may grant a variance permit when it finds: 
 
A. That because of special circumstances applicable to subject property, including size, shape, 

topography, location or surroundings, the strict application of this title is found to deprive subject 
property of privileges enjoyed by other properties in the vicinity and under identical zone 
classification; 

-137-

Item #: 5.B. 1740 Wharf Rd Staff Report.pdf



 

  
B.  That the grant of a variance permit would not constitute a grant of special privilege inconsistent 

with the limitations upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in which subject property is 
situated. 

 
Staff finds that the following special circumstances are applicable to the subject property:  

1. The property is located at 1740 Wharf Road adjacent to the Shadowbrook Restaurant.  The 
Shadowbrook Restaurant cable car is located one foot off the north property line and is a local 
landmark.  Decreasing the setback requirement will protect the local landmark while not 
depriving the property owner of a privilege enjoyed by all other properties in the district.   

2. Granting the variance permit will not constitute a grant of special privilege inconsistent with the 
limitations on other properties in the vicinity and zone. The proposed home fit within the 
required setbacks.  The home has been shifted to the north property line to protect the local 
landmark on the adjacent property.    

 
Parking 
The applicant is proposing a new 3,717 square-foot, single-family home.  A single-family home 
between 2,601 square feet and 4,000 square feet is required to have four on-site parking spaces. The 
required on-site parking obligation is met with two interior spaces within the garage and two 
uncovered parking spaces within the driveway.  Each space complies with the minimum driveway 
standard of 10’ wide by 20’ deep. The driveway complies with the maximum driveway width of 20’, per 
Section 17.51.130.A.13.    
 
Exterior Finish Materials 
Proposed exterior materials for the single-family home include stucco, fiberglass framed windows and 
door with wood trim, and wood garage doors.  The home steps down the steep embankment within 
five stories.  The modern design of the home incorporates a flat roof on the upper story and a mix of 
green roofs and decks on the lower stories.  A color board with the three proposed exterior paint 
colors is included as Exhibit B.   
 
The green roof is in compliance with the International Building Code (IBC).  The green roof is not 
designed to be accessed by the residents.  All deck areas intended for access have a 3’ 6” railing for 
safety.   
 
Tree Removal 
The application includes the removal of 2 trees, including 1 Monterey Cypress and 1 Coast Live Oak.  
Neither tree is within the riparian corridor.  To comply with the replanting ratio of 2:1, the applicant is 
proposing to plant 2 Monterey Cypress Trees, 1 Japanese Maple tree, and 2 Coast Live Oaks.  
   
Landscaping 
The new home is located adjacent to the Shadowbrook Restaurant.  The Shadowbrook cable car, 
which transports guest up and down the steep hill to the restaurant, is located along the north property 
line.  There is currently natural screening along the majority of the property line.  Future landscaping 
will provide additional screening between the proposed home and the restaurant.  Landscaping along 
the property line includes 9 Italian Buckthorn shrubs (5 gallon) and two Monterey cypress trees (24” 
box).    The front yard will be landscaped with a mix of Cape Mallow, Sage, and a Japanese Maple 
tree.  Two Coast Live Oak trees are proposed.  One Coast Live Oak will be planted on the south side 
of the home and the second will be planted in the backyard of the home.  Drip irrigation is proposed 
with a rain sensor and quadra bubbler system.  No landscaping is included within the scenic 
easement or riparian areas.  
 
 
 

-138-

Item #: 5.B. 1740 Wharf Rd Staff Report.pdf



 

Geological Study 
The applicant revised the application to include an updated analysis regarding the onsite soils and 
possible impacts on the neighboring cable car.  A 2004 geotechnical study was submitted that was 
originally produced for the subdivision application.  The applicant resubmitted the previous study 
along with two letters from a Richard Irish, a Registered Civil Engineer.  After reviewing the plans and 
soils study, Mr. Irish made findings that the site can be shored safely and that the residence can be 
constructed without disturbing the neighboring structures. (Attachment D)      
 
Soquel Creek Riparian Corridor 
Section 17.95.030(A-G) outlines the development regulations within Soquel Creek riparian corridor. 
The following underlined regulations are required: 
 

A. Development in areas adjacent to the Soquel Creek riparian corridor shall be sited and designed to 
prevent impacts which would significantly degrade the area. 
 
Staff Analysis: The length of the lot is approximately 200 feet extending from Wharf Road down a 
steep slope to the Soquel Creek.  The majority of the home has been sited on the flat area of the lot 
closest to Wharf Road, the rear portion of the home steps down the steep hillside.  There is a scenic 
easement which protects more than half of the lot from development.  The riparian delineation 
provided by Cypress Environmental identifies that the boundary of the riparian vegetation is defined 
by the canopy of the single black cottonwood located in the lower 1/3 of the lot.  A 35 foot setback is 
required from riparian delineation.  All improvements are proposed outside of the established setback 
from the riparian delineation and outside of the scenic easement.     
 
B. A minimum thirty-five foot setback from the outer edge of riparian vegetation shall be required for 
all new development. On the heavily developed east side of the lagoon and creek (from Stockton 
Avenue to Center Street) the setback requirement shall be measured from the bank of Soquel Creek. 
 
Staff Analysis: As previously stated, the riparian delineation provided by Cypress Environmental 
identifies that the boundary of the riparian vegetation is defined by the canopy of the single black 
cottonwood located in the lower 1/3 of the lot.  A 35 foot setback is required from riparian delineation.  
All improvements are proposed outside of the established setback from the riparian delineation.     
 
C. The applicant shall be required to retain a qualified professional to determine the location of the 
outer edge of riparian vegetation on the site and to evaluate the potential impact of development on 
riparian vegetation and report to the city his or her findings before final action on the application is 
made. Mitigation measures, as contained in the evaluation, shall be made conditions of approval 
when needed to minimize impacts. 
 
Staff Analysis: The applicant hired Kim Tschantz of Cypress Environmental and Land Use Planning to 
establish the outer edge of the riparian vegetation on the site.  To prevent any impacts on the existing 
riparian vegetation, Mr. Tschantz suggested the following measures to minimize impacts to the 
riparian habitat: 

1. To conserve the riparian area for habitat purposes, the City of Capitola shall delineate a 
development envelope on the site to show where structural development and outdoor use 
area (yard) will be located as part of the Coastal Zone Permit process for site 
development.  The development envelope shall be based on the riparian vegetation 
delineation and the City’s required 35 foot setback from the outer edge of the vegetation.   

2. To avoid the potential for accelerated erosion and sedimentation of the habitat area during 
the construction phase, all land alteration and construction activities should occur during 
the non-rainy season of April 15 – October 15.   

3. To avoid sedimentation of habitat area during construction, the owner/contractor shall 
install a silt fence barrier at the eastern edge of the construction zone (development 

-139-

Item #: 5.B. 1740 Wharf Rd Staff Report.pdf



 

envelope) to capture any material (e.g. dislodged soil, construction debris) that is 
discharged down the slope.  The silt fence shall be installed according to best 
management practices, including embedding the bottom of the silt fence in native soil, at 
least, 6 inches.  The owner/contractor shall clean debris from the upslope side of the silt 
fence each day debris is collected.  The silt fence shall be maintained in good operable 
condition during the entire construction phase of the project.   

4. To avoid the potential for accelerated erosion and sedimentation of the habitat area during 
the post-construction phase, a licensed civil engineer shall prepare a storm water drainage 
plan that collects all storm runoff and conveys it in a manner that will not disturb the 
stability of the slope at the eastern 60% of the parcel.  If the civil engineer determines 
collected runoff must be conveyed in a pipe that discharges at the bottom of the slope, the 
pipe(s) shall be located above ground to minimize site disturbance and facilitate 
maintenance.  The pipe(s) shall be effectively anchored to prevent movement.  

 
These recommendations have been included as conditions of approval.  
 
D. Removal of native riparian trees within the Soquel Creek riparian corridor shall be prohibited unless 
it is determined by the community development director that such removal is in the public interest by 
reason of good forestry practice; disease of the tree; or safety considerations. 
 
Staff Analysis: The two trees to be removed from the site include a Monterey Cypress and a Coast 
Live Oak.  Although both trees are native, neither tree is riparian or located within the riparian corridor.   
 
E. Snags, or standing dead trees have high value as nesting sites and shall not be removed unless in 
imminent danger of falling. Removal shall be consistent with all applicable provisions of the Capitola 
tree cutting ordinance. Any such tree removal shall require replacement with a healthy young tree of 
an appropriate native riparian species. 
 
Staff Analysis: There is one Coast Live Oak stub that has sprouted a few branches that is not a 
healthy tree and is located within the building pad.  This tree stub will be removed.  It is not located 
within the riparian area and is not a riparian species.  
 
F. Coastal development permit applications within or adjacent to the Soquel Creek riparian corridor 
shall contain a landscaping plan which sets forth the location and extent of any proposed modification 
to existing vegetation and the locations, kinds, and extent of new landscaping. The emphasis of such 
plans shall be on the maintenance and enhancement of native riparian species and the removal of 
existing invasive species. New invasive plant or tree species shall not be permitted. 
 
Staff Analysis: The majority of the landscaping includes native species.  There are a few non-native 
species to be planted in the front yard furthest from the riparian area.  No invasive plants or tree 
species are proposed.  The landscape plan identifies that existing invasive species shall be removed 
from the site in those areas indicated on the plans to be landscaped.   
 
G. Conformance to the Capitola erosion control ordinance (Chapter 15.28) shall be required. A 
drainage plan shall be provided for all projects adjacent to or in the riparian corridor. Grading shall be 
minimized within the riparian setback area. Grading shall not be permitted to damage the roots of 
riparian trees. Grading shall only take place during the dry season. (Ord. 677 § 7(D), 1989; Ord. 634 
§ 1, 1987) 
 
Staff Analysis:  At time of building permit submittal, the plans must include details of conformance with 
the Capitola erosion control ordinance of Chapter 15. 28.  (Condition of Approval #12)  Also, condition 
of approval #15 has been included to require Kim Tschantz’s recommendation #4 to avoid the 
potential for accelerated erosion and sedimentation of the habitat area, previously stated above. 

-140-

Item #: 5.B. 1740 Wharf Rd Staff Report.pdf



 

 
CEQA REVIEW 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the construction of a single-family residence in a 
residential zone.  This project involves construction of a new single-family residence subject to the R-
1 (single-family residence) Zoning District.  No adverse environmental impacts were discovered 
during review of the proposed project  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve project application #13-169 based on the 
following Conditions and Findings for Approval. 
 
CONDITIONS 
1. The project approval consists of construction of a  3,717square-foot new single family home. The 

maximum Floor Area Ratio for the 8,860 square foot property is 48% (4,252 square feet).  The 
total FAR of the project is 44% with a total of 3,717 square feet, compliant with the maximum FAR 
within the zone. The proposed project is approved as indicated on the final plans reviewed and 
approved by the Planning Commission on January 16, 2014, except as modified through 
conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 

 
2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or modifications 

to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be consistent with the plans 
approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and site improvements shall be 
completed according to the approved plans 

 
3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be printed in full on 

the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM shall be 
printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans.  All construction shall be 
done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP STRM.   
 

5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically requested and 
submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any significant changes shall 
require Planning Commission approval.   

 
6. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and approved by the 

Community Development Department.  Landscape plans shall reflect the Planning Commission 
approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species and details of irrigation systems.   

 
7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #13-169 shall be paid 

in full. 
 

8. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as required to 
assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing Ordinance.   

 
9. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan approval 

by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel Creek Water District, 
and Central Fire Protection District.   

 
10. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion control plan, 

shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans shall be in compliance 
with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention and Protection. 

-141-

Item #: 5.B. 1740 Wharf Rd Staff Report.pdf



 

 

11. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater management plan to 
the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements all applicable Post Construction 
Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard Details, including all standards relating to low 
impact development (LID). 

 

12. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading official to 
verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  
 

13. To avoid the potential for accelerated erosion and sedimentation of the habitat area during the 
construction phase, all land alteration and construction activities should occur during the non-rainy 
season of April 15 – October 15.   

 
14. To avoid sedimentation of habitat area during construction, the owner/contractor shall install a silt 

fence barrier at the eastern edge of the construction zone (development envelope) to capture any 
material (e.g. dislodged soil, construction debris) that is discharged down the slope.  The silt fence 
shall be installed according to best management practices, including embedding the bottom of the 
silt fence in native soil, at least, 6 inches.  The owner/contractor shall clean debris from the 
upslope side of the silt fence each day debris is collected.  The silt fence shall be maintained in 
good operable condition during the entire construction phase of the project.   

 
15. To avoid the potential for accelerated erosion and sedimentation of the habitat area during the 

post-construction phase, a licensed civil engineer shall prepare a storm water drainage plan that 
collects all storm runoff and conveys it in a manner that will not disturb the stability of the slope at 
the eastern 60% of the parcel.  If the civil engineer determines collected runoff must be conveyed 
in a pipe that discharges at the bottom of the slope, the pipe(s) shall be located above ground to 
minimize site disturbance and facilitate maintenance.  The pipe(s) shall be effectively anchored to 
prevent movement.  

 
16. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired by the 

contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed in the road 
right-of-way. 

 
17. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise curfew, 

except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  Construction noise shall 
be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty a.m. on weekdays. Construction 
noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and 
four p.m. or emergency work approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 

 

18. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or sidewalk shall 
be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction of the Public Works 
Department.  All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or sidewalk shall meet current 
Accessibility Standards. 

 

19. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the applicant shall demonstrate compliance with 
the tree removal permit authorized by this permit for 2 trees to be removed from the property.  
Replacement trees shall be planted at a 2:1 ratio. Required replacement trees shall be 24’” box 
and shall be planted as shown on the approved plans.  

    
20. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall be 

demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director.  Upon evidence of non-
compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions, the applicant shall 
remedy the non-compliance to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file 

-142-

Item #: 5.B. 1740 Wharf Rd Staff Report.pdf



 

an application for a permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy 
a non-compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 

 

21. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.   The applicant shall have an 
approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent permit expiration.   
Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to expiration pursuant to 
Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 

 

22. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the applicant to 
others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the site on which the 
approval was granted. 

 

23. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be placed out of 
public view on non-collection days.  

 
FINDINGS 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 Community Development Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 

the Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  The project secures the purposes of 
the R-1 (Single Family Residence) Zoning District, the AR (Automatic Review) Zoning 
Districts, and the Soquel Creek Riparian Riparian Corridor.  A Variance for the side yard 
setback has been granted by the Planning Commission to carry out the objectives of the 
Zoning Ordinance, General Plan and Local Coastal Plan. 

 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 Community Development Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 

the Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  The project is located adjacent to the 
Shadowbrook Restaurant with the cable car one foot off the north property line.  The 
Shadowbrook Cable Car is a local landmark.  The project received a variance to the required 
side yard setback to protect the local landmark on the adjacent property.  Conditions of 
approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the character and integrity of 
the neighborhood. The proposed single-family residence compliments the existing mix of 
single-family and commercial in the neighborhood in use, mass and scale, materials, height, 
and architecture.  The home has been designed to not impact the riparian corridor of the 
Soquel Creek.     

 
C.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15303(a) of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 

 This project involves construction of a new single-family residence in the RM-M (multi-family 
residence) Zoning District.  Section 15303 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the construction 
of a single-family residence in a residential zone.   

 
ATTACHMENTS 

A.  Project Plans 
B.  Color Board 
C.  Nordmo Associates Geotechnical Consultants – Geotechnical Engineering Report 2004 
D.  Memo from Richard Irish, PE 

 
Report Prepared By:  Katie Cattan Senior Planner  
P:\Planning Commission\2014 Meeting Packets\3-6-14\Wharf Rd 1730 13-169.docx  

-143-

Item #: 5.B. 1740 Wharf Rd Staff Report.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-144-



35' - 7 23/32"

8' - 10 19/32"

S.Y.S.B.
10% REQUIRED
20% PROVIDED

TR
OL

LE
Y B

UI
LD

IN
G

SH
AD

OW
BR

OO
K

AD
JA

CE
NT

 H
OU

SE

EDGE OF CANOPY

TOE OF SLOPE

EDGE OF SCENIC EASMENT

77
' - 

0"
RI
PA

RI
AN

 ZO
NE

10
' P

ED
ES

TR
IAN

 EA
SM

EN
T

30
" O

AK
to 

rem
ain

20
" O

AK
to 

be
 re

pla
ce
d

Cy
pre

ss
 to

 be
rem

ov
ed

IN
CL

IN
E R

AIL

35' RIPARIAN SETBACK

2 A1

14
5' 
- 6

 25
/32

"

13
4' 
- 5

 15
/16

"
R.
Y.S

.B.
 25

' R
EQ

UI
RE

D,
PR

OV
ID
ED

R.
Y.S

.B.
 25

' R
EQ

UI
RE

D,

PR
OV

ID
ED

RE
QU

IR
ED

 &
 P

RO
VI

DE
D

F.
Y.

S.
B.

15
' - 

0"

5' - 6
 11/32"

6' 
- 7

 3/
4"

3 
3/

4"
 / 

1'-
0"

Slo
pe

 at
 st

ee
pe

st

co
nd

itio
n

......

......

CO
PY
RI
GH

T 
20
13
, 
WI
LL
IA
M 

FI
SH

ER
 A
RC

HI
TE
CT
UR

E,
 I
NC

.

modern-architecture.com

603 Front Street, Santa Cruz, California 95060
831 246-0117, FAX: 831 457-0246fisher@cruzio.com

AI
N

O
F I

L A
R

10
/3

1/
15

RE
N
EW

S 
O
N

C

L
ic
e
n
s
e
d

A
rc

h
it
e
c
t

W
il
li
a
m

 F
is

h
e
r

C
−1
1
0
0
8

Golino Residence

Wharf Rd, Capitola, CA

APN  035−111−14

A12/3
/20

14

RE
FE

RE
NC

E
TR

UE

W   H   A   R   F         R
   O   A   D

19
8.9

3'

51.63
'

15
1.5

9'

51
.60

'

6.5'

44.20'

 1"
 = 

10
'-0
"

1
Sit

e

EXISTING PLANTER

EXISTING PLANTER

FL
OO

R 
AR

EA
 R
AT

IO
Lo
t: 8

,86
0 S

Q 
FT

FA
R 
Lim

it (
48
%)

: 4
25
2.8

 SQ
 FT

To
tal
 Ac

tua
l F
AR

: 3
,86

7 S
Q 
FT

 (4
4%

)
Le
ve
l 1
: 6
01
 - 2

50
 (b

as
em

en
t) =

 35
1

Le
ve
l 2
: 8
18

Le
ve
l 3
: 9
09
 + 

27
8 (

de
ck
) =

 11
87

Le
ve
l 4
: 2
30
 + 

59
5 (

ga
rag

e) 
= 8

25
Le
ve
l 5
: 4
66
 + 

22
0 (

de
ck
) =

 68
6

IN
DE

X
A1

  V
icin

ity
 M

ap
, S

ite
 Pl

an
,

    
    

Im
ag

es
, F

AR
A2

  L
ev

el 
3-5

, R
oo

f P
lan

A3
  L

ev
el 

1-2
, T

op
o R

oo
f P

lan
A4

  W
es

t &
 So

uth
 El

ev
ati

on
s

A5
  E

as
t &

 N
ort

h E
lev

ati
on

s
C1

  D
rai

na
ge

 Pl
an

L1
   L

an
ds

ca
pe

 Pl
an

EX
HI

BIT
 E 

 R
ipa

ria
n D

eli
ne

ati
on

    
    

Ma
p

To
po

gra
ph

ic 
Ma

p

BU
ILD

IN
G 
FO

OT
PR

IN
T

RE
TA

IN
IN
G

W
AL

L

HW
Y 1

BAY AVE

WHARF RD

41ST AVE

CA
PIT

OL
A R

D

SIT
E

VIC
IN

ITY
 M

AP
Pr
oje

ct

S  O  Q  U  E  L     C  R  E  E  K
80

70

60

50

BR
IC
K

PA
VE

RS

BR
IC
K P

AV
ER

S

RE
TA

IN
IN
G

W
AL

LS

FR
OM

 N
OR

TH
 O
N 
W
HA

RF
 R
D

(S
ee

 co
lor

 ch
art

 fo
r a

ctu
al 
co
lor

s)
FR

OM
 SO

UT
H 
ON

 W
HA

RF
 R
D

(S
ee

 co
lor

 ch
art

 fo
r a

ctu
al 
co
lor

s)
FR

OM
 AC

RO
SS

 SO
QU

EL
 C
RE

EK
(S
ee

 co
lor

 ch
art

 fo
r a

ctu
al 
co
lor

s)

EDGE OF PAVEMENT WALKWAY

DR
IVE

W
AY

RE
TA

IN
IN
G

W
AL

L

TO
P O

F R
ET

AIN
IN
G 
W
AL

L
AL

W
AY

S L
ES

S T
HA

N 
6" 

AB
OV

E
HI
GH

ES
T A

DJ
AC

EN
T G

RA
DE

 1"
 = 

10
'-0
"

2
Dr
ive

wa
y S

ec
tio
n

TH
E F

OL
LO

W
IN
G 
BE

ST
 PL

AN
NI
NG

 PR
AC

TIC
ES

 (A
S S

UG
GE

ST
ED

 IN
TH

E R
IPA

RI
AN

 R
EP

OR
T) 

AR
E T

O 
BE

 FO
LL
OW

ED
 D
UR

IN
G

CO
NS

TR
UC

TIO
N:

1. 
To

 co
ns
erv

e t
he

 rip
ari

an
 ar

ea
 fo

r h
ab

ita
t p

urp
os
es
, th

e C
ity
 of

 C
ap

ito
la

sh
all
 de

lin
ea
te 

a d
ev
elo

pm
en

t e
nv
elo

pe
 on

 th
e s

ite
 to

 sh
ow

 w
he

re 
str

uc
tua

l
de
ve
lop

me
t a

nd
 ou

tdo
or 

us
e a

rea
 (y

ard
) w

ill 
be

 lo
ca
ted

 as
 pa

rt o
f th

e
Co

as
tal
 Zo

ne
 Pe

rm
it p

roc
es
s f
or 

sit
e d

ev
elo

pm
en
t.  

Th
e d

ev
elo

pm
en

t
en
ve
lop

e s
ha

ll b
e b

as
ed
 on

 th
e r

ipa
ria

n v
eg

eta
tio
n d

eli
ne

ati
on

 an
d t

he
 C
ity
's

req
uir

ed
 35

-fo
ot 

se
tba

ck
 fro

m 
the

 ou
ter

 ed
ge
 of

 th
e v

eg
eta

tio
n.

2. 
To

 av
oid

 th
e p

ote
nti
al 
for

 ac
ce
ler

ate
d e

ros
ion

 an
d s

ed
im
en

tat
ion

 of
 th

e
ha
bit
at 

are
a d

uri
ng

 th
e c

on
str

uc
tio
n p

ha
se
, a

ll l
an

d a
lte
rat

ion
 an

d
co
ns
tru

cti
on

 ac
tiv
itie

s s
ho

uld
 oc

cu
r d

uri
ng

 th
e n

on
-ra

iny
 se

as
on

 of
 Ap

ril
15
---
Oc

tob
er 

15
.

3. 
To

 av
oid

 se
dim

en
tat

ion
 of

 ha
bit
at 

are
a d

uri
ng

 co
ns
tru

cti
on

, th
e

ow
ne

r/c
on

tra
cto

r s
ha

ll in
sta

ll a
 si
lt f
en

ce
 ba

rrie
r a

t th
e e

as
ter

n e
dg

e o
f th

e
co
ns
tru

cti
on

 zo
ne

 (d
ev
elo

pm
en

t e
nv
elo

pe
) to

 ca
ptu

re 
an

y m
ate

ria
l (e

.g.
dis

lod
ge

d s
oil
, c
on

str
uc
tio
n d

eb
ris
) th

at 
is 
dis

ch
arg

ed
 do

wn
 th

e s
lop

e. 
Th

e
silt

 fe
nc
e s

ha
ll b

e i
ns
tal
led

 ac
co
rdi

ng
 to

 be
st 
ma

na
ge
me

nt 
pra

cti
ce
s,

inc
lud

ing
 em

be
dd

ing
 th

e b
ott

om
 of

 th
e s

ilt 
fen

ce
 in
 na

tiv
e s

oil
, a

t le
as
t, 6

inc
he

s. 
Th

e o
wn

er/
co
ntr

ac
tor

 sh
all
 cl
ea
n d

eb
ris
 fro

m 
the

 up
slo

pe
 si
de

 of
 th

e
silt

 fe
nc
e e

ac
h d

ay
 de

bri
s i
s c

oll
ec
ted

. T
he
 si
lt f
en

ce
 sh

all
 be

 m
ain

tai
ne

d i
n

go
od

 op
era

ble
 co

nd
itio

n d
uri

ng
 th

e e
nti
re 

co
ns
tru

cti
on

 ph
as
e o

f th
e p

roj
ec
t.

4. 
To

 av
oid

 th
e p

ote
nti
al 
for

 ac
ce
ler

ate
d e

ros
ion

 an
d s

ed
im
en

tat
ion

 of
 th

e
ha
bit
at 

are
a d

uri
ng

 th
e p

os
t-c

on
str

uc
tio
n p

ha
se
, a

 lic
en

se
d c

ivi
l e
ng

ine
er

sh
all
 pr

ep
are

 a 
sto

rm
 w
ate

r d
rai

na
ge

 pl
an

 th
at 

co
lle
cts

 al
l s
tor

m 
run

off
 an

d
co
nv
ey
s i
t in

 a 
ma

nn
er 

tha
t w

ill 
no

t d
ist
urb

 th
e s

tab
ilit
y o

f th
e s

lop
e a

t th
e

ea
ste

rn 
60
% 

of 
the

 pa
rce

l. I
f th

e c
ivi
l e
ng

ine
er 

de
ter

mi
ne

s c
oll
ec
ted

 ru
no

ff
mu

st 
be

 co
nv
ey
ed

 in
 a 

pip
e t

ha
t d

isc
ha

rge
s a

t th
e b

ott
om

 of
 th

e s
lop

e, 
the

pip
e(s

) s
ha

ll b
e l
oc
ate

d a
bo

ve
 gr

ou
nd

 to
 m

ini
mi
ze
 si
te 

dis
tur

ba
nc
e a

nd
fac

ilita
te 

ma
int
en

an
ce
. T

he
 pi
pe
(s)

 sh
all
 be

 ef
fec

tiv
ely

 an
ch
ore

d t
o p

rev
en

t
mo

ve
me

nt.

EXISTING PLANTER

ZE
RO

 LO
T L

IN
E

(A
S 

RE
CO

MM
EN

DE
D 

BY
 P

LA
NN

IN
G 

CO
MM

IS
SIO

N)

-145-

Item #: 5.B. Plan.pdf



DN

DN UP

UP DN

DE
CK

GR
EE

N
RO

OF
DE

CK
GR

EE
N

RO
OF

26
' - 

2 2
1/3

2"
5' 
- 4

 7/
32

"
10
' - 

2 3
/8"

4' 
- 8

 9/
16

"

46
' - 

5 1
3/1

6"

4' 
- 1

"
15
' - 

9 1
9/3

2"

16
' - 

6 1
1/1

6"

20
' - 

5 7
/16

"
7' 
- 1

 1/
2"

5' 
- 1

"
9' 
- 3

 3/
4"

RO
OF

(V
IR
TU

AL
LY

 FL
AT

)

EL
EV

.

DE
CK

26
' - 

0 5
/32

"
5' 
- 6

 23
/32

"

14' - 5 1/32"19' - 3 1/4"

20
' - 

8 7
/16

"
6' 
- 1

1 1
/2"

5' 
- 0

 1
/32

"

3' - 10"2' - 9 15/16"

GA
RA

GE

EL
EV

.

28
' - 

0 1
1/3

2"
10
' - 

2 3
/8"

33' - 9 5/16"

21
' - 

1 1
/8"

6' 
- 4

 15
/32

"

10' - 6"10' - 2"13' - 1 5/16"

DI
NI
NG

LIV
IN
G

EL
EV

.

DE
CK

33' - 9 5/16"

21
' - 

7 1
5/3

2"
14
' - 

9"

27
' - 

3 1
/4"

4' 
- 8

 9/
16

"

......

......

CO
PY
RI
GH

T 
20
13
, 
WI
LL
IA
M 

FI
SH

ER
 A
RC

HI
TE
CT
UR

E,
 I
NC

.

modern-architecture.com

603 Front Street, Santa Cruz, California 95060
831 246-0117, FAX: 831 457-0246fisher@cruzio.com

AI
N

O
F I

L A
R

10
/3

1/
15

RE
N
EW

S 
O
N

C

L
ic
e
n
s
e
d

A
rc

h
it
e
c
t

W
il
li
a
m

 F
is

h
e
r

C
−1
1
0
0
8

Golino Residence

Wharf Rd, Capitola, CA

APN  035−111−14

A22/3
/20

14

 1/
4" 

= 1
'-0
"

1
Ro

of 
Pla

n

 1/
4" 

= 1
'-0
"

2
Ma

ste
r B

ed
roo

m 
(Le

ve
l 5
) 6

86
 SQ

 FT

 1/
4" 

= 1
'-0
"

3
En

try
/ G

ara
ge

 (L
ev
el 
4) 

82
5 S

Q 
FT

 1/
4" 

= 1
'-0
"

4
Din

ing
/ L
ivi
ng

 (L
ev
el 
3) 

11
87

 SQ
 FT

-146-

Item #: 5.B. Plan.pdf



83
.2 TO
P

.4

83
.0

74
.4

82
.6 TO
P82

.7 TO
P

83
.3 TO
P

81
.7 TO
P

.7

83
.5

83
.4

60
.1

55
.8

83
.3

74
.6

83
.4

83
.2

66
.1

72
.1

63
.0

84
.4

67
.9

60
.1

63
.4

42.68'

UP

UP DN

RI
DG

E
98

'  2
 23

5/2
56

"

RO
OF

 ED
GE

96
'  9

 14
5/2

56
"

RA
ILI
NG

92
'  9

 1/
4"

PA
RA

PE
T

82
'  2

 3/
4"

RA
ILI
NG

73
'  9

 1/
4"

ED
GE

 O
F B

UI
LD

IN
G

ED
GE

 O
F B

UI
LD

IN
G

EDGE OF BUILDING

EDGE OF BUILDING

ED
GE

 O
F B

UI
LD

IN
G

EDGE OF BUILDING

EDGE OF BUILDING

RO
OF

 ED
GE

98
'  2

 3/
4"

PA
RA

PE
T

91
'  2

 3/
4"

EL
EV

.

21' - 0 11/16"

2' 
- 9

 1/
4"

5' 
- 4

 3/
4"

9' 
- 3

 5/
8"

19
' - 

3 2
5/3

2"

36
' - 

9 1
3/3

2"

BE
DR

OO
M 

1

BE
DR

OO
M 

2

BE
DR

OO
M 

3

LA
UN

DR
Y

EL
EV

.

33' - 9 5/16"
12' - 1 7/32"9' - 5 29/32"12' - 2 3/16"

18
' - 

10
 3/

8"

31
' - 

11
 13

/16
"

......

......

CO
PY
RI
GH

T 
20
13
, 
WI
LL
IA
M 

FI
SH

ER
 A
RC

HI
TE
CT
UR

E,
 I
NC

.

modern-architecture.com

603 Front Street, Santa Cruz, California 95060
831 246-0117, FAX: 831 457-0246fisher@cruzio.com

AI
N

O
F I

L A
R

10
/3

1/
15

RE
N
EW

S 
O
N

C

L
ic
e
n
s
e
d

A
rc

h
it
e
c
t

W
il
li
a
m

 F
is

h
e
r

C
−1
1
0
0
8

Golino Residence

Wharf Rd, Capitola, CA

APN  035−111−14

A32/3
/20

14
 1/
4" 

= 1
'-0
"

3
TO

PO
 R
oo

f P
lan

 1/
4" 

= 1
'-0
"

1
Ba

se
me

nt 
(Le

ve
l 1
) 3

51
 SQ

 FT

 1/
4" 

= 1
'-0
"

2
Be

dro
om

s (
Le

ve
l 2
) 8

18
 SQ

 FT

-147-

Item #: 5.B. Plan.pdf



EX
IST

IN
G 
GR

AD
E

PR
OP

OS
ED

 G
RA

DE
EX

IST
IN
G 
GR

AD
E

PR
OP

OS
ED

 G
RA

DE

......

......

CO
PY
RI
GH

T 
20
13
, 
WI
LL
IA
M 

FI
SH

ER
 A
RC

HI
TE
CT
UR

E,
 I
NC

.

modern-architecture.com

603 Front Street, Santa Cruz, California 95060
831 246-0117, FAX: 831 457-0246fisher@cruzio.com

AI
N

O
F I

L A
R

10
/3

1/
15

RE
N
EW

S 
O
N

C

L
ic
e
n
s
e
d

A
rc

h
it
e
c
t

W
il
li
a
m

 F
is

h
e
r

C
−1
1
0
0
8

Golino Residence

Wharf Rd, Capitola, CA

APN  035−111−14

A42/3
/20

14

ST
UC

CO
(B
OD

Y C
OL

OR
)

W
OO

D 
TR

IM
(TR

IM
 C
OL

OR
)

PO
RC

H 
LIG

HT

FIB
ER

GL
AS

S
FR

AM
E W

IN
DO

W

W
OO

D 
OV

ER
HE

AD
 D
OO

RS
(TR

IM
 C
OL

OR
)

AL
L P

AR
TS

 O
F B

UI
LD

IN
G 
AR

E L
ES

S
TH

AN
 25

' A
BO

VE
 G
RA

DE
.

AL
L P

AR
TS

 O
F B

UI
LD

IN
G 
AR

E L
ES

S
TH

AN
 25

' A
BO

VE
 G
RA

DE
.

 1/
4" 

= 1
'-0
"

2
So

uth

DO
OR

 FR
AM

E
(A
CC

EN
T C

OL
OR

)

GL
AS

S

ST
EE

L O
PE

N 
RA

IL
(A
CC

EN
T C

OL
OR

)

ST
UC

CO
 O
N 
CO

NC
RE

TE
RE

TA
IN
IN
G 
W
AL

L

 1/
4" 

= 1
'-0
"

1
W
es
t

-148-

Item #: 5.B. Plan.pdf



EX
IST

IN
G 
GR

AD
E

PR
OP

OS
ED

 G
RA

DE

EX
IST

IN
G 
GR

AD
E

PR
OP

OS
ED

 G
RA

DE

......

......

CO
PY
RI
GH

T 
20
13
, 
WI
LL
IA
M 

FI
SH

ER
 A
RC

HI
TE
CT
UR

E,
 I
NC

.

modern-architecture.com

603 Front Street, Santa Cruz, California 95060
831 246-0117, FAX: 831 457-0246fisher@cruzio.com

AI
N

O
F I

L A
R

10
/3

1/
15

RE
N
EW

S 
O
N

C

L
ic
e
n
s
e
d

A
rc

h
it
e
c
t

W
il
li
a
m

 F
is

h
e
r

C
−1
1
0
0
8

Golino Residence

Wharf Rd, Capitola, CA

APN  035−111−14

A52/3
/20

14

 1/
4" 

= 1
'-0
"

1
No

rth
 1/
4" 

= 1
'-0
"

2
Ea

st

SM
OO

TH
 PV

C 
RO

OF

AL
L P

AR
TS

 O
F B

UI
LD

IN
G 
AR

E L
ES

S
TH

AN
 25

' A
BO

VE
 G
RA

DE
.

AL
L P

AR
TS

 O
F B

UI
LD

IN
G 
AR

E L
ES

S
TH

AN
 25

' A
BO

VE
 G
RA

DE
.

-149-

Item #: 5.B. Plan.pdf



-150-

Item #: 5.B. Plan.pdf



-151-

Item #: 5.B. Plan.pdf



-152-

Item #: 5.B. Plan.pdf



-153-

Item #: 5.B. 2004 Soils Report.pdf



-154-

Item #: 5.B. 2004 Soils Report.pdf



-155-

Item #: 5.B. 2004 Soils Report.pdf



-156-

Item #: 5.B. 2004 Soils Report.pdf



-157-

Item #: 5.B. 2004 Soils Report.pdf



-158-

Item #: 5.B. 2004 Soils Report.pdf



-159-

Item #: 5.B. 2004 Soils Report.pdf



-160-

Item #: 5.B. 2004 Soils Report.pdf



-161-

Item #: 5.B. Cable Car.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-162-



-163-

Item #: 5.B. GeotechnicalReview.pdf



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-164-


	AGENDA
	1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS
	A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda
	B. Public Comments
	C. Commission Comments
	D. Staff Comments

	3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	[2-6-14 DRAFT Minutes.docx]
	A. Approval of the draft February 6, 2014 Planning Commission meeting minutes

	4. CONSENT CALENDAR
	A. 1550 McGregor Drive #13-174 APN: 036-34-101
	[1550 McGregor Drive Staff Report.pdf]
	[Plans.pdf]
	[B Parking and Traffic Study.pdf]
	[C Coastal Findings.pdf]
	Design Permit, Conditional Use Permit, Tree Removal Permit, and Coastal Development Permit for a public multiuse park with recycling pod in the PF/VS (public facilities/visitor serving) zoning district.This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the City. Environmental Determination: Categorical ExemptionOwner: City of CapitolaRepresentative: Steve Jesberg, filed 01/08/2014

	B. 306 El Salto Drive #13-181 APN: 036-123-26
	[306 El Salto Dr Staff Report.pdf]
	[306 El Salto Plans.pdf]
	[Color and Materials Board.pdf]
	[306 El Salto Drive Coastal Findings.pdf]
	Design Permit and Coastal Development Permit for an addition to an existing single family home in the R-1 (Single Family) zoning district. This application requires a Coastal Development permit which is appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the City. Environmental Determination: Categorical ExemptionProperty Owner: Chris and Cindy HenryRepresentative: Martha Matson, filed 01/23/2014

	C. 4605 Emerald Street #14-011 APN: 034-032-15
	[4605 Emerald Street Staff Report.pdf]
	[Plans.pdf]
	[Landscape Plan.pdf]
	[Public Comment.pdf]
	[4605 Emerald Street Coastal Findings.pdf]
	Design Permit and Coastal Development Permit application to demolish an existing accessory dwelling unit and construct a new single family home, located in the R-1(Single Family) zoning district. This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is not appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the City. Environmental Determination: Categorical ExemptionProperty Owner: North Point Investments LLCRepresentative: Wayne Miller, filed 01/27/2014

	D. 4625 Emerald Street #14-012 APN: 034-032-22
	[4625 Emerald Street Staff Report.pdf]
	[Landscape Plan.pdf]
	[Public Comment.pdf]
	Design Permit and Coastal Development Permit application to demolish an existing single family residence and construct a new Single Family home, located in the R-1(single family) zoning district. This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is not appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the City. Environmental Determination: Categorical ExemptionProperty Owner: North Point Investments LLCRepresentative: Wayne Miller, filed 01/27/2014

	E. 507 Plum Street/712 Capitola Avenue #14-020 APN: 036-062-14
	[507 Plum 712 Capitola Avenue staff report.pdf]
	[Attachment A.pdf]
	[Attachment B.pdf]
	Design Permit and Coastal Development Permit application for a garage addition to a single family home in the CN (Central Neighborhood) Zoning District. This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is not appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the City. Environmental Determination: Categorical ExemptionProperty Owner: Terry Evan DavidRepresentative: Dennis Norton, filed 02/04/2014

	F. 2001 40th Avenue #14-029 APN: 034-512-02
	[2001 40th Avenue CUP Staff Report.pdf]
	[Submittal.pdf]
	[Parking Analysis 2001 40th Avenue Capitola.pdf]
	Conditional Use Permit for a Pure Barre Capitola Fitness Studio in the CC (Community Commercial) Zoning District.This project is not located within the Coastal Zone.Environmental Determination: Categorical ExemptionProperty Owner: Lockwood Epping PropertiesRepresentative: Ashley Weaver, filed 02/14/2014


	5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
	[110 Lawn Way Staff Report.pdf]
	[Plans.pdf]
	[Streetscape.pdf]
	[Historic District Boundary.pdf]
	[110 Lawn Way Coastal Findings.pdf]
	A. 110 Lawn Way #14-006 APN: 035-124-05
	Design Permit, Variance, and Coastal Development Permit application for an addition to a single family home in the CV (Central Village) Zoning District. The applicant is requesting a variance for onsite parking. This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the City. Environmental Determination: Categorical ExemptionProperty Owner: Norma KettmanRepresentative: Gary Lindeke, filed 1/24/2014

	B. 1740 Wharf Road #14-016 APN: 035-111-14
	[1740 Wharf Rd Staff Report.pdf]
	[Plan.pdf]
	[2004 Soils Report.pdf]
	[Cable Car.pdf]
	[GeotechnicalReview.pdf]
	Design Permit, Variance, Coastal Development Permit, and Tree Removal Permit for a new single-family residence in the R-1/AR (Single Family/Automatic Review) Zoning District. The applicant is requesting a variance to the side-yard setback requirement.This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the City.Environmental Determination: Categorical ExemptionOwner: Bruce GolinoRepresentative: Courtney Hughes, William Fisher Architecture, filed 02/03/2014


	6. DIRECTOR'S REPORT
	7. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS
	8. ADJOURNMENT

